DURABILITY STUDY ON PARTIAL REPLACEMENT OF DHOLPUR STONE WASTES AS COARSE AGGREGATE IN CONCRETE

Ph.D. Thesis

SANJEEV KUMAR K.S. (ID. NO. 2014RCE9052)



DEPARTMENT OF CIVIL ENGINEERING MALAVIYA NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY, JAIPUR

JANUARY 2018

DURABILITY STUDY ON PARTIAL REPLACEMENT OF DHOLPUR STONE WASTES AS COARSE AGGREGATE IN CONCRETE

Submitted in

fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

by

Sanjeev Kumar K.S. ID: 2014RCE9052

Under the Supervision of

Prof. Ramesh Chandra Gupta

Dr. Sandeep Shrivastava



DEPARTMENT OF CIVIL ENGINEERING MALAVIYA NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY, JAIPUR

JANUARY 2018

© MALAVIYA NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY, JAIPUR-2018

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

This thesis is dedicated to My Parents (Dr. Selvaraju and Ms. Vijayalakshmi), Beloved Brother (Dr. Abu)

k

Civil Engineers in the family Mr. Rajamohan, Mr. Sudheesh & Mr. Ramsundar

CERTIFICATE

This is to certify that the thesis entitled "**Durability Study on Partial Replacement of Dholpur Stone Wastes as Coarse Aggregate in Concrete**" being submitted by **Sanjeev Kumar K.S. (ID. NO. 2014RCE9052**) is a bonafide research work carried out our supervision and guidance in fulfilment of the requirement for the award of the degree of **Doctor of Philosophy** in the Department of Civil Engineering, Malaviya National Institute of Technology Jaipur, India. The matter embodied in this thesis is original and has not been submitted to any other University or Institute for the award of any other degree.

Place: Jaipur

Date:

Dr. Ramesh Chandra Gupta Professor, Department of Civil Engineering, M.N.I.T. Jaipur

Dr. Sandeep Shrivastava

Assistant Professor, Department of Civil Engineering, M.N.I.T. Jaipur

DECLARATION

I, Sanjeev Kumar, declare that this thesis entitled, "**Durability Study on Partial Replacement** of Dholpur Stone Wastes as Coarse Aggregate in Concrete" and the work presented in it, are my own, I confirm that:

- This work was done wholly or mainly while in candidature for a research degree at this university.
- Where any part of this thesis have previously been submitted for a degree or any other qualification at this university or any other institution, this has been clearly stated.
- Where I have consulted the published work of others, this is always clearly attributed.
- Where I have quoted from the work of others, the source is always given. With the exception of such quotations, this thesis is entirely my own work.
- I have acknowledged all main sources of help.
- Where the thesis is based on work done by myself, jointly with others, I have made clear exactly what was done by others and what I have contributed myself.

Date:

Sanjeev Kumar K.S. (2014RCE9052)

PUBLICATIONS FROM THIS RESEARCH WORK

- Sanjeev Kumar; Ramesh Chandra Gupta; Sandeep Shrivastava; Laszlo J Csetenyi, Sulphuric acid resistance of quartz sandstone aggregate concrete, ASCE's Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering 2017 Vol. 29, Issue 6. DOI: 10.1061/(ASCE)MT.1943-5533.0001870.
- 2. Sanjeev Kumar, Blessen, Prarthita, Vinayak and Sandeep Shrivastava, Sandstone wastes as aggregate and its usefulness in cement concrete- A comprehensive review, *Journal of Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, Aug 12, 2017.
- 3. Sanjeev Kumar; Ramesh Chandra Gupta; Sandeep Shrivastava, Long term studies on the utilisation of quartz sandstone wastes in cement concrete. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.12.062.
- Sanjeev Kumar, Ramesh Chandra Gupta, Sandeep Shrivastava, Effective utilisation of quartz sandstone mining wastes: A technical note on its thermal resistance, Journal of Cleaner Production 140 (2017) 1129–1135.
- Sanjeev Kumar, Ramesh Chandra Gupta, Sandeep Shrivastava, Strength, abrasion and permeability studies on cement concrete containing quartz sandstone coarse aggregates, *Construction and Building Materials* 125 (2016) 884–891.
- 6. Sanjeev Kumar, Ramesh Chandra Gupta, Blessen Skariah Thomas, Priyansha Mehra, "Aggregate Replacement and Its Usefulness in Cement Concrete for Sustainable Development—A Study on Rubber, Jarosite and Sandstone Aggregates", Paper published in 'Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, 2016', Published by 'Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016', Volume 493, pp 13-25, ISBN 978-3-319-41940-4.
- Sanjeev Kumar, Ramesh Chandra Gupta, Sandeep Shrivastava, Lazlo Csetenyi, Blessen Skariah Thomas, Preliminary study on the use of quartz sandstone as a partial replacement of coarse aggregate in concrete based on clay content, morphology and compressive strength of combined gradation, *Construction and Building Materials* Volume 107, 15 March 2016, Pages 103–108.

Conferences

 Sanjeev Kumar, Ramesh Chandra Gupta "Gainful Utilisation of Stone Wastes". Paper presented in Waste to Health Workshop, CDOS Stone Research Chair, Malaviya National Institute of Technology, RIICO Sponsored, July 13, 2017.

- Sanjeev Kumar, Ramesh Chandra Gupta, Sandeep Shrivastava, Sandstone aggregates in cement concrete, Paper presented and published in proceeding of UKIERI Concrete Congress "Advances in Concrete Technology Materials and Construction practices", (2016) Goa Engineering College, India, pp 192-197.
- 10. Sanjeev Kumar, Ramesh Chandra Gupta, Sandeep Shrivastava, Lazlo Csetenyi and Blessen Skariah Thomas, "Preliminary study on the use of quartz sandstone as a partial replacement of coarse aggregate in concrete", Paper presented and published in proceeding of UKIERI Concrete Congress 'Concrete Research Driving Profit and Sustainability', 2 - 5 November 2015, Dr Ambedkar National Institute of Technology Jalandhar, India, pp 1258-1271.

Under Review Journals

11. Sanjeev Kumar, Ramesh Chandra Gupta., Sandeep Shrivastava Sustainable utilisation of quartz sandstone mining wastes: Technical note on Chloride and corrosion resistance, ASCE's Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering,

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work is a PhD Research done at the Malaviya National Institute of Technology, Jaipur by K.S. Sanjeev Kumar (2014RCE9052) with the funding provided by the Institute fellowship.

I thank the lord above all, who has given me a great life with abundant love within the family as well as at the Institution.

I would like to thank first of all my beloved supervisor **Prof. Ramesh Chandra Gupta** for making any of this a possibility. His guidance, support and knowledge was always greatly appreciated and of great value. I owe him for his abundant care and for the valuable discussions that happened in his office which made this research a wonderful journey.

I would also like to extend my thanks and appreciation to **Dr. Sandeep Shrivastava** for his hard work and involvement in the project and in keeping me motivated. All the conferences that happened throughout the research are the results from the valuable discussions held under his supervision.

I express my sincere thanks to **Prof. Udaykumar Yaragatti**, Director MNIT for the facilities that were provided in the Institute and for granting the required funds for the research.

I would like to express my gratitude to Prof. A. B. Gupta, Prof. Ravindra Nagar, Prof. A. K. Vyas, Prof. Sandeep Chaudhary, Dr. Rajesh Gupta and Dr. Pawan Kalla for their valuable comments which helped me a lot in completing the work.

I would like to also extend my thanks to Dr. Laszlo Csetenyi, University of Dundee and the Concrete Technology Unit in Dundee for their valuable comments on SEM analysis. I also thank Dr. Miquel Joseph, KU Leuven, Ostend, Belgium for clearing my doubts through mail. I also wish to express my heartfelt gratitude to Dr. Radhakrishna G. Pillai, IIT Madras for guiding me in writing a good research paper.

I also thank the Materials Research Centre, MNIT Jaipur for allowing me to conduct numerous SEM and XRD tests without any delay.

I would also like to thank Dr. Vinay Agarwal for his valuable suggestions at the office and also for the procurement of good quality cement bags.

I would like to thank my seniors Dr. Priyansha Mehra and Dr. Blessen Skariah Thomas for the discussion and motivation. I sincerely express my gratitude to Mr. K I Syed Ahmed Kabeer for the late night discussions and coffee times.

I'm further indebted to younger researcher members, past and present, here at MNIT Jaipur, including Prarthita, Praveen, Naren, Harsh and Aarif who shared their expertise in the Lab and further provided moral support.

I have no words to express my gratitude to my parents, Dr. Selvaraju, Vijayalakshmi and my brother Dr. Abu for their moral support throughout my research career.

(Sanjeev Kumar K.S.)

ABSTRACT

Sandstones are generally composed of grains of quartz and other minerals of fairly uniform size which are often smooth and rounded. These grains are held together by a cementing material which may be siliceous or ferruginous. The toughness of sandstone depends mostly on the nature of this cementing material. While utilising sandstone into concrete, different properties of sandstones has to be studied in detail to know the potential use of sandstone as a part or whole replacement of coarse aggregates. This replacement depends on many factors, like; mineralogical composition, micro structure, moisture absorption capacity, presence of carbonates and many other parameters.

In this study, tests were analysed for sandstone procured from Dholpur, eastern most part of Rajasthan state in India. Sandstone waste generation is very much higher in this particular region and it is estimated that Rajasthan alone produces 900 million tons of sandstone waste thus leading to a large dumping of these materials without any particular utilisation. In order to overcome this massive dumping of sandstone wastes and to lessen the use of natural aggregates, a study was carried out to find out the effective use of these sandstone wastes in concrete. At initial stage, preliminary tests were done to study the morphology, compressive strength based on combined gradation, clay content percentage and Rietveld curve fitting was done to identify the major constituents in the sandstone aggregate. Partial replacement of such aggregates would prevent the usage of natural aggregates which are in the zone of depletion, thus protecting the natural resources and reducing landfilling of mine wastes.

In this study, M30 grade of concrete was designed as per IS 10262: 2010, with water cement ratio of 0.40. However, to find the scattering of strength plots, two more water-cement ratios of 0.35 and 0.45 was adopted. Control mix consists of 0% quartz sandstone and replacement of coarse aggregates was done for 0-100%, in the multiples

of 20%. The properties of concrete, like; compressive strength, flexural tensile strength, abrasion resistance, pull-off strength, water permeability, water absorption, resistance to acid attack and sulphate attack, carbonation, depth of chloride penetration and corrosion of steel reinforcements were tested and their micro structures were analysed using Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM). Thermogravimetric analysis (TGA) and action of fire were also studied.

The microscopic study revealed the presence of increased void fractions in the concrete samples containing quartz sandstone aggregates. These void fractions were found to enhance the thermal resistance of concrete based on the reduced weight loss upon heating them and also assumed to improve insulation properties by hindering the heat transfer in the material. It was discovered that the compressive strength, flexural strength and the sulphate attack resistance were inferior to that of control concrete; but upto a certain level of replacement, they showed a better resistance to pull off and carbonation. Also, the decrease in strength was found to be comparable to that of control specimens. It was observed that the quartz sandstones might be utilised as a partial replacement of coarse aggregates up to 40% without considerable decrease in its preferred strength.

The efficient utilisation of these quartz sandstone wastes in concrete can reduce the substantial amount of landfill that is used for dumping them and also provide a valuable source of supplementary aggregate used in the making of cement concrete contributing to the overall sustainability.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
CERTI	FICATE	i
DECL	ARATION	ii
ACKN	OWLEDGEMENTS	V
ABSTI	RACT	vii
TABL	E OF CONTENTS	ix
LIST C	DF FIGURES	xiii
LIST C	DF TABLES	xviii
СНАР	TER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1	Background	1
1.2	Problem Formulation	3
1.3	Objectives of the work	4
1.4	Organisation of the thesis	4
СНАР	TER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	6
2.1	Solid Waste Materials	6
2.2	Utilisation of Solid Waste Materials	7
2.2.1	Reactive Materials (Pozzolanic Materials)	7
	2.2.1.1 Fly ash	7
	2.2.1.2 Silica Fume	7
	2.2.1.3 Rice Husk Ash	8
	2.2.1.4 Metakaolin	8
	2.2.1.5 Ground Granulated Blast Furnace Slag	8
2.2.2	Inert Materials	9
	2.2.2.1 Stone Waste Materials	9
	2.2.2.2 Utilisation of Solid Stone Waste Materials	10
	2.2.2.3 Marble Stone Wastes in Concrete	10
	2.2.2.4 Granite Stone Waste in Concrete	12

	2.2.2.5 Sandstone Waste in Concrete	14
2.3	Research Gaps Identified	16
CHAI	PTER 3: MATERIALS AND METHODS	17
3.1	Introduction	17
3.2	Material Investigations	18
	3.2.1 Properties of Cement	18
	3.2.2 Properties of Fine Aggregate	21
	3.2.3 Properties of Coarse Aggregate	22
	3.2.4 Properties of Dholpur Stone (Quartz sandstone)	23
	3.2.4.1 Sampling and Testing for SEM	28
	3.2.4.2 SEM Analysis	28
	3.2.5 Super Plasticiser	29
3.3	Testing of Concrete in Fresh Stage	29
	3.3.1 Workability of Concrete by Compaction Factor Test	30
3.4	Testing of Hardened Concrete	31
	3.4.1 Bulk Density Test	31
	3.4.2 Compressive Strength	31
	3.4.3 Flexural Tensile Strength	32
	3.4.4 Abrasion Resistance Test	33
	3.4.5 Pull-Off Strength Test	35
3.5	Durability Properties of Concrete containing Dholpur Stone (Quartz sandstone) Aggregates in Hardened State	36
	3.5.1 Water Absorption Test	36
	3.5.1.1 Normal Water Absorption Test	
	3.5.1.2 Water Absorption by Sorptivity	
	3.5.2 Water Permeability as per DIN 1048	38
	3.5.3 Test for Carbonation in Concrete	39

	3.5.4 Chloride Ion Penetration	41
	3.5.5 Acid Attack Test	41
	3.5.6 Resistance to Sulphate Attack	44
	3.5.7 Test for Corrosion of Steel Reinforcements	46
	3.5.8 Microstructure by SEM Analysis	50
	3.5.9 X-Ray fluorescence observation	51
	3.5.10 Thermogravimetric Analysis	51
	3.5.11 Action of Fire	52
3.6	Mix Design and Trial Testing	52
	3.6.1 Proportioning of Trial Mix Series I	52
	3.6.2 Mix Design Procedure for Preliminary Test	53
	3.6.3 Combined Gradation of Coarse Aggregates	54
	3.6.4 Workability of Concrete for different proportions of Coarse Aggregates	55
	3.6.5 Compressive Strength Test based on Combined Gradation of Aggregates	57
	3.6.6 Proportioning of Trial Mix Series II	60
	3.6.7 Fresh and Hardened Concrete Properties of Trial Testing	60
3.7	Final Composition	63
CHAI	PTER 4: RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS	65
4.1	Introduction	65
4.2	Properties of Fresh Concrete	65
4.3	Properties at Hardened State	66
	4.3.1 Bulk Density	66
	4.3.2 Compressive Strength	67
	4.3.3 Flexural Tensile Strength	71
	4.3.4 Abrasion Resistance	74
	4.3.5 Pull-Off Strength	76
4.4	Durability Properties	77

	4.4.1 Water Absorption	77
	4.4.1.1 Normal Water Absorption	
	4.4.1.2 Water Absorption by Sorptivity	
	4.4.2 Water Permeability as per DIN 1048	79
	4.4.3 Carbonation Resistance	81
	4.4.4 Chloride Ion Penetration	85
	4.4.5 Acid Attack	89
	4.4.6 Sulphate Attack	100
	4.4.7 Comparison of Acid and Sulphate Attack	107
	4.4.8 Corrosion of Steel Reinforcements	108
	4.4.9 Microstructure by SEM	110
	4.4.10 X-ray fluorescence observation	114
	4.4.11 Thermogravimetric Analysis	115
	4.4.12 Action of Fire	118
СНАРТ	ER 5: CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE WORK	122
5.1	Introduction	122
5.2	Conclusions	122
5.3	Recommendations for Future Work	127
REFER	ENCES & BIBLIOGRAPHY	128
Annexu	re 1: Cost Benefit Analysis	144
Annexu	re II: Mix Design Guidelines	149
Annexu	re III: Concrete Mix Proportions	151

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page
3.1	Dholpur aggregate (Quartz sandstone) aggregates of sizes 25 mm and 10mm.	24
3.2	Rietveld Curve fitting showing quartz and small quantities of clay	27
3.3	Figure showing methylene blue test	28
3.4	SEM images of Natural (left) and Dholpur coarse aggregates (right).	29
3.5	Concrete mixer and compaction factor apparatus	30
3.6	Compression Testing Machine	32
3.7	Flexural Tensile Strength Testing Machine	33
3.8	Abrasion Testing Machine	35
3.9	Pull-off set up on the concrete samples	35
3.10	Procedure showing Pull-off strength testing	36
3.11	Test setup for sorptivity showing wax coated sides	38
3.12	Water Penetration Apparatus as per DIN 1048	39
3.13	Concrete Cutter	40
3.14	Carbonation chamber and Epoxy coated concrete samples	41
3.15	From ASTM C 876 (a) Reference Electrode Circuitry (b) Sectional view of Copper-Copper Suiphate electrode	48
3.16	Steel Bars and Concrete Specimens	49
3.17	Epoxy coated specimens with 3% NaCl solution (drying and wetting cycle)	49
3.18	Coating device and FE-SEM machine with EDX attachment.	50
3.19	Simultaneous Thermal Analyser setup	51
3.20	Equipment used to regulate fire in concrete samples.	52
3.21	Compressive Strength of concrete containing natural aggregate with varied gradations for w/c of 0.38	58
3.22	Compressive Strength of concrete containing natural aggregate with varied gradations for w/c of 0.40	58
3.23	Compressive Strength of concrete containing Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone aggregate) with varied gradations for w/c of 0.38	59

3.24	Compressive Strength of concrete containing Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone aggregate) with varied gradations for w/c of 0.40	59
3.25	Compressive Strength of cubes for water-cement ratio of 0.38 (Trial).	62
3.26	Flexural Strength of concrete beams for water-cement ratio of 0.38 (Trial)	63
4.1	Bulk Density of specimens for all the three series	67
4.2	Compressive Strength of Specimens with w/c 0.35.	69
4.3	Compressive Strength of Specimens with w/c 0.40	69
4.4	Compressive Strength of Specimens with w/c 0.45	70
4.5	Broken samples after compressive strength testing	70
4.6	Flexural Tensile Strength of Specimens with w/c 0.35	71
4.7	Flexural Tensile Strength of Specimens with w/c 0.40	72
4.8	Flexural Tensile Strength of Specimens with w/c 0.45	72
4.9	Arrangement and failure of test specimens under flexural loading	73
4.10	Abrasion resistance of specimens for all the three series	74
4.11	Abraded surface of concrete having quartz sandstone for various replacement levels	75
4.12	The pull-off strength of specimens for all the three series	76
4.13	Water absorption of specimens with w/c 0.35, 0.40 and 0.45	78
4.14	Water absorption (Sorptivity) of concrete containing quartz sandstone aggregate.	79
4.15a	Water Penetration of specimen for the entire three series	80
4.15b	Measurement of Depth of Water Penetration	80
4.16	The depth of carbonation of specimens with water-cement ratio 0.35	81
4.17	The depth of carbonation of specimens with water-cement ratio 0.40	82
4.18	The depth of carbonation of specimens with water-cement ratio 0.45	82
4.19	Carbonation depth of specimens with Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone)	83
4.20	Carbonation Coefficient for the series with w/c 0.35	84
4.21	Carbonation Coefficient for the series with w/c 0.40	84

4.00		05
4.22	Carbonation Coefficient for the series with w/c 0.45	85
4.23	Chloride Ion Penetration of concrete mixes with w/c 0.35	86
4.24	Chloride Ion Penetration of concrete mixes with w/c 0.40	86
4.25	Chloride Ion Penetration of concrete mixes with w/c 0.45	87
4.26	Spraying of 0.1N Silver Nitrate Solution on freshly split concrete specimens	87
4.27	Freshly Split Concrete Specimens showing depth of Chloride Penetration after 28 days (Arrows indicate the depth of chloride penetration)	88
4.28	Reduction in compressive strength of acid attacked specimens with w/c 0.35	89
4.29	Reduction in compressive strength of acid attacked specimens with w/c 0.40	90
4.30	Reduction in compressive strength of acid attacked specimens with w/c 0.45	90
4.31	Image of acid attacked specimens after 28 days of acid immersion	91
4.32	Acid attacked specimen at 90 days. Control concrete (left) and 100% (right) quartz sandstone.	92
4.33	Weight loss (%) of Acid attacked specimens, water-cement ratio 0.35	93
4.34	Weight loss (%) of Acid attacked specimens, water-cement ratio 0.40	93
4.35	Weight loss of Acid attacked specimens, water-cement ratio 0.45	94
4.36	Water absorption of Acid attacked specimens, water-cement ratio 0.35	95
4.37	Water absorption of Acid attacked specimens, water-cement ratio 0.40	95
4.38	Water absorption of Acid attacked specimens, water-cement ratio 0.45	96
4.39	X-ray diffractogram of concrete after sulphuric acid exposure. (A28: Control concrete at 28 days exposure)	97
4.40	X-ray diffractogram of concrete after sulphuric acid exposure. (A90: Control concrete at 90 days exposure)	98
4.41	X-ray diffractogram of concrete after sulphuric acid exposure. (D28: Concrete with 60% Dholpur/quartz sandstone at 28 days exposure)	98

4.42	X-ray diffractogram of concrete after sulphuric acid exposure. (D90: Concrete with 60% Dholpur/quartz sandstone at 90 days exposure)	98
4.43	X-ray diffractogram of concrete after sulphuric acid exposure. (F28: Concrete with 100% Dholpur/quartz sandstone at 28 days exposure)	99
4.44	X-ray diffractogram of concrete after sulphuric acid exposure. (F90: Concrete with 100% Dholpur/quartz sandstone at 90 days exposure)	99
4.45	The difference in compressive strength (%) at 90 days of specimens subjected to sulphate attack	100
4.46	The difference in compressive strength (%) at 180 days of specimens subjected to sulphate attack.	101
4.47	Concrete Specimens after 28 days curing	101
4.48	Control Concrete Specimens and Dholpur/quartz sandstone concrete samples after 180 days Sulphate Attack Test	101
4.49	Sulphate attacked specimens after compressive strength testing at 90 and 180 days	102
4.50	Variation in weight of specimens subjected to sulphate attack with water-cement ratio 0.35.	103
4.51	Variation in weight of specimens subjected to sulphate attack with water-cement ratio 0.40.	104
4.52	Variation in weight of specimens subjected to sulphate attack with water-cement ratio 0.45.	104
4.53	Water absorption in weight of specimens subjected to sulphate attack with water-cement ratio 0.35.	105
4.54	Water absorption in weight of specimens subjected to sulphate attack with water-cement ratio 0.40	106
4.55	Water absorption in weight of specimens subjected to sulphate attack with water-cement ratio 0.45.	106
4.56	Macrocell Current of Specimens with water-cement ratio 0.35	108
4.57	Macrocell Current of Specimens with water-cement ratio 0.40	109
4.58	Macrocell Current of Specimens with water-cement ratio 0.45	109
4.59	SEM images of natural and quartz sandstone aggregates, \times 500 magnification	111
4.60	SEM images of concrete samples containing quartz sandstone, (x 1000 magnification)	113
4.61	Weight % vs Temperature for various substitutions of quartz sandstone	`117

4.62	DTG curves showing major events upon temperature change	117
4.63	Vertical drop plot showing portlandite and calcite decomposition upon quartz sandstone replacement	118
4.64	Maximum compressive strength loss of the specimens for water- cement ratio of 0.35.	119
4.65	Maximum compressive strength loss of the specimens for water- cement ratio of 0.40.	120
4.66	Maximum compressive strength loss of the specimens for water- cement ratio of 0.45.	120
4.67	Concrete image after exposure to fire at 800°C.	121

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
3.1	Physical properties of cement	20
3.2	Chemical composition of cement	20
3.3	Physical properties of Fine Aggregate	22
3.4	Physical properties of Coarse Aggregate	23
3.5	Sieve Analysis of Dholpur Coarse Aggregate	24
3.6	Properties of Dholpur aggregates	25
3.7	Element concentration in percentage from X-Ray diffraction	26
3.8	Percentage passing for general aggregates of normal size and	54
	interpolated value	
3.9	Percentage passing values for combined grading of different	54
	proportions of 20 mm and 10 mm natural aggregates	
3.10	Percentage passing values for combined grading of different	55
	proportions of 25 and 10mm Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone)	
	aggregates.	
3.11	Mix proportions of cement concrete with varied percentages of	56
	coarse aggregates for w/c 0.38	
3.12	Mix proportions of cement concrete with varied percentages of	57
	coarse aggregates for w/c 0.40.	
3.13	Mixture proportions and properties of fresh concrete having different	61
	replacements of quartz sandstones for trial mix series II (w/c-0.38)	
3.14	Mixture proportions of Fresh Concrete with $w/c 0.35$, 0.40 and 0.45	64
4.1	Workability of fresh concrete by Compacting Factor Test	66
4.2	Permissible Depth of Wear as per IS: 1237-1980	75
4.3	The textural maturity of sandstone based on clay content, minerals	112
	present and type of grains (Folk 1951)	
4.4	X-ray fluorescence results showing the elemental composition of	115
	concrete with various replacements of quartz sandstone aggregates.	

CHAPTER-1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Concrete is the third most widely used substance in the world after air and water. The concrete has become one of the major discovery that has eased the construction activities around the globe. Concrete being a versatile material can be formed into any shape and size. The ingredients of concrete are cement, aggregates, water and sometimes with admixtures. The most important ingredient in concrete is the ordinary looking grey powder known as cement. The Ordinary Portland Cement (OPC) production has raised concern among the practitioners regarding the sustainability in the concrete industry (Ban et al., 2017). The concrete also has 60 to 75 percentage of the total volume as aggregates, which is also a significant ingredient.

The world is experiencing an acute shortage of natural aggregates which are used in concrete manufacturing. The strict environmental protection laws and the dying rivers have raised a query against the availability of natural aggregates for construction activities. The construction industries have also started to use large number of by-products from other industries (Kovler 2012).

Stone waste disposal has become one of the increasing drawbacks on the environmental sustainability. Uses of stones like marbles, granites and sandstones as a building material has increased and the disposal of unused stones possess a severe threat to the society. Every year tons of stone wastes have been generated, and it was estimated that almost 25% of stone goes as wastes while excavation and processing them. Over the years, the quarrying area has expanded, the use of modern machinery had led to the cutting of hardest of stones and exposing the soft underbelly of sandstones. With increased urbanisation, industrialisation and technological innovations, large amount of stone junks have been generated by mining, cutting and polishing activities. International natural stone production is plenty and many European and Asian countries have indulged in stone quarrying like India. These lands generate an enormous amount of quarry wastes which is

being dumped without any particular utilisation. Some of these waste materials include stone wastes (marble, granite, sandstone) incineration ash, copper tailings, flyash, carbon steel slag, coal waste, mine waste, ceramic waste, construction and demolition waste, foundry slag, wood ash, furnace slag, welding slag, ISG slag, wollastonite, waste tire rubber etc. Reduction of raw material generation and increase in waste utilisation being the two key parameters in reducing material throughput. At the same time, waste prevention, recycle and reuse reduces the need for virgin materials. It also reduces the associated environmental impacts (Gazi et al., 2012; Van Ewijk et al., 2016). The best approach in overcoming these wastes management problems is to promote large volume recycling of these waste materials (Ken et al., 2015).

Quarries are the ones which generate most of the stone wastes and the lack of disposal plans create an enormous environmental concern. Since quarrying is usually done in open cast method which involves exploration, blasting, transportation and disposal of waste rocks, it greatly affects the environmental surroundings. Tremendous pressure on soil and water resources are generated by quarrying activities, and the dumping of waste rocks in open areas disrupts drainage, diverts the streams into agricultural lands resulting in flooding of crop fields (Stehouwer et al., 2006).

Use of concrete has been increasing all over the world and producing green concrete is the best solution to tackle environmental problems. The surplus use of construction materials such as aggregates and cement is the primary reason behind the environmental degradation. Upon excessive extraction and usage of these materials could lead to a lot of environmental issues. There has also been an urge of concern in the utilisation of by-products and waste materials in cement concrete. On utilisation of these wastes in concrete has not only economic benefits but also reduces the landfilling problems, saves energy and also numerous ecological advantages (Xin Yu et al., 2016; Blankendaal et al., 2014; Kim Hung Mo et al., 2016). In the recent years, the infrastructure companies are facing many challenges to improve the sustainability in the initial stages of concrete production and also by finding an appropriate eco-friendly material to replace the growing demand for natural aggregates. Quite a number of researches has been carried out on the utilisation of waste materials in cement concrete as an alternative for conventional overused aggregates and clinker. Flyash has been used by many researchers as a fractional substitute of cement for the production of Portland Pozzolana Cement (PPC). Ashes like rice husk ash, baggase ash and bottom ash has been utilised as a filler and partial replacement of cement in concrete production. Stone wastes, copper slag, ceramic wastes, ISF slag, construction and demolition waste etc. have been utilised as partial and/or complete replacement for coarse and fine aggregates in concrete. The idea of replacing overused natural aggregates (fine and coarse aggregates) with waste products has been encouraged by the construction industry to promote sustainability (Thomas et al., 2013, 2015; Abdul and Hossein, 2016). The accumulation of stone wastes has also been increasing throughout the year and the land requirements to dump these wastes becomes a significant burden for civil and environmental engineers. With the increase in output and wastage of natural stones like sandstones, the best solution lies in utilising them in cement concrete as a part replacement for aggregates.

1.2 Problem Formulation

Although there are some literature focussing on the types of sandstone and their significant effect on concrete's strength, there is very limited research focussing on durability properties, thermal effects of concretes containing quartz sandstone aggregates. Many researchers have studied the mechanical properties and density alone. A proper study is needed on the durability characteristics, like; resistance to acid attack, thermal effects, corrosion of steel reinforcements, etc. The author prefers to take the Dholpur sandstone (a quartz sandstone) for a thorough study on its utilisation. This study using quartz sandstone (Dholpur sandstone) in concrete was further required on the aspects of strength and durability properties.

In this study, M30 grade of concrete was designed and examined in the first series with a water-cement ratio of 0.40. Quartz sandstone (Dholpur stone) was replaced as a substitute for coarse aggregates varying from 0% to 100% (at 20% interval). The properties of concrete, like; compressive strength, flexural tensile strength, abrasion resistance, pull-off strength, water permeability, water absorption, resistance to acid attack, resistance to sulphate attack, carbonation, depth of chloride

penetration, corrosion of steel reinforcements, etc. were tested. Also, Thermogravimetric analysis (TGA), action of fire and their micro structures were analysed using Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM). The properties of concrete with water-cement ratios of 0.35 and 0.45 were also studied as the second and third series to evaluate the disparity in different properties.

1.3 Objectives of the Work

The objectives of the work carried out are as follows:

- If the quartz sandstones (Dholpur stone) may be used a fractional/whole substitute for aggregates in concrete, the environmental pollution caused by discarding waste sandstones can be prevented to a greater extent.
- A quantum of natural coarse aggregates may be saved due to the substitution of quartz sandstones in concrete.
- This could be an effective system of reusing/disposal of the waste quartz sandstones (Dholpur stone)
- The expenditure of construction projects can be minimised by reducing the utilisation of costlier natural coarse aggregates.
- The waste accumulation that destroys the beauty of nature can be avoided to a greater extent.
- ➤ In overall, the utilisation of this waste material is beneficial to the environment and also economical in producing a sustainable concrete.

1.4 Organisation of thesis

This thesis consists of five chapters.

Chapter-1, Introduction: This chapter introduces the work carried out in the thesis. The research significance and the objectives have been described

Chapter-2, Literature Review: This chapter reviews the literature on the effective utilisation of solid waste materials including the use of sandstones in cement concrete and identifies the research gap.

Chapter-3, Materials and Methods: This chapter illustrates the description of the materials used in the making of quartz sandstone concrete. The chapter also

elaborates the method of testing and the testing procedures of concrete in green and hardened state.

Chapter-4, Results and Discussions: This chapter explains the analysis of results obtained in the testing procedure and its discussions.

Chapter-5, Conclusions and Recommendations: The conclusions derived are compiled and the recommendation for future work are discussed in this chapter.

This thesis also presents abstract, acknowledgements at the beginning and references, bibliography, a brief biodata of the author at the end.

CHAPTER-2

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Solid Waste Materials

The Department of Environmental Conservation, New York states that a solid waste material can be categorised to any type of garbage, refuse, sludge from any wastewater plant, and all other discarded materials of any type including solid, semisolid, liquid or gaseous materials. These waste materials can be generated from industrial, commercial, mining and agricultural operations, and also from communal activities.

Solid waste materials include- fly ash, rice husk-bark ash, bottom ash, bagasse ash, ceramic wastes, carbon steel slag, copper slag, coal waste, incineration waste, limestone waste, mine waste, marble sludge waste, construction and demolition waste, plastic waste, furnace and welding slag, sandstone waste.

Fly ash otherwise known was pulverised fuel ash is a finely divided residue from the combustion of powdered coal collected by an electrostatic precipitator. Rice husk-bark ash is obtained as a residue from burning rice husk-bark as a fuel in power plants. Similarly bagasse ash is obtained from sugarcane mills. Bottom ash is the agglomerated particles of ash formed as a by-product of coal combustion in pulverized coal furnaces. Incineration ash is produced as a result of burning municipal solid waste in an incinerator.

Fabrication industries generate wastes like welding and furnace slag. Carbon steel slag is the by-product generated during the refining of carbon steel in an arc furnace. One ton of carbon steel produces almost 10 kg of carbon steel slag. Copper is an industrial by product obtained during the matte smelting and refining of copper.

Similarly coal waste is a by-product of energy industry. Foundry slag is a byproduct of metal casting process at metal foundries. These are high quality silica sands used to make moulds for casting. Ceramic waste are the non-biodegradable waste of sanitary ware like wash bowels, floor and roof tile, medical and laboratory vessels. Mine waste is generally the stone waste generated from mining activities.

2.2 Utilisation of Solid Waste Materials

Different types of solid waste materials are being utilised in the manufacture of cement concrete as a substitute for aggregates, partial replacement for cement, a filler, fibre etc. Depending on their cementitious properties, they can be either inert or reactive.

2.2.1 Reactive Materials (Pozzolanic Materials)

Pozzolanic materials are either siliceous materials or siliceous and aluminous materials which do not have any cementitious value when they exist as such. But when finely grounded, they can chemically react with calcium hydroxide in the presence of moisture to form cementitious properties (Shetty, 2005).

A simple pozzolanic reaction can be shown by:

Pozzolan + Calcium hydroxide + Water → C-S-H (Gel)

2.2.1.1 Fly Ash

Fly ash is one of the widely used pozzolanic material around the world. In India, almost 75 million tons of fly ash is being generated every year from the thermal power plants (Shetty, 2005). As the disposal of fly ash becomes a huge environmental concern, its efficient use in concrete is highly recommendable. It has become the most used ingredient to improve the strength and performance of cement concrete. Usage of right amounts of flyash in concrete helps in reducing the water demand for attaining the desired workability. As the quantity of water in concrete is reduced, a substantial amount of bleeding and drying shrinkage is reduced. It also helps in reducing the heat of hydration while replacing cement with flyash (Shi et al., 2008; Tan et al., 2012).

2.2.1.2 Silica Fume

Silica fume, generally known as microsilica, is a product from the result of reducing high purity quartz with coal in an electric arc furnace during the manufacture of silicon or ferrosilicon alloy (Neville, 1995). Silica fumes rises as an oxidised vapour which cools, condenses and collected. The particles are generally spherical in shape and are extremely fine being less than 1 micron with an average diameter of about

0.1 micron, which is almost 100 times smaller than that of cement particles (Shetty, 2005; Azavedo et al., 2012; Bagheri et al., 2012; Neville, 1995). Silica fumes can increase the denseness by filling up the pores of cement paste, thereby generating a stronger concrete. When compared to fly ash at room temperature, silica fumes are much more reactive in the presence of moisture. When added to concrete, it makes the mix cohesive and attains lesser slump values. Segregation and bleeding of concrete can be minimised if added in proper dosage.

2.2.1.3 Rice Husk Ash

Rice husk ash is produced by incinerating rice husk in a restrained manner. When properly burnt, it has a high amount of silicon dioxide which can be used as a concrete admixture. Rice husk ash contributes to inpermeability of concrete and thereby increases the concrete strength (Shetty, 2005). It also helps in the refinement of pore structure and also reduced the expansion, plastic shrinkage and thermal cracking. Due to the pozzolanic reaction taking place, calcium hydroxide in hydrated Portland cement paste gets consumed. This enables the concrete in improving the resistance to acid attack and chloride penetration.

2.2.1.4 Metakaolin

A refined kaolin clay that is calcined under controlled conditions to create amorphous aluminosilicate that in reactive in concrete is termed as metakaolin. Like other pozzolans, metakaolin reacts with lime, by-products of cement hydration and helps in densification of cement paste and also increases the strength and decreases the permeability of concrete (Nabil, 2006). Metakaolin reacts with calcium hydroxide and produces additional cementing compounds which holds the concrete together. Erhan et al. (2008) found the addition of metakaolin increased the strength of concrete, reduced the drying shrinkage strain, enhanced the pore structure and made the concrete more impervious.

2.2.1.5 Ground Granulated Blast Furnace Slag

Ground Granulated Blast Furnace Slag (GGBS or GGBFS) is obtained by rapidly quenching molten iron slag (a by-product of iron and steel-making) from a blast furnace in water or a stream, to form a glassy sand like granular material that is then dried and finely ground to powder. Around 7.8 million tonnes of GGBS is produced in India every year which is mainly used for the manufacture of slag cement (Elke et al., 2012; Qingtao et al., 2012; Moruf et al., 2014).

Qingtao et al. (2012) reported a mass loss of concrete with GGBFS was less than 8% than that of Ordinary Portland Cement (OPC) concrete. Carbonation depth was higher in test specimens and the effect of temperature on its compressive strength was more pronounced foe the concrete with GGBFS. Bagheri et al (2012) replaced GGBFS for cement at 15%, 30% and 50% and silica fumes replaces cement at 2.5%, 5%, 7.5% and 10%. It was reported that the silica fumes had only lesser effect in improving the strength of concrete with slag, while there was a considerable improvement noticed in the durability of concrete.

Moruf et al. (2014) noticed the pore filling ability of GGBFS in concrete which helped to enhance the compressive strength of concrete by 20%. The strength achievement was obtained in less than 3 days when compared to gradual strength achievement in normal concrete.

2.2.2 Inert Materials

There are quite a number of inert materials that are used in concrete. The commonly used inert materials in India are the stone wastes, different type of flags and recycled aggregates. However on the thesis point of view, stone waste materials are considered here.

2.2.2.1 Stone Waste Materials

With an increase in the innovation of technologies and the usage of materials, the amount of waste has been generated to a greater extent.

- The increase in constructional activities has surged the use of new materials and also has led to the disposal of existing ones.
- The large amount of resources being consumed in the present day scenario imposes unpredictable loss in biodiversity and amenities.
- Hence, the utilisation of these stone wastes in cement concrete might reduce the landfilling problems and also curtails the use of conventional natural aggregates.

There exists a variety of building stones which has been utilised as a construction material from the ancient times. Marble, granite and sandstone are some of the commonly used building stones. These building stones are generally cut into smaller blocks or pieces to get the desired shape and size. Some of the stones are cut and shaped to use as tiles, slabs and cladding material. During the process of cutting, almost 20-25% of the stone is lost as waste which is termed as stone wastes. The one which is comes as a mixture of water and stone dust is generally termed as slurry waste.

Concrete is a composite construction material composed of cement paste, aggregates, water and admixture. Aggregates are generally gravel or crushed rocks of granite, marble or sandstones. The overall objective is to make a concrete that is easy to mix, place, compact, finish and sometimes transport. The proportioning of overall quantities in a concrete mix is very important since it affects the properties of hardened concrete.

The marble, granite and sandstones industries generate both solid wastes and slurry wastes. Solid wastes from these industries include discarded stone waste from the mining activities. The solid wastes from stone industries can also be the scraps from mining and processing units. Slurry wastes include the mix of water and stone dust as a result of cutting/sawing and polishing stones.

2.2.2.2 Utilisation of Solid Stone Waste Materials

Stone is one of the most commonly occurring building material around the world. Some of the types of solid stone materials include marble, granite, sandstone, limestone and slate etc. There is an enormous increase in the demand of such stones in the construction industry.

2.2.2.3 Marble Stones Wastes in Concrete

Marble stones is an ancient construction material that is being widely used in the production of concrete. The word marble denotes a shining stone or a crystalline rock. These rocks are generally the result of metamorphism taking place in the several sedimentary carbonate rocks. The rocks thence formed are a result of various carbonate crystals locked together. There are various types of marbles that exist based on the colour and the location where it is found. The overall marble

production is dominated by four countries that include Italy, China, India and Spain. Italy and China being the major producers of marble followed by India and Spain. Most of the marble stones are used as a constructional aggregate in the manufacture of cement concrete. In accordance with the United States Geological Survey, crushed marble aggregates amounts to 11.8 million tons in 2006 (https://www.usgs.gov).

At present scenario, the increased demand for natural aggregates has given rise to find an alternative source of building material. On the other hand, the marble waste production has also been greatly increasing. The wastes which are retained after processing and cutting gets clogged in the aquifers causing much more problems. So inorder to utilise the wastes effectively and also to reduce the use of conventional aggregates, marble aggregates was used in concrete by many researchers. Hebhoub et al., (2011) reported that 75% substitution of marble aggregates could be utilised confirming to concrete production standards. Another study done by Binici et al., (2008) reported that a concrete mix with 100% marble aggregate mixed with GGBS showed better compressive, flexural strengths. The utilisation of marble wastes in concrete not only contributes to an eco-friendly concrete but also improves the national economy. It was also found that the use of marble dust at 40%, saves 4 US\$ while used for paving block production (Rai et al., 2011; Gencel et al., 2012).

Sardinha et al., (2016) conducted studies on durability properties of concrete containing very fine marble sludge. He noticed that the durability characteristics worsened as the water-cement ratio and percentage of marble sludge increased. The optimum dosage of marble sludge was witnessed to be 5% and 10%. The fresh concrete properties greatly depended on super plasticisers. Ulubeyli et al., (2016) noticed an improvement in the durability properties of normal concrete and self-compacting concrete. The water absorption characteristics, resistance to sulphate attack and chloride ingression was found to be improved when marble aggregates were used in cement concrete. Sadek et al., (2016) conducted a study in utilisation of marble slurry in self-compacting concrete. The results indicated that high volumes of fly ash of about 50% by weight of cement content (400 kg/m³) can be utilised successfully in cement concrete. The authors also suggested to use silica fume to enhance hardened concrete property. Similar research was done by Tennich et al., (2015) utilising marble and tile waste as mineral additive in self-compacting

concrete. The fresh concrete was tested against tests such as V-Funnel test, flow test, L-Box tests. The hardened concrete was tested for compression and tensile strength test along with Ultra sonic pulse velocity testing. The output of research clearly showed a sufficient result in the utilisation of marble slurry as mineral additives.

Aliabdo et al., (2014) studied the reuse of marble dust for the production of cement and concrete. The test results indicated that the marble dust blended with cements upto 15% replacement by weight remains as an acceptable limit. The results also showed that the marble dust replaced as fine aggregate in concrete production, enhances the physical and mechanical properties. Due to its filler effect and also inactive role in the hydration process, the marble dust is found to be a sustainable material to be used in cement and concrete production. Similar research was carried out by Talah et al., (2015) on utilising marble powder on high performance concrete. The studies indicated a positive mechanical characteristics and also beneficial resistance to chloride migration.

2.2.2.4 Granite Stone Waste in Concrete

India is a country which is endowed with almost 20% of overall granite deposits around the world. There has been a continuous lack of space for landfill and also degradation to environment due to the granite waste generation (Lokeshwari and Jagadish 2016). Granite fines which are produced during the process of cutting are carried by water and stored in tanks. After evaporation of water, the sludge is disposed in an inefficient manner (Arshad et al., 2014). The important motive of a waste management system is to utilise the waste in most efficient way by protecting the environment and also by doing it in a more economical way. The industries of granite are very much similar to that of other stone industries that generates large amount of stone wastes inform of powder while cutting and sawing (Dhanapandian et al., 2009). Thus a sustainable use way of utilising these wastes are by utilising them in the manufacture of cement concrete.

Li et al., (2016) studied on the utilisation of granite dust in manufactured sand concrete. The results indicated that the workability of fresh concrete containing manufactured sand was improved by adding granite dust. Hamza et al., (2011) utilised granite slurry waste as a fine aggregate replacement for the production of

bricks. The test results revealed that the recycled products such as granite slurry had physical and mechanical properties that qualifies for the manufacture of bricks. Soltan et al., (2016) studied the possibility on using granite waste in the production of light weight aggregate. The results indicated that the viscosity of liquid phase in the aggregates was governed by the presence of silica and alumina when firing. It was found that the manufactured light weight aggregates with granite waste can be used as thermal insulators after firing at 1200°C.

Bacarji et al., (2013) studied on the sustainability perspective on granite waste as concrete fillers. Granite waste being an inactive material in the pozzolanic activity can be used as a filler material in the production of cement concrete. The results indicated that the 5% replacement level showed no considerable change in the properties of fresh concrete as well as in mechanical properties. Singh et al (2016) worked on the use of granite powder as a fine aggregate replacement in concrete. The adopted replacement levels were 10%, 20%, 30% and 50%. The slump values of granite added concrete produced a lesser slump with a lesser workability due to the angular shaped rough aggregates. Similar fines replacement was done by Raghavendra et al., (2015). The granite fines was noticed to have a satisfactory workability when compared to standard concrete mix upto 25% replacement.

Vijayalakshmi et al., (2013) studied the changes in slump values as the granite fines were added in concrete. A maximum replacement of 25% was adopted and the concrete was casted with fixed water-cement ratios. However a decreased workability was observed by the researcher, some of the authors have established a contrary data. One such contrary result was published by Adigun (2013) while using crushed granite dust as a replacement for natural fine aggregate. For a fixed water-cement ratios of 0.42 and 0.45, an increase in slump values was observed as the granite fines were increased in the mixes. Similar increase in workability was observed by Felixkala and Sethuraman (2013) as the granite waste was used as a sand replacement in cement concrete.

On reviewing the strength of products having granite wastes, Olaniyan et al. (2012) used granite fines as fine aggregate replacement in the manufacture of sandcrete blocks. The sandcrete blocks were manufactured with replacements of granite at 0% to 100%. A maximum compressive strength by sandcrete block with 15%

granite fines was observed by the authors. Chiranjeevi Reddy et al. (2015) utilised granite fines as natural fine aggregate replacement in the production of concrete. The replacement levels were adopted to be 2.5%, 5%, 7.5% and 10%. They observed a maximum compressive strength at 7.5% replacement level of fine aggregates with granite fines. The maximum replacement of 10% showed a comparable result of mechanical properties with that of control mix.

Divakar et al., (2012) investigated the effect of granite dust as fine aggregate replacement in concrete with replacements varying from 0% to 50%. They observed a considerable increase of flexural strength upto 5.41% at 5% replacement level. However at other replacement levels, a significant decrease in the flexural strength was observed. Ramos et al., (2013) used granite dust and superfine granite dust in cement mortars. The replacements were done for cement at 5%, 10% and the split tensile strength of the mortar was observed. A continuous decrease in split tensile strength was observed as the superfine granite dust was added in mortar.

2.2.2.5 Sandstone Waste in Concrete

Concrete is widely used as a construction material in modern society. With the growth in urbanisation and industrialisation, the demand for concrete is increasing. Therefore, raw materials and natural resources are required in large quantities for concrete production worldwide. At the same time, a considerable quantity of industrial waste, agricultural waste and other types of solid material disposal are creating environmental issues (Aprianti et al., 2016). So it becomes necessary to find an alternative source for raw materials and to lessen the wastes being dumped (Brito & Amorim, 2009) (Aggarwal et al., 2014).

While utilising aggregate of different sizes, proper grading and its effect on strength should be studied to find out the exact ratio in which they can be mixed together. Van Vliet and Van Mier (2000) studied the size effect of strength and fracture energy of concrete and sandstone. It has been recognised for ages that the size effect can have a significant effect on the nominal strength. Thus sandstone of different sizes used in concrete would have a varying effect on its corresponding strength and further it is important to grade these aggregates when used in concrete (S. Kumar et al., 2016).
The term sandstone denotes a rock formed by grains which are sand-sized. Quartz sandstones have a framework of about 90% quartz and with the limited amount of some other grains like feldspars and lithic fragments. Sandstones are sedimentary type of rock which are composed of rock grains and silt sized particles. They are of different types based on the geological property, elemental framework and most of the sandstones has quartz and feldspar due to abundance of them in earth's crust. Being a widespread aggregate resource, sandstones are widely used in concrete construction around the world (Mackechnie, 2006). The geological properties of sedimentary rocks are fairly diverse such as quartzite, arkose, subarkose and greywacke aggregate that may produce a range of hardened concrete properties. Therefore, it is important that the aggregate can be easily characterized to obtain predictable concrete properties (Yilmaz and Tugrul, 2012).

The factors generally influencing the strength of concrete are the amount and type of cement, w/c ratio, aggregate type and grading, workability of fresh concrete, mineral admixtures used, chemical additives, curing conditions and time, etc. (Kilic et al., 2008). Previous studies have showed the importance of aggregate packing and grading to enhance the performance of concrete (Sobolev, 2004; Fuller and Thompson, 1906; David, 2007; Sobolev and Amirjanov, 2010). Changes in aggregate proportions and its influence on concrete properties such as strength and modulus of elasticity was studied by several researchers (Abrams, 1918; Gilkey, 1961; Neville, 2000; Thierry and Larrard, 1994; Vorobiev 1977; Larrard, 1990; Larrard and Belloc, 1997; Hansen, 1965; Shilstone, 1990; Newton, 2005; Sobolev and Amirjanov, 2008; Fennis, 2011). Similarly when sandstone used in concrete, compressive strength of resulting concrete might vary and it is being accepted as the most important mechanical property of structural concrete.

Since sandstones are porous materials, it can absorb more moisture when compared to conventional coarse aggregates. Influence of moisture is well known to decrease the mechanical property of construction material like sandstones (Marques et al., 2012; Adriaens et al., 2014). There are different types of sandstones and they contribute differently towards the strength of concrete. Clay content in sandstone approximately reduces the compressive strength of concrete to about 40-50% and the presence of carbonate in sandstones have a better bonding between cement and aggregate than those containing clay particles (Yilmaz and Tugrul, 2012). Quartz

sandstones are those which have a lesser quantity of clay and it approximates to about 2.7g/kg as measured by methylene blue test. Specification BS EN 12620:2002+A1:2008, limits the fines content in recycled aggregate at 3% and in recycled concrete aggregate at 5%, since the fines content influences the water absorption property and which in turn affects the drying shrinkage of concrete (Kumar et al., 2016).

The rapid advancement of construction sector, in combination with economic growth, consequently indirectly requires considerably high amount of production and consumption of construction minerals, such as rock materials (aggregate) and sand (Ismail et al., 2013; Madurwar et al., 2013). On the other hand, the mining and quarry industry, should guarantee the adequate and continuous supply of raw materials as a producer of construction minerals to the construction sector to sustain the economic development of the country. If there occurs a shortage in these resources, leads to increased construction cost and which in turn affects the overall national development on infrastructure (Hamid et al., 2006). In countries like India, sandstones are mined to a greater extent leading to large amount of landfilling. Thus the use of sedimentary rock like sandstone wastes that need to be land filled and also reduce the transportation and energy cost which is needed to import virgin natural aggregates thereby reducing the use of virgin aggregates and conserve natural resources (Han and Thakur, 2014).

2.3 Research Gaps Identified

From the literature studies the following observations were made

- 1. Most of the studies focussed on mechanical properties of sandstone. Proper studies on the durability characteristics were not identified.
- 2. Gradation study of using natural aggregate and sedimentary aggregate was not observed in the literature studies.
- 3. The studies on sandstones were mostly outside India. There would be differences in quality of sandstone and all other constituent materials.
- 4. Studies on abrasion, thermal effects and acid attack resistance of quartz sandstones were not observed in the literature study.
- 5. Considerable use of sedimentary aggregate in concrete were found to be very less in the literature study.

CHAPTER- 3

MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Introduction

In this chapter, the properties of materials used and the experimental programme along with the methodologies are elaborated. The methodologies of mechanical and durability properties of cement concrete containing Dholpur Aggregates (quartz sandstones) as a part replacement for natural coarse aggregates have been reported. Trial mixes and preliminary study was done to ensure the workability, compressive strength and the dosages of plasticiser with different quantities of Dholpur aggregates to be added in the main casting. Based on the test results, the proportions of constituent materials used in the main casting were decided and modified accordingly. Three series of concrete mixes were designed as per IS 10262: 2009. In the first series, M30 concrete grade with a water-cement ratio of 0.40 was fixed for a maximum exposure condition according to IS 10262:2009 by varying the quantity of Dholpur Aggregate and labelled as series 1.

There is always a greater interest in research towards the effect of water to cement ratios on certain property changes like strength, shrinkage and cracking potential of internally cured concrete (Zhutovsky & Kovler, 2017). Hence, in the next two series, water-cement ratios of 0.35 and 0.45 were adopted. The mechanical and chemical properties of these materials are presented here and the methodology of tests on concrete, like; resistance to compression and flexure, pull off strength, resistance to abrasion, water permeability, carbonation, acid and sulphate resistance, corrosion etc. are presented in this Chapter.

For attaining the goal of concrete containing quartz sandstones, the physical properties of materials viz. cement, fine aggregates, coarse aggregates and Dholpur aggregates (quartz sandstones) were determined as per the procedures of Indian Standard Codes. Control mix containing solely natural aggregates and the various other concrete mixes with different dosages of Dholpur aggregates were prepared and tested for fresh and hardened concrete properties.

3.2 Material Investigations

The physical and mechanical properties of cement, fine aggregates, coarse aggregates and the Dholpur sandstones (quartz sandstone) were determined. The physical properties include specific gravity, fineness of aggregates, water absorption and the mechanical properties like compressive strength of cement was carried out according to the Indian Standards. The constituent materials used in the production of cement concrete are:

- (a) Cement: Ordinary Portland cement of 43 grade was obtained from the local market (Commercial name: Binani). The procured cement confirms to IS 8112: 2013.
- (b) Fine Aggregate: Natural river sand confirming to IS 383: 1970 was used.(Obtained from river Banas; Zone II)
- (c) Coarse Aggregate: Aggregates of sizes 20 mm and 10mm were procured locally. The natural coarse aggregates confirms to IS 383: 1970.
- (d) Dholpur Aggregates (Quartz sandstones): Dholpur aggregates of sizes not greater than 25mm and 10mm were used. The aggregates were obtained from a mining region in the Dholpur district of Rajasthan state in Northern India.
- (e) Water: Potable water available in the Institute was used.
- (f) Super Plasticiser: Gilenium Sky 8777 (BASF manufactured)

3.2.1 Properties of Cement

The properties of cement such as normal consistency, soundness, initial and final setting time, fineness and compressive strength (3, 7, 28 days) were tested as per Indian Standards IS 8112: 1989 and IS 4031: 1996.

The Vicat apparatus was used to measure the normal consistency of cement. Normal consistency denotes the consistency in which the plunger of Vicat apparatus is made to penetrate a depth of 5-7 mm from the bottom the mould. At first, cement paste is prepared using with the weighed quantities of cement and water. Gauging was done between 3-5 minutes and the cement paste was placed in the mould. The plunger of the Vicat apparatus was released and allowed to sink into the cement paste. With

varying the percentages of water, trail mixes were done to attain the normal consistency of the cement paste. The depth of penetration was noted down.

To determine the soundness of cement Le-Chateliar's apparatus was used. The measured quantities of cement and water were mixed properly (0.78 times the water required for normal consistency) to prepare the cement paste. The prepared paste was placed in the mould and the glass pieces were used to cover the both sides of the mould. The mould was then placed in water maintained at $27 \circ \pm 2 \circ C$ after 30 minutes. The sample was kept in water for the next 24 hours. The distance between the indicators were measured accurately and the whole assembly was kept in boiled water for 30 minutes. The distance between the two indicators was again measured accurately. The difference between the initial and final reading gives the soundness of cement.

To measure the initial and final setting time of cement, the cement paste was prepared according to Indian standards by mixing 0.85 times the water required for the normal consistency. The cement paste was placed in the Vicat mould and the plunger was released to measure the depth of penetration. The period elapsed between the time water was added to the cement and the time at which needle fails to pierce the cement paste at 5.0 ± 0.5 mm from the bottom of mould was reported as the initial setting time of cement. The annular attachment needle was used to determine the final setting time. The period elapsed between the time water was added to the cement and the time at which needle fails setting time of cement. The annular attachment needle was used to determine the final setting time. The period elapsed between the time water was added to the cement and the time at which needle makes an impression on the surface of mould was reported as the final setting time.

To determine the fineness of cement, 100 grams of cement was sieved over 90 micron sieve. The residue left over the sieve was weighed. The ratio of the residue left over to the initial measured cement is expressed as percentage. The ratio expressed should not be more than 10%.

In order to determine the compressive strength of cement, a total of 9 mortar cubes with an area of 50 cm² was prepared by mixing cement and the standard sand in the ratio of 1:3. The quantity of water taken accounts to (P/4+3) % of the combined weight of sand and cement. P denotes the percentage of water required for normal consistency. The mould was then filled in 2 layers with each layer tamped 20 times. The mould was then vibrated for 2 minutes and kept in room temperature for 24 hours. After demoulding the specimens, they were tested for resistance to compression at 3, 7 and 28 days.

The properties of cement are shown in Table 3.1 and Table 3.2

S. No.	Requirements	Test results (Lab)	As per Test Certificate Binani [*]	Requirements as per IS-8112-1989	
1	Consistency	32%	30-35%	-	
2	Fineness	1%	292 m ² /kg	10%	225 (minimum)
3	Setting Time	•		I	
	Initial	80 min.	60 - 100	30 (M	inimum)
	Final	164 min.	160-200	600 (Maximum)	
4	Compressive Strength		1	1	
	3 days	25		23 (M	inimum)
	7 days	36		33 (M	inimum)
	28 days	45		43 (Minimum)	
5	Specific Gravity	3.15			-

Table 3.1: Physical properties of cement

* Test certificate (No. R/15-21, dated 11-06-2013) issued by Binani Cements Limited, India.

Table 3.2: Chemical composition of cement

S.	Requirements	Test results	Requirements as
No.			per IS-8112-1989
1	Lime saturation factor	0.96	0.66-1.02
2	Ratio of alumina to that of iron oxide	1.70	0.66 (Minimum)
3	Insoluble residue (% by mass)	2.69	3.0 (Maximum)
4	Magnesia (% by mass)	1.77	6.0 (Maximum)
5	Sulphuric anhydride (% by mass)	2.25	3 (Maximum)
6	Total loss on ignition (%)	2.66	5 (Maximum)
7	Total chlorides (%)	0.020	0.10 (Maximum)

^a Test certificate (No. R/15-21, dated 11-06-2013) issued by Binani Cements Limited, India.

3.2.2 Properties of Fine Aggregate

The river sand procured from river Banas was used as the fine aggregates for the production of cement concrete. The fine aggregates were tested for fineness, water absorption and specific gravity as per the parts of Indian Standard code IS 2386: 1963.

As the fine aggregate particles consists of particles of various sizes, their size distribution should be analysed to understand their suitability in making concrete. For this purpose, sieve analysis was carried out. The Indian standard set of sieve sizes were adopted i.e. 80 mm, 40 mm, 20 mm, 10 mm, 4.75 mm, 2.36 mm, 1.18 mm, 600 micron, 300 micron and 150 micron. A pan was kept at the bottom to collect the finer particles that pass through all the standard sieve sizes. A kilogram of oven dried sand was taken randomly and was placed in top of sieve after cooling at room temperature for 24 hours. The set of sieves was then closed and placed in a sieve shaker. After shaking, the particles in sieve was collected and the percentage passing through each sieves were calculated.

A pycnometer was used to find out the specific gravity of fine aggregates. The empty weight of pycnometer was taken as W_1 . The fine aggregates were oven dried at $60^\circ \pm 5$ °C for 3 days (72 hours) and then cooled at room temperature for 24 hours. The pycnometer was then filled to about one-third with fine aggregate and the weight of pycnometer along with aggregate was taken as W_2 . The pycnometer was the half filled with water and stirred vigorously to remove the entrapped air. The pycnometer was then completely filled with water and the weight of pycnometer and sand along with the water was taken as W_3 . The water and sand was removed from the pycnometer and refilled with water alone. This weight was taken as W_4 . The specific gravity was calculated as:

Specific Gravity (G) =
$$\frac{W_2 - W_1}{(W_2 - W_1) - (W_3 - W_4)}$$

Inorder to determine the water absorption of fine aggregates, the sample was washed properly to remove the dirt. Further it was then dipped in distilled water, where the temperature was maintained to be at 27 ° ± 2 °C for $24 \pm \frac{1}{2}$ hours. After the end of soaking period, the aggregates were taken out and surface dried for 10 minutes. The initial weight W₁ was noted down. Then the aggregates were placed

in a tray and oven dried at a temperature of $100^{\circ}\pm 5^{\circ}C$ for 3 days. After removing it from the oven, the aggregate was cooled at room temperature and the weight W_2 was taken. The water absorption of the aggregate was then calculated as:

Water Absorption =
$$100 \times \frac{W_1 - W_2}{W_2}$$

The results of various tests conducted n fine aggregates are given below in Table 3.3

S. No.	Name of the test		Fine Aggregate
1	Sieve Analysis	Sieve size	% Finer
		80 mm	100.00
		40 mm	100.00
		20 mm	100.00
		10 mm	100.00
		4.75 mm	094.45
		2.36 mm	088.40
		1.18 mm	073.10
		600 micron	042.54
		300 micron	011.84
		150 micron	001.36
2	Specific Gravity		2.63
3	Water Absorption		1.5 %
4	Fineness Modulus		2.88

Table 3.3: Physical properties of Fine Aggregate

3.2.3 Properties of Coarse Aggregate

The natural coarse aggregates having two different sizes (20 mm and 10 mm) were used. The physical properties like specific gravity, sieve analysis and water absorption were determined separately for 20 mm and 10 mm as per different parts of IS 2386: 1963.

The procedure of sieve analysis was done similar to that of fine aggregates. A total of 5 kg of oven dried and cooled sample at room temperature was sieved in the

Indian standard sieve sizes. The weight retained on each sieve was measured individually to calculate the percentage of material passing through each sieve. The physical properties such as water absorption and specific gravity was done similar to that fine aggregate testing. The physical properties of coarse aggregate are given in Table 3.4.

S.	Name of the test		Coarse Aggregate	
No.			20 mm	10 mm
1	Sieve Analysis Sieve size		% Finer	
		80 mm	100.00	100.00
		40 mm	100.00	100.00
		20 mm	67.02	100.00
		10 mm	0.70	95.5
		4.75 mm	0.12	28.8
		2.36 mm	0.00	0.00
		1.18 mm	0.00	0.00
		600 micron	0.00	0.00
		300 micron	0.00	0.00
		150 micron	0.00	0.00
2	Specific Gravity		2.67	2.56
3	Water Absorption (%)		0.24	0.26
4	Fineness Modulus		7.24	5.58

Table 3.4: Physical properties of Coarse Aggregate

3.2.4 Properties of Dholpur stone (Quartz sandstone)

The test methods adopted to determine the physical properties of Dholpur stone is similar to that methods used for natural coarse aggregates. Two different sizes of Dholpur aggregates were adopted for the study (25 mm and 10 mm). Images of Dholpur stone are given in Figure 3.1. The sieve analysis of Dholpur aggregates are given in Table 3.5.



Fig 3.1: Dholpur aggregate (Quartz sandstone) aggregates of sizes 25 mm and 10mm.

Name of the test		Coarse Aggregate		
		25 mm	10 mm	
	Sieve size	% Finer		
	80 mm	100.00	100.00	
	40 mm	100.00	100.00	
	20 mm	72.70	100.00	
	10 mm	1.90	98.45	
Sieve Analysis	4.75 mm	0.10	7.88	
	2.36 mm	0.00	0.00	
	1.18 mm	0.00	0.00	
	600 micron	0.00	0.00	
	300 micron	0.00	0.00	
	150 micron	0.00	0.00	

Table 3.5: Sieve Analysis of Dholpur Coarse Aggregate

The Dholpur aggregates were procured from a mining site at Dholpur, Rajasthan, India. The aggregates were tested for physical properties like specific gravity, water absorption, modulus of rupture, compressive strength and abrasion. The properties of Dholpur stones tested are given in Table 3.6.

S.No	Technical	Sample condition		Value	Standards
	Information				used
1	Water	-		1.36	IS 2386-(Part
	Absorption, %				III)-1963
	by weight				
2	Specific Gravity	-		2.43	IS 2386-(Part
					III)-1963
3	Modulus of	dry	parallel to rift	16	
	rupture (MPa)		perpendicular to	9	
			rift		ASTM C-99
		wet	parallel to rift	13	
			perpendicular to	8	
			rift		
4	Compressive	dry	parallel to rift	115	
	Strength (Mpa)		perpendicular to	108	
			rift		ASTM C-170
		wet	parallel to rift	106	
			perpendicular to	91	
			rift		
5	Abrasion	Average	-	1.89	IS 1237
		wear, mm			

Dholpur aggregates (quartz sandstone) crystal structure was further studied using X-ray diffraction in which X-Rays are produced by a cathode ray tube and are refined to produce monochromatic radiation which is directed towards the sample. When there is an interaction between the sample and incident rays it leads to a constructive interference while satisfying Bragg's law. X-Ray diffraction was done to characterise the crystalline minerals in the quartz sandstone and further to crystal structure was studied using Rietveld refinement. Rietveld curve fitting refers to an iteration method whereby the X-ray diffraction pattern is attempted to be recreated by compiling it from the peaks of the constituent phases at varied proportions (higher content – higher peaks) and finding the most likely composition by best fit.

X-Ray analysis confirmed the presence of small quantity of clay in form of muscovite and feldspar (microcline) and the major part being quartz. Table 3.7 shows the concentration of elements and the figure 3.2 shows the Rietveld curve fitting.

S. No.	Chemical formula	Chemical name	Concentration %
1	SiO ₂	Silica	81.045
2	Al ₂ O ₃	Aluminium Oxide	8.225
3	K ₂ O	Potassium Oxide	5.592
4	MgO	Magnesium Oxide	0.523
5	TiO ₂	Titanium Oxide	0.442
6	Fe ₂ O ₃	Iron (III) Oxide	0.388
7	CaO	Calcium Oxide	0.273
8	Na ₂ O	Sodium Oxide	0.220
9	SO ₃	Sulphur trioxide	0.072
10	Ba	Barium	0.055
11	Zr	Zirconium	0.055
12	P ₂ O ₅	Phosphorus pentoxide	0.048
13	Ce	Cerium	0.030
14	Cr	Chromium	0.029
15	Rb	Rubidium	0.013
16	Cl	Chloride	0.012
17	Sr	Strontium	0.009
18	MnO	Manganese (II) oxide	0.006
19	Cu	Copper	0.003
20	Pb	Lead	0.003
21	Ni	Nickel	0.002
22	Zn	Zinc	0.002
23	Y	Yttrium	0.002
24	Th	Thorium	0.002
25	Nb	Niobium	0.001
26	Ga	Gallium	0.001

Table 3.7: Element concentration in percentage from X-Ray diffraction



Figure 3.2: Rietveld Curve fitting showing quartz and small quantities of clay

Particles less than 2 µm in diameter may have a determinable effect on concrete strength and the presence of clay in aggregate could reduce the compressive strength of concrete up to 40–50%. In order to determine the amount of clay in sandstone wastes methylene blue test was done in accordance to BS EN 933-9:1999. Methylene blue is a heterocyclic aromatic chemical compound and at room temperature it appears solid, odourless, dark green powder form. During the test, methylene blue dye is added in small increments to the continuously stirred sample (water slurry) and a drop of slurry is placed on filter paper at a time. Adding more dye and sampling the slurry is repeated until no more dye can be absorbed by the sample and hence there is a blue halo is seen around the dot (Fig. 3.3). MB value for the sandstone wastes was found to be 2.7 g/kg. Specification BS EN 12620:2002+A1:2008, limits the fines content in recycled aggregate at 3% and in recycled concrete aggregate at 5%, since the fines content influences the water absorption property and which in turn influences the drying shrinkage of concrete. This latter is limited at 0.075% in all of the above standards and indirectly puts a control on the fines content.



Figure 3.3: Figure showing methylene blue test

3.2.4.1 Sampling and Testing for SEM

A preliminary study was also done on the powdered samples using scanning electron microscope to know the compatibility of quartz sandstone for the partial replacement of natural aggregates. The samples were thoroughly degreased and dried to eliminate any outgassing from organic contamination and water. The accelerated electrons having large amount of kinetic energy is made to dissipate into variety of signals by electron-sample interactions. Secondary electron produces SEM images that are used to study the crystal structure and mineral orientations. These electrons are important as it shows morphology and topography of samples. Non-destructive tests like SEM serves as an important study for analysing the use of sandstones in concrete since there is no volume loss in material and the same sample can be used repetitively. S-4700 Field Emission Scanning Electron Microscope (FE-SEM) was used to image the samples.

3.2.4.2 SEM Analysis

It was evident from the images that the sandstone particles have a dense structure and presumably low porosity/low water absorption, which is beneficial from technical point of view (i.e. the water demand would be low). On the other hand, there are fairly sharp cleavages and the smaller particles show some elongation, which adversely affect the rheology/flow characteristics of fresh concrete and can be mitigated by increasing the w/c ratio or applying super plasticizers. The two effects (low water absorption and angular shape) compensate each other, so all in all, based on its morphology, this material appears to be suitable for concreting. The SEM images of natural aggregate and quartz sandstone in shown in Fig. 3.4.



Figure 3.4: SEM images of Natural (top) and Dholpur coarse aggregates (bottom).

3.2.5 Super Plasticiser

A second generation poly carboxylic ether based superplasticiser was used. Master Glenium Sky 8777 free from chloride, low alkali and compatible with all types of cement. This super plasticiser has been primarily developed for applications in high performance ready-mix concrete to facilitate total performance control.

3.3 Testing of Concrete in Fresh Stage

Fresh concrete stage is the stage where the concrete can be moulded to any shape possible. This stage is generally stated as plastic stage. One important factor that determines the strength of concrete is compaction of fresh concrete. Sufficient workability will improve compaction of concrete mixes. Workability of concrete determines the ease at which concrete can be mixed, placed and compacted. There are many such methods like slump test, compaction factor etc., to determine the workability of fresh concrete. Compaction factor test is mostly used in this research work since it is a more rational method than the slump test and is suitable for dry mixes with low slump. Compaction factor is the ratio of partially compacted concrete to that fully compacted concrete.

3.3.1 Workability of Concrete by Compaction Factor Test

The compaction factor test was used to determine the workability of fresh concrete. The compaction factor test was preferred over slump test due to its accuracy and its applications for low water-cement ratios.



Figure 3.5: Concrete mixer and compaction factor apparatus

The compaction factor apparatus shown in Figure 3.5 consists of two hopper vessels A and B with a hinged bottom and a bottom cylinder, C. After the removal of dirt, cleaning all the vessels and oiling, the vessel A was filled with fresh concrete sample. The hinged door at the bottom of vessel A is opened so that the concrete falls into vessel B. The hinge door of vessel B is opened to make the fresh concrete fall into bottom cylinder C. The surplus concrete in the cylinder was struck off with a steel float. The weight of concrete W₁ was calculated after subtracting the cylinder weight. This cylinder was then vibrated to attain full compaction and the extra concrete was added to fill. Now the weight W₂ of fully compacted concrete is taken by subtracting the weight of cylinder. Compacting factor is calculated by W₁/W₂.

The reason for using Compaction factor test is for more sensitive and precise measurements of workability. It also helps to indicate small variations in workability over a wide range (http://iitk.ac.in/ce/materials/4.html.

3.4 Testing of Hardened Concrete

Inorder to study the effects of Dholpur stones (quartz sandstones) as a part replacement for coarse aggregates in cement concrete, properties like resistance to compression and flexure, pull-off strength, oven dry density, water absorption and abrasion resistance were measured as per the standards given in various codes.

The tests to determine the compressive strength and flexural tensile strength were performed after 7, 28, 90 days of water curing. The tests for water absorption, dry density, pull-off strength and abrasion resistance tests were performed after 28 days of water curing. A minimum of three samples were taken to determine the average readings of the various tests performed. In accordance with IS 516-1959, specimens stored in water should be tested immediately on removal from water. In our research, the specimens were allowed to dry for 15-20 minutes before testing.

3.4.1 Bulk Density Test

The bulk densities of concrete samples were determined as per IS 6441:1972 (Part-I) from 100 mm concrete cubes specimens. The samples cured for 28 days and oven dried at $60^{\circ} \pm 5$ °C for 3 days were used for this test. The specimens were cooled at room temperature and the weight was taken immediately. The weight divided by the volume of cubes gives the bulk density of the concrete.

3.4.2 Compressive Strength Test

To test the compressive strength, concrete cube specimens of size 100 mm were cast while percentages of Dholpur stone (Quartz sandstone) (0% to 100% in the multiples of 20%) and varying water-cement ratios (0.35, 0.40 and 0.45). The concrete specimens were then demoulded after 24 hours of casting and stored in a curing tank with fresh water maintained at a temperature of $27^{\circ}\pm 2^{\circ}$ C. The specimens were then tested for compressive strength at 7, 28 and 90 days of curing. The average of three specimens were taken as the compressive strength of concrete sample.



Figure 3.6: Compression Testing Machine

The cube specimens were then tested using the compression testing machine and the specimens were subjected to load on both the sides. The load without shock was then applied gradually at the rate of 140 kg/sq cm/min until the specimen breaks gradually. The maximum load was recorded and the compressive strength was calculated by dividing the maximum load at failure divided by the cross sectional area of the specimen. The compressive strength testing machine is shown in Fig. 3.6.

3.4.3 Flexural Tensile Strength Test

Concrete beam specimens of size $100 \text{mm} \times 100 \text{mm} \times 500 \text{mm}$ were casted with varying percentages of Dholpur sandstones and with varying water-cement ratios.

The specimens after casting were demoulded after 24 hour and kept for curing in clean fresh water. The temperature of the water was maintained at $27^{\circ\circ} \pm 2^{\circ}$ C. The beam specimens were tested on a flexural testing apparatus for 7, 28 and 90 days as per IS 516:1959. Inorder to obtain average value, three specimens were tested from each sample.



Figure 3.7: Flexural Tensile Strength Testing Machine

The concrete beam specimens were placed in the flexural tensile strength testing machine (as shown in Figure 3.7). The axis of specimen was carefully aligned with the axis of loading device. The machine arrangement had a four point loading and the rate of loading was kept at 180 kg/minute. The load was gradually increased and the maximum load at which the specimen fails are recorded.

3.4.4 Abrasion Resistance Test

Inorder to measure the resistance to wear, abrasion test was carried out. The test was performed according to IS 1237:1980 on a 28 days cured 100mm sample (samples oven dried at $60^{\circ}\pm 5^{\circ}$ C for 3 days). The weight of the specimens taken were measured closest to 0.5 grams. The grinding path of the abrasion testing apparatus was filled evenly with abrasion powder (20 grams). The abrasive powder used for the test was rounded in shape and have aluminium oxide content not less than 95% by mass; in the sieve analysis 0-15% by mass can be retained on 212

micron IS sieve, minimum 15% should be retained on 212 micron IS sieve, minimum 70% shall be retained on 180 microns IS sieve and not more than 3% shall be passed through 150 micron IS sieve.

The concrete cube specimen was fixed to the holding device of the abrasion testing machine (Figure 3.8) such that the surface to be abraded faces the disc. A specimen with 100 cm² surface area was subjected to a load of about 600 N. (According to code, the load shall be 300 N for the surface of 50 cm^2 . As the surface was doubled, the load was also doubled). The grinding disc with abrasion powder is made to move with 30 revolutions per minute. With the help of brush, the abrasive powder is made to feed back into the grinding path. After 22 revolutions, the grinding path and the face of the concrete specimen is brushed to remove the abrasive powder. Now, the specimen is kept in the holding device after turning an angle of 90° about vertical axis in the clockwise direction. After the complete brushing of old abrasive powder, fresh ones of 20g are fed into the grinding path. This procedure is repeated 9 times and the total revolutions accounts to 220. When this procedure is over, the concrete specimen is reweighed and the average loss in thickness, 't' is calculated. As per the standard code, in general purpose tiles, the average maximum wear shall not exceed 3.5mm and wear on any individual specimen shall not exceed 4 mm. For heavy duty floors, a maximum of 2 mm and 2.5 mm is allowed.

The average loss in thickness, 't' is calculated by the following equation

$$t = \frac{(W_1 - W_2) \times V_1}{(W_1 \times A)}$$

Where,

t = Average loss in thickness (mm)

 W_1 = Initial mass of the specimen (grams)

 W_2 = Final mass of the specimen (grams)

 V_1 = Initial volume of the specimen (mm²)

A = Surface area of the specimen (mm²)



Figure 3.8: Abrasion Testing Machine

3.4.5 Pull-Off Strength Test

The tensile strength of the cover zone of the concrete specimens is termed as pulloff strength (test procedure as per BS 1881 Part 207:1992). This test was performed on concrete samples after 28 days of curing. After cleaning the surface of the specimen, discs of 50 mm diameter were perfectly bonded with the help of epoxy adhesive. The concrete samples were tested after 24 hours after pasting. The standard loading rate of about 5-10 kN/ minute was applied. Pull off strength is the force required to pull-off the disc, along with the surface area of concrete (Figures 3.9, 3.10)



Figure 3.9: Pull-off set up on the concrete samples



Figure 3.10: Procedure showing Pull-off strength testing

3.5 Durability Properties of Concrete containing Dholpur Stone (Quartz sandstone) Aggregates in Hardened State

The durability properties of concrete containing Dholpur stone was analysed by performing the water permeability test, water absorption test, acid attack test, chloride ion permeability test, carbonation test and corrosion test. All the durability tests were carried on 28 day cured concrete sample.

3.5.1 Water Absorption Test

Normal water absorption test and water absorption by capillary action were performed for the concrete samples with various replacements of Dholpur aggregates (quartz sandstones).

3.5.1.1 Normal Water Absorption Test

The test for water absorption was carried out as per ASTM C 642 (2006). The IS code (IS 15658:2006) was not used due to the fact that the specimens should be dried at a ventilated oven at a temperature of $107^{\circ} \pm 7^{\circ}$ C for 24 hours. Also the procedure given by American Standards were found to be easily carried out at laboratory facilities.

The samples cured for 28 days and oven dried at $60^{\circ} \pm 5 \text{ °C}$ for 3 days were used for this test. The initial weight W₁ was taken after the cubes were kept in room temperature for 24 hours. Then the cubes were immersed in water such a way that 50 mm water is maintained on the top surface of the specimen. After 48 hours, the cubes were taken out of the water and allowed to drain for a minute by placing on a dry cloth and the final weight W_2 was taken immediately. The water absorption values of concrete with Dholpur stone (Quartz sandstone) are compared with the water absorption values of the control specimens.

The measured water absorption was expressed as a percentage of the dry weight of the specimen.

Water Absorption
$$= \frac{W_2 - W_1}{W_1} \times 100$$

3.5.1.2 Water Absorption by Sorptivity

Water absorption testing was carried out according to ASTM C 1585-04. The permeability of the pore system is one of the most important factors for determining the performance of concrete in aggressive environments. The rate of ingress of water is mostly controlled by absorption due to capillary rise for an unsaturated concrete. This test method is used to determine the rate of absorption (sorptivity) of water by hydraulic cement concrete by measuring the increase in the mass of a specimen resulting from absorption of water as a function of time when only one surface of the specimen is exposed to water (Figure 3.11). The exposed surface of the specimen is immersed in water and water ingresses of unsaturated concrete predominantly by capillary suction during the initial contact with water. The only difference of sorption from permeability is the driving force for water ingress in concrete being the capillary suction rather than a pressure head. Specimens of size 100 mm × 100 mm × 100 mm, cured for 28 days and oven dried at a temperature of $65 \pm 5^{\circ}$ C for seven days, were used for testing.



Figure 3.11: Test setup for sorptivity showing wax coated sides.

3.5.2 Water Permeability as per DIN 1048

Water acts the transport medium for aggressive chemicals like chloride or sulphate ions which leads to the deterioration of concrete. One of the characteristics that influence the durability of concrete is its resistance to ingress of water and other potentially harmful substances.

The test for water permeability was carried out according to DIN 1048 (Part 5) on 28 day cured concrete sample. The specimen size of 150 mm were used for this test. The use of German code was preferred over IS code (IS 3085: 1965) for performing this test because the rate of water penetration as per IS code is very low. According to DIN 1048, the concrete specimen should be subjected to a constant water pressure of 0.5 N/mm² from above for 3 days acting normal to the mould-filling direction (Figure 3.11). Inorder to provide a same pressure of 0.5 N/mm² according to Indian Standards, a water column of 50 meters would be practically impossible.



Figure 3.12: Water Penetration Apparatus as per DIN 1048

After the 3 days of exposure to a constant water pressure, the specimen were removed from the apparatus and split open at the centre into two equal halves. After 5-10 minutes drying, the highest depth of penetration was noted down and the average of the measurements were taken as the depth of penetration (Average of 3 samples). The depth of penetration is considered to be low if it is less than 3cm. At 3-6cms it is medium penetration and high penetration above 6cm (Eshmail Ganjian et al., 2009).

3.5.3 Test for Carbonation in Concrete

Carbonation in concrete is a process by which dissolution of CO_2 in the concrete pore fluid reacts with calcium from CaOH and CSH to form CaCO₃. Within some duration, carbonation brings down the overall alkalinity of concrete which is required to guard the steel from being corroded. The protective layer once sacrificed, the corrosion of reinforcement takes place and the concrete cover fails (Lo and Lee, 2002; Jack et al., 2002).

The stipulations set by CPC-18, RILEM were adhered to for measuring the carbonation depth. Six concrete cubes of size 100 mm were water cured for 28 days following which they were oven dried for 48 hours. Each of these cubes were cut into four equal pieces of 50 mm width and 100 mm depth with the help of a concrete cutter given as shown in Figure 3.13. These pieces were again oven dried at 60-

70°C for 2 weeks. After that two coating of epoxy paint was applied on the 100 mm surface of the prisms and left to dry as given in 3.14. After marking, the samples were introduced to the CO₂ chamber given in Figure 3.14. Inside the chamber, the relative humidity is controlled at 50-55%, Carbon dioxide concentration kept at $5 \pm 0.2\%$, Temperature was 27 ± 20 °C. After 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, and 12 weeks of CO₂ exposure, 3 pieces from each sample were taken and tested.



Figure 3.13: Concrete Cutter

The longitudinal sides of the samples were broken into two equal halves and were sprayed with phenolphthalein as a pH indicator. Colourless areas are visualised with a pH value less than 9.2 and the non-carbonated areas with a pH value greater, turns purple red. The average depth of carbonation and carbonation coefficient was reported for each specimen.

Carbonation coefficient =
$$\frac{Carbonation \ depth}{\sqrt{\text{Time of Exposure in days}}}$$



Fig 3.14: Carbonation chamber and Epoxy coated concrete samples

3.5.4 Chloride Ion Penetration

The silver nitrate solution spray method is a simpler and quicker method to determine the chloride ion migration depth of concrete. Specimens of 100mm size water cured for 28 days were immersed for 90 days in 4% NaCl solution. To maintain a constant concentration, the NaCl solution was replaced after 24 hours of immersion, then at 3rd day and then at every 7 days. Test specimens were taken out at every 28, 56 and 90 days from the soaking tank and were split into two halves in the middle. To determine the extent of chloride ion penetration, 0.1N Silver nitrate (AgNO₃) solution was sprayed on these split pieces. When the presence of free chloride ions on the concrete surface is greater than 0.15% by weight of cement, AgNO₃ reacts with these ions and forms a white precipitate of silver chloride (AgCl). In places where there is an absence of free chlorides, hydroxide reacts with AgNO₃ to form a brown precipitate of silver oxide (AgO). The depth of chloride penetration is hence measured at the boundary of colour change. The silver chloride formation (white colour) occurs only (Erhan et al., 2007 & 2009).

3.5.5 Acid Attack Test

Deterioration of concrete can take place when exposed to aggressive sulphuric acid environments. There are many durability requirements to be considered for the design of concrete in aggressive environments. One such important consideration is acid attack in concrete. Since sulphuric acid is responsible for sewage systems, piping systems and waste water treatment systems. Since sulphuric acids are strong, they can abate the pH of the concrete environment and alter the hydration components which further intensifies the deterioration. This process of deterioration of concrete when exposed sulphuric acid can be divided into reactions that occur with calcium hydroxide (CH) and calcium silicate hydrates gel (CSH) (Nnadi and Marriaga, 2013). Some of the researchers found that the sulphuric acid reacts with CH and forms gypsum which increases the volume of concrete causing cracks. The reactions between tricalcium aluminate and gypsum and formation of ettringite leads to more volume expansion causing to deterioration of concrete (Monteny et al., 2000). Sulphuric acid corrosion of concrete can be characterised by the following reactions (Bassuoni and Nehdi, 2007)

 $Ca(OH)_{2} + H_{2}SO_{4} \rightarrow CaSO_{4} \cdot 2H_{2}O$ $CaSiO_{2} + H_{2}SO_{4} \rightarrow CaSO_{4} + Si(OH)_{4} + H_{2}O$

 $3CaO.Al_2O_3.12H_2O + 3(CaSO_4.2H_2O) + 14H_2O \rightarrow 3CaO.Al_2.3CaSO_4.3H_2O$

Gypsum ($CaSO_4 \cdot 2H_2O$) undergoes volume expansion in concrete which induces stresses of tensile nature that causes cracking and spalling. Gypsum so formed now reacts with calcium aluminate and forms ettringite which leads to further increase in volume eventually resulting in more micro and macro cracking in concrete. Additionally, sulphuric acid tends to decalcify the calcium-silicate-hydrate (CSH) and thus destroys the cement matrix and leads to loss of strength in concrete (Bassuoni and Nehdi, 2007).

The resistance to sulphuric acid attack was evaluated out as per ASTM C 267-97 for a duration of 90 days. Sulphuric acid of 3% by weight of water was opted as a medium for this test. To perform the test, 28 day cured concrete cube specimens of 100mm size were immersed in a container filled with dilute sulphuric acid solution. To maintain a constant concentration, the H₂SO₄ solution was replaced after 24 hours of immersion, then at 3rd day and then at every 7 days. Surface treatments were not performed on the specimens attacked by acid before testing them (Emmanuel and Sami, 1988; Bassuoni and Nehdi, 2007)

The following tests were done on Acid Attacked Concrete:

3.5.5.1 Water Absorption of Acid Attacked Concrete

The water absorption test of acid attacked specimens was done to determine the changes in porosity. The concrete samples were tested for water absorption after 28, 56 and 90 days of immersion in dilute sulphuric acid solution. The test was carried out as per ASTM C 642 (2006). The concrete cube specimens of size 100mm dried in a ventilated oven at $60^{\circ} \pm 5 \,^{\circ}$ C for 3 days and kept at room temperature for 24 hours were used and the initial weight W₁ was taken. Then the cube specimen was dipped in water by maintaining 50mm at the top surface of the specimen. After 48 hours, the specimens were taken out of the water and allowed to drain for a minute by placing over a dry cloth and the final weight W₂ is taken. The values obtained are related with the water absorption values of non-acid attacked specimens.

Water Absorption
$$= \frac{W_2 - W_1}{W_1} \times 100$$

3.5.5.2 Variation in weight (Weight loss) of Acid Attacked Concrete

The variation in weight of acid attacked specimens were done after 28, 56 and 90 days of exposure to dilute sulphuric acid solution. The concrete cube specimens of size 100mm dried in a ventilated oven at $60^\circ \pm 5$ °C for 3 days and kept at room temperature for 24 hours were used and the initial weight was taken. The variation in weight was related with the initial oven dried weight before immersion in acid solution.

3.5.5.3 Compressive strength (reduction) of Acid Attacked Concrete

The compressive strength was evaluated after 28, 56 and 90 days of immersion in dilute sulphuric acid solution as per ASTM C 579-01. The compressive strength variation was compared with that of non-acid attacked specimens which were water cured for 28 days after casting. The results were expressed in terms of percentage. It is to be noted that the change in dimension of the specimen after the acid exposure was not taken into account while calculating the compressive strength.

3.5.5.4 X-ray diffraction observation of acid attacked specimen

Development of compact, lightweight, rugged, portable, and economically viable equipment for implementation of some analytical chemistry methods such as XRD

has facilitated their growing semi destructive or non-destructive field applications (Peyvandi et al., 2015). Inorder to establish the formation of ettringite by XRD, 3-4 grams of powdered representative samples were taken from acid attacked specimens. The selection of specimens was based on shortest and longest exposed to magnesium sulphate solution.

3.5.6 Resistance to Sulphate Attack

Ordinary Portland cement is prone to attack of sulphates, especially to magnesium sulphates. Sulphates are mostly found in sea water, ground water, high clay content soils, mining pits, sewer pipes, organic materials in marshes etc. The common sulphates include magnesium, calcium, potassium, calcium, sodium and ammonium. Sulphates, when reacted with hydrate of calcium aluminate forms calcium sulphoaluminates. These have a volume of 227% of the volume of original aluminates. With free calcium hydroxides, sulphates form calcium sulphate initially and eventually to the formation of gypsum, ettringite and/or thaumasite. This causes several forms of concrete damage like spalling, cracking, softening, expansion, loss of strength. The expansion results in further propagation of cracks and resulting in disruption of concrete. This phenomena is known as sulphate attack, which gets accelerated if subjected to alternate wetting and drying. This mainly takes place in marine structures which are in the zone of tidal variations.

Nader et al. (2008) explained the process of sulphate attack in three steps. Due to the reaction between tricalcium aluminate in the cement and the sulphate ions from internal/external sources, ettringite forms in the cement matrix as the first step. It is shown below.

$$3CaO.Al_2O_3 + 3(CaSO_4.2H_2O) + 26H_2O \longrightarrow 3CaO.Al_2O_3.3CaSO_4.32 H_2O$$

$$\uparrow$$

$$C_3A$$

$$Gypsum$$

$$Ettringite (C_6AS_3H_{32})$$

The sulphate ions from ettringite reacts with remaining tricalcium aluminate to form tetra calcium aluminate monosulphate-12-hydrate, which is known as monosulphoaluminate. The chemical reaction is given below.

$$2(CaO.Al_2O_3) + 3CaO.Al_2O_3. 3CaSO_4. 32H_2O + 4H_2O \longrightarrow 3(CaO.Al_2O_3.SO_3.12H_2O)$$

Monosulphoaluminate

When the monosulphoaluminate is in contact with any new source of sulphate ions, it forms ettringite again.

When ettringite is continuously formed within the solid concrete, it creates a lot of internal pressure that leads to expansion and cracking. Continuous and progressive loss in mass and strength of concrete occurs when it is exposed to sodium sulphate or magnesium sulphate. The sulphate ions react with calcium hydroxide from the cementitious material to form gypsum.

$$Na_2SO_4 + Ca(OH)_2 + 2H_2O \longrightarrow Gypsum + 2NaOH$$
$$Mg_2SO_4 + Ca(OH)_2 + 2H_2O \longrightarrow Gypsum + Mg(OH)_2$$

Sulphate attack test was performed according to ASTM C 1012-89. The concrete specimens of 100 mm size, cured for 28 days were used for the testing. The saturated weight of the specimens were taken and they were subjected to a continuous soaking for a period of 180 days in 3% MgSO₄ solution. To maintain the constant concentration, the MgSO₄ solution was replaced after first 24 hours of immersion, then at 3rd day, and then at every 7 days (Paulo and Kimberly, 2003; Nader et al., 2008). It is to be noted that, surface treatments were not performed for the sulphate attacked specimens prior to the test carried out. The test specimens were periodically taken out of the soaking tank and the following tests were performed.

3.5.6.1 Variation in weight

Weight measurement of sulphate attacked specimens were done after 28, 90 and 180 days of immersion. The concrete samples were taken out of the tank and allowed to surface dry at room temperature for 10 to 15 minutes and the weight was

noted. The change in weight was compared to that of the initial saturated surface dried weight of the specimen.

3.5.6.2 Compressive strength

The compressive strength was evaluated after 28, 90 and 180 days of immersion in MgSO₄ solution. It was related with the compressive strength of non-sulphate attacked (normal concrete sample) concrete which was cured for 28 days. The results are represented in percentage. The variation in the dimension of the specimen after the exposure was not taken into account while calculating the compressive strength.

3.5.6.3 Water absorption

The water absorption capacity was evaluated (as per ASTM C 642-2006) to study the changes in porosity due to attack of sulphate salts. The concrete samples were tested for water absorption after 90 and 180 days of immersion in MgSO₄ solution. The concrete cube specimens of size 100mm dried in a ventilated oven at $60^{\circ} \pm 5^{\circ}$ C for 3 days and kept at room temperature for 24 hours were used and the initial weight W₁ was taken. Then the cube specimen was dipped in water by maintaining 50mm at the top surface of the specimen. After 48 hours, the specimens were taken out of the water and allowed to drain for a minute by placing over a dry cloth and the final weight W₂ is taken. The values obtained are related with the water absorption values of non-sulphate attacked specimens.

3.5.7 Test for Corrosion of Steel Reinforcements

To measure the corrosion of steel reinforcements, chloride induced corrosion technique was adopted. Macro-cell method was used to measure (monitor) the corrosion activities of embedded steel bars in concrete. The potential difference between anode and cathode across a standard resister of 100Ω was measured.

To prepare the specimens for corrosion test, three TMT steel bars as given in Figure 3.16. (12 mm diameter and 350 mm length) were taken and properly cleaned with a wire brush for removing the dirt and rust on the surface. Rubber shrink tube was firmly affixed on the two ends of the steel bars at a length of 75 mm. This was done to prevent that area (which is exposed outside the specimen) from getting corroded.

Concrete specimens used here were of size 250 mm X 200 mm X 120 mm (as per ASTM G 109-2005) as given in Figure 3.17. The two steel bars were kept inside with a cover of 30 mm from bottom (cathode) and one steel bar with a cover of 15 mm was placed centrally at the top (anode). A reservoir of 15 mm was made on the upper surface of the specimen for ponding with 3% sodium chloride solution.

After casting, the corrosion specimens were cured in water for 28 days by maintaining the temperature at $27^{\circ} \pm 2^{\circ}$ C. The specimens after removal from the curing tank were dried at room temperature for a period of 30 days. The vertical sides of specimens were then epoxy coated with two layers. With the help of electric wires, a standard resistor of 100 Ω was connected between the common terminal of the bottom steel bars and the terminal of the top steel bar. A solution of 3% sodium chloride (by weight) was poured on the upper surface reservoir of the specimen. Then the specimens were subjected to alternate wetting and drying cycles as given in Figure 3.17 (2 weeks wetting with sodium chloride solution, followed by 2 weeks drying).

The potential measurements were taken for both the wetting and drying cycles. The initial reading for the macro-cell corrosion was taken at the beginning of the second week of the ponding and the consecutive readings were taken after every 2 weeks. A high impedance voltmeter was used to measure the potential difference between the anode and cathode as given in Figure 3.15. The macro-cell current was calculated by the following equation:

$$I_j = \frac{V_j}{100}$$

Where, $Vj = Voltage across 100 \Omega$ resistor.



Figure 3.15: From ASTM C 876 (a) Reference Electrode Circuitry (b) Sectional view of Copper-Copper Suiphate electrode



Figure 3.16: Steel Bars and Concrete Specimens



Figure 3.17: Epoxy coated specimens with 3% NaCl solution (drying and wetting cycle)

The total integrated current is obtained from the following equation:

$$TC_{j} = TC_{j-1} + [(t_{j} - t_{j-1}) \times \frac{(i_{j} + i_{j-1})}{2}]$$

Where,

TC = Total corrosion (coulombs)

tj = Time in seconds at which measurement of the macro cell current is carried out

ij = Macro cell current (amps) at time tj.

3.5.8 Microstructure by SEM Analysis

The microstructure was analysed with the help of a Nova Nano Field Emission Scanning Electron Microscope (FE-SEM) given in Figure 3.18. It is used to provide ultra-high resolution characterisation and analysis giving precise, true nanometer scale information. The machine gives a resolution of 1.4 nm at 1 kv (TLD-SE) and 1 nm at 15 kv (TLD-SE) The FE-SEM is coupled with an EDX detector for measuring the elemental chemical composition of the nano materials.

The instrument has a very fine cold field emission electron source, consisting of a tungsten tip cathode of only 100 nm in radius of curvature, and two anodes, the first causing electrons to be emitted from the cathode via an electric field (hence "field emission"), with the second anode then causing the emitted electrons to be accelerated at high velocity. The resulting high emission intensity allows improved resolution combined with a high signal to noise ratio.

Concrete pieces of 1cm size were cut from cube specimens and were gold coated in the coating apparatus. Then they are examined under the lens of an FE-SEM apparatus and taken the images at different focus of the lens. Cement, sand, Dholpur stones (Quartz sandstone) and silica fumes were also examined in the similar manner.



Figure 3.18: Coating device and FE-SEM machine with EDX attachment.
3.5.9 X-ray fluorescence (XRF) observation

Inorder to determine the elemental composition of concrete samples, XRF is a valid and useful method (EPA 2007). XRF is also one of the most befitting methods which permit the analyser to a lot of determinations in a very period of time when compared to rest of the methods (Proverbio and Carassiti 1997). Samples which emit X-ray intensities based on element characteristics not only depends on elemental concentration but also the chemical bindings of the element in the matrix, the degree of compaction and grain size. The concrete samples having various percentages of quartz sandstone substitution was analysed.

3.5.10 Thermogravimetric Analysis

Thermo gravimetric analysis is a type of testing that is done to determine the changes in mass or weight of a specimen with respect to change in temperature. Simultaneous Thermal Analyser (STA 6000) with Pyris Instrument Viewer software was used for analysing the samples (Figure 3.19). The sample was checked to be compatible with ceramic crucible at temperature, atmosphere and time and the nitrogen gas was connected to the analyser in the balance port with sample purge gas flow rate at 30 ml/min. The temperature was applied at the rate of 20 °C and Pyris manager was used to get the math and smoothen the curves obtained after the run was complete with furnace returning to room temperature.



Figure 3.19: Simultaneous Thermal Analyser setup

3.5.10 Action of Fire

Concrete members generally exhibit good fire resistant properties due to its low thermal conductivity, high thermal capacity and slow degradation of mechanical properties of concrete with temperature. No standard test procedures exist for high temperature testing in concrete. Most of the researchers have employed testing concrete at higher temperatures and finding its residual strength after its exposure. The concrete containing 0%, 20%, 60% and 100% of quartz sandstones were tested against fire with an increasing temperature upto 800° C (Figure 3.20).



Figure 3.20: Equipment used to regulate fire in concrete samples.

3.6. Mix Design and Trial Testing

The trial mixes series were divided into two categories. The first trail mix series consists of concrete made solely from natural/quartz sandstone (Dholpur stone) aggregates with different gradations to obtain the optimum ratio of aggregate sizes. The second trail mix series consists of replacing natural aggregates by quartz sandstones from 0% to 100% at every 10% interval (with the gradation obtained from trial mix series 1) to find the optimum replacement levels.

3.6.1 Proportioning of Trail Mix Series I

For proportioning of concrete mix with Dholpur stone (Quartz sandstone), a definite method for mix design is not available. Not many researchers have utilised this quality of sandstones in cement concrete. Some of them have worked on utilising sandstones at very high water-cement ratios. However, not many research has been carried out to replace natural coarse aggregates partially or completely

From the literature study, it was decided to use Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone) as a partial or whole replacement for coarse aggregates in cement concrete. However, a preliminary study was needed to find the optimum ratios of aggregate size to obtain a maximum dense concrete and secondly, to attain an optimum replacement percentage of Dholpur sandstone by natural coarse aggregates.

3.6.2 Mix Design Procedure for Preliminary Test

In order to achieve the best proportion of the constituent materials, trial mixes were cast and tested at every step. The trial mix was divided into two steps. One step was to find out the exact gradation at which coarse aggregates can be mixed together and the other was to find the optimum replacement level.

- a) The grade of concrete (for severe exposure condition) was fixed as M30. OPC 43 grade cement conforming to IS 8112 was selected. Maximum size of aggregates was 25 mm for Dholpur coarse aggregates and 20 mm for natural coarse aggregates. Minimum cement content was 320 kg/m³ and maximum was 450 kg/m³.
- b) For the trial mixes, the water cement ratios were fixed to be 0.38 and 0.40. The target strength for M30 grade concrete is obtained to be 38.25 N/mm². The fixation of water-cement ratio was fixed based on the trail mixes using superplasticiser. The total amount of cement used is determined using the water-cement ratio which is greater than the minimum amount given in code.
- c) The volume of aggregate was divided into fine aggregates and coarse aggregates. As per the gradation study, the ratio of combining different size of aggregates were obtained.
- d) Thus the mass of constituent materials (cement, water, aggregates, water and chemical admixture) for one cubic meter concrete was obtained.

3.6.3 Combined Gradation of Coarse Aggregates

Gradation is one of the important parameters for finding out the exact ratio of mixing different size of aggregates together. IS 383:1970 gives the grading limit of coarse aggregates for maximum sizes of aggregates 40, 20 and 16. However the maximum size of aggregate obtained was 25mm so the values were interpolated to get the exact size of grading for quartz sandstone. The expected value of percentage passing of general aggregate corresponding to size 25mm are given in table 3.8. Percentage passing for combined ratios of natural aggregates in given in table 3.9 and for quartz sandstone in table 3.10.

Table 3.8: Percentage passing for general aggregates of normal size and interpolated value

	Percentage passing							
I.S. Sieve size	40mm size	20mm size	Interpolated 25mm					
			size					
40mm	95-100	100	96-100					
20mm	30-70	95-100	70-90					
10mm	10-35	20-55	20-48					
4.75mm	0-5	0-10	0-8					

Table 3.9: Percentage passing values for combined grading of different proportions of 20 mm and 10 mm natural aggregates

	Percentage passing of natural aggregates (20mm:10mm)					
Sieve size	60:40	50:50	40:60			
40	100	100	100			
20	86.64	86.35	92.95			
10	31.28	42.35	53.5			
4.75	1.08	1.2	2			

	Percentage passin	g of quartz sa	ndstone aggregates
Sieve size	(25mm:10mm)		
	60:40	50:50	40:60
40	100	100	100
20	92.56	92.26	90.35
10	41.65	51.15	61.25
4.75	3.26	3.57	3.1

Table 3.10: Percentage passing values for combined grading of different proportions of 25 and 10mm Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone) aggregates.

3.6.4 Workability of Concrete for different proportions of Coarse Aggregates

Workability of fresh concrete was tested using a compaction factor apparatus as per IS 1199:1959. Effectiveness of concreting depends on the ease at which concrete can be placed, compacted and finished. Aggregate characteristics affect the water required for a given consistency. Sandstone aggregates tend to have higher water absorption than the natural aggregates and water requirement to maintain the same workability is a tedious process. Super plasticisers were used to maintain the compaction factor for both natural and sandstone aggregates. (C.F. - 0.85-0.9). Before partially replacing sandstone coarse aggregate for a ratio of 50:50, different proportions of individual mixes for natural and sandstone aggregates were done to obtain the exact ratio in which aggregates can be used together without affecting the gradation. Mix proportions and properties of fresh concrete are given in table 3.11 and 3.12.

Ingredients	Conve	entional	coarse (20mm:1	0mm)	Dholpur stone coarse (25mm:10mm)				
per cu.m	40:60	45:55	50:50	55:45	60:40	50:50	55:45	60:40	65:35	70:30
Cement, kg	426	426	426	426	426	426	426	426	426	426
Water, kg	162	162	162	162	162	162	162	162	162	162
FA, kg	645	645	645	645	645	645	645	645	645	645
10 mm CA, kg	756.6	693.6	630.5	567.4	504.4	-	-	-	-	-
20 mm CA, kg	504.5	567.5	630.5	693.6	756.6					
Sandstone Aggregate 10 mm, kg	-	-	-	-	-	580.4	522.3	464.3	406.2	348.2
Sandstone Aggregate 25 mm, kg	-	-	-	-	-	580.4	638.5	696.5	754.5	812.6
Admixture, %	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.85	0.9	0.95	1.0	1.05
C.F.	0.85	0.87	0.88	0.85	0.85	0.85	0.87	0.85	0.85	0.86

Table 3.11: Mix proportions of cement concrete with varied percentages of coarse aggregates for w/c 0.38

Ingredients	s Conventional coarse (20mm:10mm) Dholpur stone coarse (25mm:						10mm)			
per cu.m	40:60	45:55	50:50	55:45	60:40	50:50	55:45	60:40	65:35	70:30
Cement, kg	388	388	388	388	388	388	388	388	388	388
Water, kg	155.2	155.2	155.2	155.2	155.2	155.2	155.2	155.2	155.2	155.2
FA, kg	698.4	698.4	698.4	698.4	698.4	698.4	698.4	698.4	698.4	698.4
10 mm CA, kg	721.7	661.5	601.4	541.3	481.1	-	-	-	-	-
20 mm CA, kg	481.1	541.3	601.4	661.5	721.7	-	-	-	-	-
Sandstone Aggregate 10 mm, kg	-	-	-	-	-	553.7	498.3	442.9	387.6	332.2
Sandstone Aggregate 25 mm, kg	-	-	-	-	-	553.7	609.0	664.4	719.8	775.1
Admixture, %	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.85	0.9	0.95	1.0	1.05
C.F.	0.86	0.89	0.88	0.85	0.85	0.88	0.89	0.8	0.85	0.87

Table 3.12: Mix proportions of cement concrete with varied percentages of coarseaggregates for w/c 0.40.

3.6.5 Compressive Strength Test based on Combined Gradation of Aggregates

Compressive strength tests were carried out with cube size of $100 \text{ mm} \times 100 \text{ mm} \times 100 \text{ mm} \times 100 \text{ mm}$ with varying ratios of 25 mm and 10 mm aggregates. Compressive strength was done after 7 and 28 days of curing in accordance with IS 516:1959. Surface water was removed with a dry cloth and the cubes were tested in wet condition.

The variation in compressive strength for water cement ratio 0.38 and 0.4 for natural aggregate is shown in figures 3.21 & 3.22 and for quartz sandstone in figures 3.23 & 3.24. Compressive strength results for varied ratios of combined gradation

showed increasing trend till 55:45 (20mm: 10mm) natural aggregate and the same trend was noticed in quartz sandstone (Dholpur stone) aggregate till 60:40 (25mm: 10mm). The decrease in compressive strength results after attaining a specific gradation was due to increase in void spaces due to the usage of bigger sized aggregates. The exact ratio for mixing conventional coarse aggregates was found to be 55:45 (20mm: 10mm) and for quartz sandstone aggregates was 60:40 (25mm: 10mm) in order to achieve maximum compressive strength.



Fig 3.21: Compressive Strength of concrete containing natural aggregate with varied gradations for w/c of 0.38



Fig 3.22: Compressive Strength of concrete containing natural aggregate with varied gradations for w/c of 0.40



Fig 3.23: Compressive Strength of concrete containing Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone aggregate) with varied gradations for w/c of 0.38



Fig 3.24: Compressive Strength of concrete containing Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone aggregate) with varied gradations for w/c of 0.40

3.6.6 Proportioning of Trial Mix Series II

M30 concrete grade was designed as per IS 10262:2010 and IS 456:2000 with water cement ratio of 0.38. The replacement of natural aggregates with quartz sandstones

(Dholpur aggregates) were done at every 10% interval upto 100% replacement (Table 3.13). Concrete cubes of sizes 100 mm x 100 mm x 100 mm for compressive strength and flexural beams of size 100 mm x 100 mm x 500 mm were casted. Concrete mixtures were casted at indoor temperatures of 25-30 °C. Compaction factor test was used to determine the workability of concrete mixes and C.F. was maintained between 0.85-0.9 by the use of super plasticisers and curing temperature of 25-27 °C was maintained in the water tank.

3.6.7 Fresh and Hardened Concrete Properties of Trial Testing Series II

Workability of fresh concrete was measured using compaction factor apparatus as per IS 1199:1959 and the same code was used for measuring density of fresh concrete. Workability and density of fresh concrete containing increased dosages of quartz sandstone aggregates were compared with the control concrete containing only the conventional aggregates. From the Table 3.13 it can be seen that density of fresh concrete decreased as the quartz sandstone aggregate was replaced for conventional coarse aggregates. This is due to the lower specific gravity of quartz sandstone aggregates.

Concrete cubes of 100 mm \times 100 mm \times 100 mm were cast with increasing replacement percentages of quartz sandstone as a substitute material for conventional coarse aggregate. Specimens were cast for 7 and 28 days compressive strength tests in compliance with IS 516: 1959, demoulded after 24 hours and cured immersed in a curing tank free from vibration. At test ages, any grit and surface water was removed from the concrete cubes and the test carried out without delay. The compressive strength decreased gradually due to the use of quartz sandstone aggregates (Figure 3.25).

Ingredients per	Percentages of quartz sandstone/ Dholpur stone (%)										
cu.m	0	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100
Cement, kg	426	426	426	426	426	426	426	426	426	426	426
Water, kg	162	162	162	162	162	162	162	162	162	162	162
FA, kg	645	645	645	645	645	645	645	645	645	645	645
10 mm CA, kg	756.6	510.7	454.2	397.4	340.6	283.9	227.1	170.3	113.5	56.8	
Quartz Sandstone Aggregate 10 mm, kg	-	50.5	100.9	151.4	201.86	252.3	302.8	353.2	403.7	454.2	504.6
Total 10mm, kg	756.6	561.2	555.1	548.8	542.46	536.2	529.9	523.5	517.2	511	504.6
20 mm CA, kg	504.5	624.2	555.1	485.7	416.3	346.9	277.6	208.2	138.8	69.4	
Quartz Sandstone Aggregate 25 mm*, kg	-	75.7	151.4	227.1	302.8	378.4	454.2	529.9	605.6	681.3	757
Total (25mm,20mm)	504.5	699.9	706.5	712.8	719.1	725.3	731.8	738.1	744.4	750.7	757
Admixture, %	1	1	1.05	1.1	1.1	1.15	1.2	1.2	1.2	1.2	1.2
C.F.	0.9	0.9	0.89	0.88	0.88	0.87	0.87	0.88	0.87	0.88	0.86
Density,kg	2445	2405	2370	2365	2355	2345	2340	2335	2330	2295	2270

Table 3.13: Mixture proportions and properties of fresh concrete having different replacements of quartz sandstones for trial mix series II (w/c-0.38)

Replacing 20mm NA by 25mm Dholpur aggregate (in available size)



Fig 3.25: Compressive Strength of cubes for water-cement ratio of 0.38 (Trial).

Concrete beams of 100 mm \times 100 mm \times 500 mm size were cast with various percentages of quartz sandstone aggregates and various water/cement ratios. Flexural strength tests were carried out in accordance to IS 516: 1959 after 7 and 28 days. The test samples were stored in water at a temperature of approximately 27-29°C for 24 hours before testing. The samples were tested whilst they were still in wet condition. Loose and foreign materials were wiped off the bearing surfaces and the axis of the specimen was aligned with that of the loading device. Then load was applied at a rate of 400 kg/minute until the specimen failed to attain the peak load. The test results showed a decrease in flexural strength as the quartz sandstone was added in concrete (Figure 3.26).



Fig 3.26: Flexural Strength of concrete beams for water-cement ratio of 0.38 (Trial)

3.7 Final Composition

Based on the results of trial mixes series (I & II), the exact ratio for mixing conventional coarse aggregates was found to be 55:45 (20mm: 10mm) and for quartz sandstone aggregates was 60:40 (25mm: 10mm) in order to achieve maximum compressive strength. Also the replacement level of Dholpur stone (Quartz sandstone) for conventional coarse aggregate was fixed to be 0% to 100% in the multiples of 20% during the main casting. Since no considerable variation in the decrease in strength plots were observed at every 10% interval, the replacement level was increased to 20%. It was further decided to study the mechanical and durability characteristics of concrete having different replacements of Dholpur stone (Quartz sandstone). In the Trial mix I with the water-cement ratio of 0.38, the workability of concrete was found to be on the lower side (CF: 0.86-0.90). Inorder to increase the workability, the amount of water was increased in the standard series. For a standard mix, M30 concrete grade was designed as with a water-cement ratio of 0.40. Also, to study the variation in different properties of concrete, the mixes with water-cement ratio of 0.35 and 0.45 were used. The mix proportions of final compositions are given in Table 3.13. The mix proportions of final composition of all the three series are similar to that of given in Table 3.14.

Water-	Cement	Water	Coarse	Coarse	Fine	Minimum-
Cement ratio	(kg/m^3)	(kg/m^3)	aggregates	aggregates	aggregates	Maximum
			10 mm	20 mm	(kg/m^3)	Admixture
			(kg/m ³)	(kg/m ³)		(%)
0.35	440	154	559.35	683.65	635.47	0.87-0.90
0.40	405	162	567.45	693.55	645	0.86-0.89
0.45	342.2	153.9	589.60	713.29	662.05	0.86-0.89

Table 3.14: Mixture proportions of Fresh Concrete with w/c 0.35, 0.40 and 0.45.

Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone) was partially substituted for coarse aggregate by weight from 0% to 100% in multiples of 20%. The properties of concrete with Dholpur stone were studied corresponding to three different water-cement ratios of 0.35, 0.40 and 0.45. The dosage of superplasticisers were altered to maintain a constant workability in all the concrete mixes.

On the basis of final mix design compositions, the results and discussions are described in the following chapter.

CHAPTER-4

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

4.1 Introduction

The properties of individual materials and the results of trial mixes are presented in the earlier Chapter. The results obtained for concrete samples in this experimental programme and its discussion are presented in this Chapter. A total of 3 series of concrete were cast with 18 different mixes. A series with M30 grade of concrete with a water-cement ratio of 0.40 has been casted. Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone) was replaced for conventional coarse aggregate from 0% to 100% in multiples of 20%. To study the effect of change in water-cement ratio on different properties, two more series with water-cement ratios of 0.35 and 0.45 were also studied. Therefore, three series of water-cement ratios of 0.35, 0.40 and 0.45 named as Series I, II and III were studied respectively. Tests for workability, resistance to compression and flexure, pull-off strength, bulk density of hardened concrete, resistance to abrasion, water permeability, water absorption, resistance to carbonation, chloride ion penetration, acid attack, sulphate attack, corrosion of specimens were conducted to determine the fresh and hardened properties of concrete and the observations were recorded. SEM, TGA, XRD and XRF studies were also carried out. The recorded results have been tabulated and discussed here.

4.2 Properties of Fresh Concrete

The workability of fresh concrete has been calculated using compaction factor test and is presented in the Table 4.1.

Replacement	0	20	40	60	80	100
percentage of						
Dholpur						
stone/Quartz						
Sandstone						
w/c = 0.35	0.9	0.9	0.89	0.88	0.88	0.87
w/c = 0.40	0.89	0.9	0.88	0.88	0.86	0.86
w/c = 0.45	0.89	0.9	0.88	0.88	0.86	0.86

Table 4.1: Workability of fresh concrete by Compacting Factor Test

By the addition of Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone) the workability of the concrete mixes has been affected and the dosage of superplasticisers has been altered to maintain the compaction factor from 0.85-0.90 in the all the concrete mixes. The dose of superplasticisers (named as Gilenium Sky 777) has been finalised after several trial mixes and it may be upto 1.2% by weight of cement.

4.3 Properties at Hardened State

Tests to evaluate resistance to compression and flexure, pull-off strength, bulk density, abrasion resistance, water penetration, water absorption, carbonation resistance, chloride ion penetration, acid attack, sulphate attack and macro cell corrosion were conducted on the specimens for determining the strength and durability in the hardened stage.

4.3.1 Bulk Density

The bulk densities of hardened concrete mixes has been estimated by measuring the weights (in grams) and dividing by volume (cm^2). The graph showing the variations in the bulk density with respect to the percentage of Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone) is given in Figure 4.1.



Figure 4.1: Bulk Density of specimens for all the three series

From the test results, it was seen that the bulk density of the concrete reduced with the increase in amount of Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone). For the entire series, the maximum density was recorded for the control mixes with concrete made solely from conventional coarse aggregates. The least density was observed for the concrete mixes with 100% Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone). This decrease in densities is because of utilization of quartz sandstones which are having a much less specific gravity when compared to that of conventional coarse aggregates.

4.3.2 Compressive Strength

The compressive strength of the specimens were taken after 7, 28, 90, 180 and 360 days of curing. The variations in the compressive strength with respect to their water-cement ratios and with respect to the percentage of Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone) are given in Figures 4.2-4.4.

The target mean strength (at 28 days) for M30 grade of concrete was 38.25 MPa and the actual crushing strength for control mix was obtained as 46 Mpa, 45.7 MPa and 42.3 MPa for the water-cement ratios of 0.35, 0.40 and 0.45 respectively. It was observed that the decrease in trend pattern was noticed at every percentage of replacement of quartz sandstones. A decrease of 8% in compressive strength with respect to target mean strength was observed upto the 40% replacement level. In the case of 0.35 and 0.40 water-cement ratios, compressive strength more than the

target mean strength was obtained for the 100% replacement level. In the case of series III, the target mean strength was achieved upto a replacement of 40%. The maximum decrease in compressive strength was recorded to be 21% in the case of 100% replacement for the w/c 0.45.

As the quartz sandstone replacement for natural coarse aggregates increased, a substantial decrease in compressive strength was observed. This could be attributed to delay in cement hydration at the initial stages of curing due to the higher replacement level of quartz sandstones and also due to the use of sedimentary rock itself. This was also experienced by researchers (Newman and Choo, 2003; Islam et al., 2016) while utilising oil palm shells.

After 90 days, significant strength gain with respect to curing period has been observed due to the continuous pozzolanic reaction. This strength gain can also be associated with the filling up of pore spaces in the concrete with products of hydration (Thomas et al., 2015). When the water-cement ratio was 0.35, highest resistance to compression (47 MPa) was noted for the control mix and minimum compressive strength (42 MPa) was obtained for the mix having 100% quartz sandstone. The lowest compressive strength (36.2) was recorded for the mix at 0.45 water-cement ratio with 100% quartz sandstone. A compressive strength above target (38 MPa) was obtained in all the replacements at 0.35 and 0.40 water-cement ratios and till 40% replacement at 0.45 water-cement ratio. The reduction in mechanical properties of concrete containing quartz sandstones has also been reported by researchers like Yilmaz and Tugrul (2012); Mackechnie (2006). Fig 4.5 shows the broken samples of concrete specimens after compression testing.



Fig 4.2: Compressive Strength of Specimens with w/c 0.35.



Fig 4.3: Compressive Strength of Specimens with w/c 0.40



Fig 4.4: Compressive Strength of Specimens with w/c 0.45

A significant strength gain was attained at 180 days and 360days of water curing. A maximum strength of 49.5 Mpa was observed for the control concrete at w/c 0.35 and a minimum of 36.5 Mpa was observed for concrete with 100% Dholpur stone at w/c 0.45. The rate of increase in the strength gain reduced as the Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone) substitution increased in the mixes due to the porous nature of the sandstone as compared to that of natural aggregates.



Fig 4.5. Broken samples after compressive strength testing

4.3.3 Flexural Tensile Strength

Figures 4.6-4.8 show the variation in resistance to flexure observed at 7, 28, 90, 180 and 360 days with variation to the replacement percentage of Dholpur stone (Quartz sandstone). The test results showed a decrease in flexural strength as the quartz sandstone was added in concrete. All the samples showed a continuous decrease in trend pattern as the Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone) replacement increased. It was also observed that the decrease in trend was comparable until 40% replacement level in all the water/cement ratios. At 60%, 80% and 100% replacements, the trend pattern showed a major decrease in flexural strength.

A continuous decrease in strength plots was recorded when the percentage of Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone) was increased. At 7days, a maximum flexural tensile strength of 4.47 Mpa was recorded for the control concrete at 0.35 w/c and a minimum of 3.35 Mpa was observed at replacement level at 0.45 w/c.



Fig 4.6: Flexural Tensile Strength of Specimens with w/c 0.35



Fig 4.7: Flexural Tensile Strength of Specimens with w/c 0.40



Fig 4.8: Flexural Tensile Strength of Specimens with w/c 0.45

At 28 days, flexural tensile strength reached its peak at 5.56 Mpa for the control mix at 0.35 w/c and a minimum of 4.78 Mpa was observed at replacement level at 0.45 w/c. At 90 days, a maximum flexural tensile strength of 5.7 Mpa was recorded for the control concrete at 0.35 w/c and a minimum of 4.86 Mpa was observed at replacement level at 0.45 w/c. At 180 days, a maximum resistance to flexure of 6.1 MPa was recorded for the control concrete at 0.35 w/c and a minimum of 4.89 Mpa was observed at replacement level at 0.45 w/c. At 360 days, the control concrete showed a maximum flexural tensile strength of 6.45 MPa at 0.35 w/c and a minimum of 4.88 MPa at 100% replacement level at 0.45 w/c.

The decreasing trend noticed in flexural strength results is due to the use of weaker tensile strength quartz sandstone for conventional aggregate thus resulting in the lower flexural strength of concrete. This was also observed by researchers like Yilmaz and Tugrul (2012); Mackechnie (2006). Figure 4.9 shows the arrangement and failure of test specimen under flexural loading. It was witnessed that the specimens with Dholpur stones exhibited brittle failure with a tad greater than the control specimens. As the replacement increased, the specimens failed by showing more cracks.



Fig 4.9: Arrangement and failure of test specimens under flexural loading

4.3.4 Abrasion Resistance

Deterioration of concrete can take place due to abrasion caused by various exposures such as rubbing, skidding or sliding of the object on the concrete surface. Figure 4.10 shows the variation in the depth of surface wear (abrasion) with respect to percentage of Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone). Resistance to abrasion decreased with the increase in the percentage of quartz sandstone aggregate irrespective of the water-cement ratios. This increase in abrasion depth is due to the higher proportion of sedimentary type coarse aggregate used i.e. Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone). As the replacement level increased, the depth of wear increased revealing the aggregate surfaces (Figure 4.11). The decrease in abrasion resistance may also be related to the decrease in compressive strength of samples containing quartz sandstone aggregates. The maximum abraded depth of 1.89 mm was obtained for w/c 0.45 at 100% replacement level.



Figure 4.10: Abrasion resistance of specimens for all the three series



Figure 4.11: Abraded surface of concrete having quartz sandstone for various replacement levels

	Table 4.2:	Permissible	Depth of	f Wear as	per IS:	1237-1980
--	------------	-------------	----------	-----------	---------	-----------

No	Туре	Depth of wear
1	General Purpose Tiles- tiles used in floorings	
	subjected to light loads such as office buildings,	
	schools, colleges, hospitals and residential buildings.	
	(i) Average wear	3.5 mm
	(ii) Wear on Individual sections	4.0 mm
2	Heavy duty floor tile- tiles used in heavy traffic	
	conditions, such as footpaths, entrances and staircases	
	of public buildings, passages of auditoriums and	
	storage godowns.	
		2.0 mm
	(i) Average wear	2.5 mm
	(ii) Wear on Individual sections	

The permissible values of depth of wear for heavy duty tiles and general purpose tiles as mentioned by IS: 1237-1980 are shown in Table 4.2. As all the observed values were less than 2 mm, quartz sandstone can be used to produce concrete tiles

for heavy duty floors as well. To develop concrete for high abrasion resistance, it is desirable to use a hard surface material, aggregate, and paste with low porosity and high strength. As the quartz sandstones are not as hard as natural aggregate and the additional dosages of them may have resulted from an increase in porosity of the concrete samples. Thence an increase in wear was observed as the dosage of quartz sandstone aggregate increased for all the water-cement ratios.

4.3.5 Pull-Off Strength

The pull off strength test for the entire series of concrete specimens were done after 28 days of curing. The results are shown in Figure 4.12.



Fig.4.12: The pull-off strength of specimens for all the three series

A peak strength of 3.9 MPa was observed for the series I control mix 0.35. A steady reduction in pull-off strength results was recorded as the Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone) percentage of substitution increased. Almost a same trend of strength variation was recorded in the other mix-designs with of 0.40 and 0.45 water-cement ratios. A lowest pull-off strength of 2.29 MPa was recorded for the concrete mix with 100% Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone) replacement at 0.45 water-cement ratio.

It is quite evident that the pull-strength plots followed the trend of compressive strength. This phenomenon was also observed by researchers like Thomas et al., (2015) and Pereira and Medeiros (2012). Both the researchers have noticed a similar trend pattern of compressive and pull-off strength.

4.4 Durability Properties

The results of durability properties of concrete incorporating different replacements of Dholpur aggregates (quartz sandstones) are discussed in this article.

4.4.1 Water Absorption

The results of normal and Sorptivity (i.e. capillary water absorption) are shown below:

4.4.1.1 Normal Water Absorption

The water absorption of oven dried samples (after cooling to room temperature) were observed after 48 hours of submergence in water. The results showing the variation in the values are reported in Figure 4.13.

In series I, absorption of water by control mix was 1.12% while the absorption of specimens with 100% Dholpur stone (quartz sandstones) was 1.72%. The water absorption of concrete samples had an increasing trend as the substitution level increased. For series II, the water absorption of control mix was about 1.15% and for the mix with 100% quartz sandstones it was 1.82%. While for the specimens with water-cement ratio of 0.45, control mix recorded a water absorption value of 1.17% and for 100% substitution level it was 1.86%.



Figure 4.13: Water absorption of specimens with w/c 0.35, 0.40 and 0.45

The quantity of water absorbed by the specimens was greater in all the concrete mixes in comparison to control concrete made solely from conventional coarse aggregates irrespective of water cement ratios. This increase in water absorption in all the mixes may be due to the excessive micro voids as the sandstones were added. With the increase in water-cement ratio, the internal voids might have increased resulting in a gradual increase in the absorption values. The other reason can be inherited from the formation process of sandstone itself (i.e. sedimentation) which results in voids within the material.

4.4.1.2 Water Absorption by Sorptivity

The test results showed an increase in absorption depth as the conventional aggregates were replaced with quartz sandstone aggregates and a maximum of 0.46 mm was observed at 100% replacement level for 0.45 water/cement ratio (Figure 4.14). This increase in absorption may be related to the use of a sedimentary type of stone as a replacement of natural aggregate. Also, the increase in water/cement ratio with an increase in quartz sandstone replacement could have resulted in interconnectivity of small pores making the concrete more permeable.



Figure 4.14: Water absorption (Sorptivity) of concrete containing quartz sandstone

aggregate.

4.4.2 Water Permeability as per DIN 1048

From the test results given in Figure 4.15, depth of water penetration increased with increase in Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone) content irrespective of the water/cement ratio. For all the concrete mixes, the maximum depth of penetration was observed at 100% substitution of Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone). The maximum depth of water penetration observed was about 64 mm for water-cement ratio of 0.45 and a minimum of 9 mm was observed for control mix at 0.35 water-cement ratio.



Figure 4.15a: Water Penetration of specimen for the entire three series



Figure 4.15b: Measurement of Depth of Water Penetration

This increase in penetration depth is due to the higher proportion of quartz sandstone aggregate used which absorbs more water when compared to conventional coarse aggregates. The increase in the intensity of micro cracks at the aggregate-cement paste interface may also have resulted in the increase in permeation as the quartz sandstone replacement was increased.

4.4.3 Carbonation Resistance

Figures 4.16-4.18 shows the results of carbonation resistance of concrete with water-cement ratios 0.35, 0.40 and 0.45. The concrete specimens showing the depth of carbonation is reported in Figure 4.19.

For series I, an improved resistance to carbonation penetration was recorded for concrete mixes with up to a 40% substitution level of sandstone aggregates. Carbonation had occurred till a maximum depth of 34 mm (90 days) was recorded for samples with complete replacement of conventional aggregates for series III whereas maximum resistance to carbonation was measured (a penetration value of 19 mm 90 days) for samples with 40% quartz sandstone replacement for series I. The depth of carbonation at 40% replacement of quartz sandstone was found to be least till 56 days for series I. However, a clear trend was not observed for series II and III. Resistance to carbonation was found to be decreasing marginally at 40% substitution of quartz sandstone as the water-cement ratio was increased. At 90 days, concrete mixes with 20% and 40% substitution by quartz sandstone showed a similar variation in carbonation depth. However, at a greater water-cement ratio (0.45), resistance to carbonation was found to decreasing at 40% substitution. The improved gradation of sandstones could be responsible for the initial decrease of carbonation depth. But the higher replacement of coarse aggregate (above 40%) and increased water-cement ratios (0.40 and 0.45) in the mixes, could have led to the widening of pore sizes in concrete thereby increasing the carbonation depth.



Figure 4.16: The depth of carbonation of specimens with water-cement ratio 0.35



Figure 4.17: The depth of carbonation of specimens with water-cement ratio 0.40



Figure 4.18: The depth of carbonation of specimens with water-cement ratio 0.45

There is quite a lack of literature which compares the carbonation depth of sandstones incorporated into concrete. However, researchers like Miguel and Jorge (2012) have studied carbonation resistance of concrete containing waste rubber tires. He found an increase in carbonation depth as the substitution of rubber was increased in concrete. Thomas (Thomas et al., 2015) found a decreasing depth till 12.5% substitution of crumb rubber following an improved gradation technique.

He found that the closely packed rubber aggregates could have prevented the entry of CO_2 gas into the concrete. A similar trend was also noticed for the concrete containing quartz sandstones. The proper gradation of quartz aggregates as described in the previous studies (Kumar et al., 2016) might have decreased the carbonation depth upto 40% substitution of quartz sandstones at lower water-cement ratio. Also, some of the research works in SCC mixes containing recycled aggregates along with low volume fly ash and high volume fly ash yielded a remarkably good carbonation resistance than normal concrete mixes (Singh & Singh, 2016a, 2016b).



Figure 4.19: Carbonation depth of specimens with Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone)

Some of the mixes did not show any carbonation at 14 days of exposure (control concrete and 20% quartz sandstone concrete at 0.35 w/c). The carbonation coefficient calculated for the series with water-cement ratios 0.35, 0.40 and 0.45 are shown in Figures 4.20-4.22.



Figure 4.20: Carbonation Coefficient for the series with w/c 0.35



Figure 4.21: Carbonation Coefficient for the series with w/c 0.40



Figure 4.22: Carbonation Coefficient for the series with w/c 0.45

In the series with water-cement 0.35, the signs of carbonation started showing by 28 days of testing. The increase in carbonation was gradual and almost equal for all the replacement levels at 14 days at 0.35 and 0.40 water-cement ratio. However at the same water-cement ratio, the carbonation coefficient showed an increasing trend as the days of exposure increased. The substitution levels of 20% and 40% at 0.35 w/c showed a similar trend of increasing pattern. Similarly, the substitution levels of 40% and 60% at 0.40 w/c showed an identical increase expect the 90 days exposure. However, a clear increasing trend of carbonation coefficient was noted down at 0.45 water-cement ratio.

Results indicated that the concrete mixes with lower w/c ratios offered better resistance to carbonation. The rate of increase in carbonation was marginal till 40% substitution level at lower water-cement ratios. However, at higher replacement levels (above 40%) the carbonation depth increased. The resistance to carbonation decreased as the percentage of Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone) increased.

4.4.4 Chloride Ion Penetration

The graphs showing the change in the depth of penetration of chloride ions with respect to the change in percentage of Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone) are given in Figures 4.23-4.25.



Figure 4.23: Chloride Ion Penetration of concrete mixes with w/c 0.35



Figure 4.24: Chloride Ion Penetration of concrete mixes with w/c 0.40


Figure 4.25: Chloride Ion Penetration of concrete mixes with w/c 0.45



Figure 4.26: Spraying of 0.1N Silver Nitrate Solution on freshly split concrete specimens



Figure 4.27: Freshly Split Concrete Specimens showing depth of Chloride Penetration after 28 days (Arrows indicate the depth of chloride penetration)

The chloride ion content in concrete produces an acceleration in cement setting and early hardening of concrete. However long term studies have shown contradictory results and negative influences on the durability properties in concrete (Etxeberria et al., 2016).

While considering the concrete mix with water-cement ratio of 0.35, the depth of penetration of chloride ions increased as the dosage of Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone) increased. The chloride penetration of the control concrete tested at various days of exposure were similar to that concrete with 20% quartz sandstone. A gradual increase in chloride penetration was noticed in the specimens beyond 20% replacement. At 90 days, the penetration depth was 20 mm for control concrete and 27 mm for concrete mix with 100% quartz sandstone. For series II, a similar gradual increase of penetration was observed as the quartz sandstone dosage increased. At 90 days, the control concrete recorded a penetration of 22 mm and the concrete with 100% quartz sandstone showed 30 mm penetration. The concrete specimens with 0.45 water-cement ratio showed a similar increasing trend of penetration depth. However at 90 days, the control concrete and 20% quartz sandstone concrete showed a depth of penetration of 24 mm. A maximum depth of penetration of 32 mm was recorded for the concrete with 100% guartz sandstone at 0.45 w/c. The gradual increase in chloride penetration can be related to reduced packing capacity of concrete as the quartz sandstone replacement increased. However at lower water cement ratios (0.35 and 0.45), control concrete and concrete with 20% substitution showed a similar penetration depth.

4.4.5 Acid Attack

For testing the concrete mixes resistance to acid attack, the specimens were immersed in dilute sulphuric acid for a period of 90 days and the following tests were carried out.

4.4.5.1 Reduction in Compressive Strength of Acid Attacked Specimens

The compressive strength of specimens subjected to attack by acid were recorded at 28, 56 and 90 days of immersion and the results were related with the compressive strength of non-acid attacked specimen at 28 days of curing. The amount of loss was calculated and expressed in percentage in the graphs given in Figures 4.28-4.30.



Figure 4.28: Reduction in compressive strength of acid attacked specimens with w/c 0.35



Figure 4.29: Reduction in compressive strength of acid attacked specimens with



w/c 0.40

Figure 4.30: Reduction in compressive strength of acid attacked specimens with $w/c \ 0.45$

There was considerable reduction in resistance to compression in all the concrete samples irrespective of the quartz sandstone replacement and water-cement ratios. On comparing the reduction in control concrete's compressive strength; there were observed a reduction in loss till 40% quartz sandstone addition in all the concrete

mixes with water cement ratios of 0.35, 0.40 and 0.45. However for mixes at 0.35 and 0.40, this loss in compressive strength of concrete samples was less than control concrete samples up to 80% substitution of quartz sandstone aggregates. At 0.45 water-cement ratio, the maximum loss in compressive strength of acid attacked specimen was observed at 76.68% at 100% replacement of quartz sandstone. Minimum loss of 44.1% with 0.35 water-cement ratio was recorded at 40% substitution of quartz sandstone aggregates.

The loss in compressive strength pattern upon sulphuric acid was found to be similar to that of mass loss model. Sandstone aggregates being siliceous in nature, resistance against acid attack is expected to better since quartz being damaged at a lower rate. The reason for an increase in compressive strength loss can be due to increased porosity at higher replacement levels ($\geq 60\%$) of quartz sandstone. The other reason can be inherited due to alumina content (as observed by XRF) if not practically inert like corundum or mullite, can promote ettringite formation if all other required components (Ca, SO₄ and H₂O) are present.



Figure 4.31: Image of acid attacked specimens after 28 days of acid immersion



Figure 4.32: Acid attacked specimen at 90 days. Control concrete (left) and 100% (right) quartz sandstone.

The figures 4.31 and 4.32 shows the images of specimens subjected to acid attack at 28, 56 and 90 days of acid attack exposure. It was noticed that the particles in the concrete samples after 40% replacement were breaking away by material separation as the duration of exposure increased. This breaking away might be the primary cause for the reduced loss in compressive strength upto 40% replacement of Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone).

4.4.5.2 Variation in Weight of Acid Attacked Specimens

The weight of acid attacked specimens were calculated at 28, 56 and 90 days of immersion and the results were compared with that of non-acid attacked after 28 days of water curing. The amount of loss in weight of concrete samples were calculated and expressed in percentages in the graphs shown in Figures 4.33-4.35.

In all the design mixes, more weight loss was recorded in the control combinations and it was found that the weight loss decreased in concrete containing quartz sandstone aggregates up to 40% replacement. Maximum weight loss of 8.42 % was recorded at 100% replacement for series I. Measured weight loss in control concrete was similar to that of concrete with 80% quartz sandstone coarse aggregates. Minimum loss of 2.87% was recorded at 40% replacement for the water-cement ratio of 0.35.



Figure 4.33: Weight loss (%) of Acid attacked specimens, water-cement ratio

0.35



Figure 4.34: Weight loss (%) of Acid attacked specimens, water-cement ratio 0.40



Figure 4.35: Weight loss of Acid attacked specimens, water-cement ratio 0.45

The resistance of sandstone concrete against concrete sulphuric acid attack may be due to highly siliceous nature of sandstones as quartz is being damaged by acid at a much slower rate than hydrated cement stone. However, this decrease in mass loss was observed only till 40% replacement level due to increasing in micro voids and porosity of concrete samples at higher replacement levels of quartz sandstone.

4.4.5.3 Water Absorption of Acid Attacked Specimens

Figures 4.36-4.38 shows the variation in the amount of water absorbed by acid attacked specimens (expressed in percentage) with respect to amount of Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone) added.



Figure 4.36: Water absorption of Acid attacked specimens, water-cement ratio 0.35



Figure 4.37: Water absorption of Acid attacked specimens, water-cement ratio 0.40



Figure 4.38: Water absorption of Acid attacked specimens, water-cement ratio 0.45

For the concrete mixes with water cement ratio of 0.35; gradual increase in the amount of water absorbed was noticed at 28 days of acid attack when quartz sandstone coarse aggregates were replaced. A similar trend was noted at 56 days and 90 days. At 90 days, the water absorption of control concrete was 2.76%, for the mix with 60% quartz sandstone it was 2.89% and for 100% quartz sandstone mix it was 3.26%. A similar pattern of increasing water absorption values was observed in mixes of 0.40 and 0.45 water-cement ratios.

The amount of water absorbed by all concrete mix specimens increased in comparison to control concrete made solely from conventional coarse aggregates irrespective of water cement ratios and age. This increase in water absorption in all the mixes may be due to the excessive micro voids as the sandstones were added. With increase in water-cement ratio, the internal voids might have increased resulting in a gradual increase in the absorption values. The other reason can be inherited from the formation process of sandstone itself (i.e. sedimentation) which results in voids within the material.

Visual examination of affected samples (Figure 4.32) showed that the top face was completely removed exposing the aggregates of control concrete. However, this removal of the top layer was less in concrete having 100% quartz sandstone. Discolouration of samples was also noticed on the specimens with quartz

sandstones which were due to the colour of sandstones itself. On continuous exposure of samples against sulphuric acid, the top layer of concrete specimens was severely eroded revealing the sedimentary stones which increased the water absorption.

4.4.5.4 X-ray diffraction observation of acid attacked specimen

Development of compact, lightweight, rugged, portable, and economically viable equipment for implementation of some analytical chemistry methods such as XRD has facilitated their growing semi destructive or non-destructive field applications (Peyvandi et al., 2015). Inorder to establish the formation of ettringite by XRD, 3-4 grams of powdered representative samples were taken from acid attacked specimens. The selection of specimens was based on shortest and longest exposed to magnesium sulphate solution. A pair of control concrete (0% quartz sandstone) and 100% quartz sandstone concrete at 28 days and 90 days were taken for the study. To attain a clear understanding a pair from halfway (i.e. 60% quartz sandstone concrete) were also included. A28 and A90 denote control concrete at 28 and 90 days exposure to sulphuric acid attack. Similarly, D28 and D90 denotes concrete with 60% quartz sandstone at 28 days and 90 days exposure. F28 and F90 denote concrete with 100% quartz sandstone at 28 days and 90 days exposure to sulphuric acid.



Figure 4.39: X-ray diffractogram of concrete after sulphuric acid exposure. (A28: Control concrete at 28 days exposure)



Figure 4.40: X-ray diffractogram of concrete after sulphuric acid exposure. (A90: Control concrete at 90 days exposure)



Figure 4.41: X-ray diffractogram of concrete after sulphuric acid exposure. (D28: Concrete with 60% Dholpur/quartz sandstone at 28 days exposure)



Figure 4.42: X-ray diffractogram of concrete after sulphuric acid exposure. (D90: Concrete with 60% Dholpur/quartz sandstone at 90 days exposure)



Figure 4.43: X-ray diffractogram of concrete after sulphuric acid exposure. (F28: Concrete with 100% Dholpur/quartz sandstone at 28 days exposure)



Figure 4.44: X-ray diffractogram of concrete after sulphuric acid exposure. (F90: Concrete with 100% Dholpur/quartz sandstone at 90 days exposure)

X-ray diffractogram revealed the presence of ettringite and also nesquehonite (MgCO₃.3H₂O) which can be related to the magnesium sulphate exposure. Irrespective of in what compounds calcium is present, it is alkaline in nature, so the more of it being present better the resistant to acids. With sulphuric acid calcium reacts to form gypsum (Figures 4.39-4.44) and by salvaging itself it stops further damage by acids referring to the pH buffering capacity of concrete. Another aspect of concrete exposed to sulphuric acid being a physical one i.e. gypsum is not as high as those phases calcium used to be before the reaction. Also, reaction product such as ettringite may be more voluminous than the overall volume of the

components it formed from; hence expansion and appearance of cracks can be seen, which reduces strength and make concrete less resistant to attack (e.g. acid can migrate deeper in cracks). This expansion, micro cracks and the increased porosity of the concrete at higher replacement level of quartz sandstone might have increased the loss in compressive strength of concrete against sulphuric acid attack.

4.4.6 Sulphate Attack

After 28 days of water curing specimens were oven dried weight after which they were subjected to continuous soaking for 3 to 6 months in a solution containing 3% MgSO₄. Three different tests comprising the weight loss, compressive strength variation and water absorption was carried out.

4.4.6.1 Variation in Compressive Strength of Sulphate Attacked Specimens

The graphs showing the percentage drop in compressive strength of sulphate attacked specimens are shown in Figures 4.45-4.46.



Figure 4.45: The difference in compressive strength (%) at 90 days of specimens subjected to sulphate attack.



Figure 4.46: The difference in compressive strength (%) at 180 days of specimens subjected to sulphate attack.



Figure 4.47: Concrete Specimens after 28 days curing.



Figure 4.48: Control Concrete Specimens and Dholpur/quartz sandstone concrete samples after 180 days Sulphate Attack Test



Figure 4.49: Sulphate attacked specimens after compressive strength testing at 90 and 180 days

Observation of test results showed that the compressive strength loss increased as the quantity of quartz sandstone increased. Minimum loss of 2.25% was observed for the control mix at 90 days for 0.35 water-cement ratio, and maximum loss of 8.55 % was seen at 100% substitution of quartz sandstone aggregates. A similar pattern of compressive strength loss was observed after 180 days of sulphate attack. The specimen images after the compressive strength testing of sulphate attacked specimens are shown in Figures 4.47- 4.49. From the visual inspection of broken samples, it is evident that the bond between aggregates and cement paste is affected by the continuous immersion in MgSO₄ solution. This led to the increase in loss of compressive strength and cracks at the interfaces of aggregate cement paste when the quartz sandstone was increased. Depending on the cementation materials of sandstones, the sandstone can have a higher or lower workability. The binding agent can be either quartz, calcium carbonate or clay.

Quartz sandstones tend to have higher durability than that of sandstone having calcite and the sandstones with clay has the least durability (Sankaran and Sobhi 2014; Yongan et al., 2012; Siegesmund and Török 2014). It was well observed by many researchers that sandstones containing calcarenite degrade at a faster rate. The degradation of calcarenite increases as the solubility of it increases. The solubility is less in pure water and it increases as the CO_2 percentage increases in pure water. Due to this phenomenon, building materials having sandstones can crumble and degrade causing increase in porosity (Samaouali et al., 2008; Schaffer

1932; Duane 2016). However, the sandstone with quartz studied here showed a considerable performance to sulphate attack upto 40% substitution at lower water-cement ratios (0.35 and 0.40).

4.4.6.2 Variation in Weight of Sulphate Attacked Specimens

The results for the change in weight of specimens subjected to a sulphate environment after 28, 90 and 180 days for all the three series are shown in Figures 4.50-4.52.



Figure 4.50: Variation in weight of specimens subjected to sulphate attack with water-cement ratio 0.35.



Figure 4.51: Variation in weight of specimens subjected to sulphate attack with water-cement ratio 0.40.



Figure 4.52: Variation in weight of specimens subjected to sulphate attack with water-cement ratio 0.45.

The results showed a consistent increase in weight upto 90 days of sulphate attack. The weight variation of sulphate attacked specimens at 180 days were also studied. For all the water-cement ratios, a continuous gain in weight of the specimens was noticed upto a period 90 days. The specimens with 80% and 100% quartz sandstone showed a decrease in weight after 180 days of sulphate attack. For series III, concrete with 60% quartz sandstone also showed a decrease in weight. This was due to the chipping out of concrete/ suspended in solution due to the continuous exposure of sandstone aggregate at higher replacement levels. The test results show that concrete with greater amount of quartz sandstone would be more affected by attack of sulphate compounds.

4.4.6.3 Water Absorption of Sulphate Attacked Specimens

Water absorption test for the sulphate attacked specimens were performed at 90 and 180 days of immersion. The results are given in Figures 4.53-4.55.



Figure 4.53: Water absorption in weight of specimens subjected to sulphate attack with water-cement ratio 0.35.



Figure 4.54: Water absorption in weight of specimens subjected to sulphate attack with water-cement ratio 0.40.



Figure 4.55: Water absorption in weight of specimens subjected to sulphate attack with water-cement ratio 0.45.

From the results, the water absorbed by sulphate attacked specimens showed an increasing trend which was similar to that water absorption of control specimens made with conventional aggregates. A minimum water absorption (1.12%) was noticed for the control mix at 28 days of exposure at 0.35 water- cement ratio and

a maximum water absorption (1.86%) was observed at 100% substitution of quartz sandstone at 0.45 water-cement ratio. At 90 d, a minimum water absorption (1.2%) was observed for control mix at 0.35 water-cement ratio and a maximum (1.94%) water absorption was observed at 100% quartz sandstone concrete at 0.45 water-cement ratio.

When comparing to control mix, the amount of water absorbed by sulphate attacked specimens increased at 180 days. It can be observed in all the mixes, the amount of water absorbed by specimens increased with respect to time. At the end of 180 days, more disruption of concrete was observed which led to the overall increase in water absorption.

4.4.7 Comparison of Acid and Sulphate Attack.

Acid attack and Sulphate attack are two different exposure conditions. The former damages the entire mortar or concrete body, whereas magnesium sulphate shall affect the cementitious phases only, not aggregates. Different performance of samples with different aggregates when exposed to MgSO₄ may still be noticed, but that is not a direct effect, but the choice of aggregate may affect the physical properties of the sample (e.g. permeability, strength [via absorbing or not absorbing mix water at certain extent]). The simplest comparison between the performance of the aggregates within otherwise identical condition (mix composition, cement content, w/c ratio, curing history etc.) is that we show the mass change (loss) after certain time periods. If loosing less mass preferably after a long period, it can be claimed more durable/resistant.

Acid attacks cement stone and aggregate alike, with the weight losses showing the difference in damage accounted for the type of aggregate (presumably the cement type, cement content and w/c were the same in both sets of experiments). Sandstones without much quartz is relatively easy to attack with H_2SO_4 , its CaCO₃ is turned into CaSO₄ and water, with simultaneous release of CO₂ gas. If part of the aggregate is quartz, which does not react with sulfuric acid, the damage is obviously smaller as observed in the results here. In the magnesium sulphate attack, it dominantly affects cement paste, so the sort of aggregate used is of secondary importance, perhaps only through influencing the transport properties of the matrix and affecting the access of magnesium sulphate to the core of the specimen.

4.4.8 Corrosion of Steel Reinforcements

The macro cell corrosion for various concrete mixes were calculated at initial day (0 day), 28 days, 56 days, 90 days and 180 days for the series with water-cement ratios of 0.35, 0.40 and 0.45. The results are shown in Figures 4.56-4.58.

According to ASTM G 109-99a, a minimum value of 10 μ A has been considered to guarantee the presence of sufficient corrosion. A positive macrocell current indicates that corrosion is in progress and vice versa.



Figure 4.56: Macrocell Current of Specimens with water-cement ratio 0.35



Figure 4.57: Macrocell Current of Specimens with water-cement ratio 0.40



Figure 4.58: Macrocell Current of Specimens with water-cement ratio 0.45

In series I, initially the readings of the control mix were -0.219 μ A and the readings at 180 days were -0.164 μ A. For the mix with 40% quartz sandstone, the readings were -0.160 μ A and -0.122 μ A respectively and in the mix with 100% quartz sandstone it were -0.159 μ A and -0.116 μ A respectively. All the readings were

found to increase gradually from 0 day to 180 days. From the above observations, it can be said that the control mix in all the water-cement ratios showed better resistance to corrosion. At 0.35 water-cement ratio, the substitutions 40%, 60% and 80% showed almost a similar trend with very little deviation. At 0.40 water-cement ratio, the control mix showed a macro cell current of $-0.224 \,\mu\text{A}$ at 0 day and $-0.172 \,\mu\text{A}$ at 180 days. At 100% replacement it was $-0.142 \,\mu\text{A}$ and $-0.104 \,\mu\text{A}$ respectively. At 0.45 water-cement ratio, it was $-0.187 \,\mu\text{A}$ at 0 day and $-0.146 \,\mu\text{A}$ at 180 days for the control mix and $-0.155 \,\mu\text{A}$ at 0 day and $-0.109 \,\mu\text{A}$ at 180 days for 100% substitution.

From the observations, it was clear that the readings were showing a trend of changing to positive from negative for all the mixes. Since all the observed readings were less than 10 μ A, we could conclude that there is absence of corrosion in the specimens after 180 days of ponding. The same conclusion can be drawn for total corrosion calculated as per ASTM G 109-99a. For all the concrete mixes, the total corrosion was less than 150 C which is the threshold value as per the standard. So we can conclude that there is absence of sufficient corrosion for any of the specimens at 180 days.

4.4.9 Microstructure by SEM

A preliminary study was done using scanning electron microscope to know the compatibility of Dholpur/quartz sandstone for the partial replacement of natural aggregates. The accelerated electrons having large amount of kinetic energy is made to dissipate into variety of signals by electron-sample interactions. Secondary electron produces SEM images that are used to study the crystal structure and mineral orientations. These electrons are important as it shows morphology and topography of samples. Non-destructive tests like SEM serves as an important study for analysing the use of sandstones in concrete since there is no volume loss in material and the same sample can be used repetitively. S-4700 Field Emission Scanning Electron Microscope (FE-SEM) was used to image the samples.

It was evident from the images that the sandstone particles have a dense structure and presumably low porosity / low water absorption on comparison to other regular sandstones, which is beneficial from technical point of view (i.e. the water demand would be low). On the other hand, there are fairly sharp cleavages and the smaller particles show some elongation, which adversely affect the rheology / flow characteristics of fresh concrete and can be mitigated by increasing the w/c ratio or applying super plasticizers. The two effects (low water absorption and angular shape) compensate each other, so all in all, based on its morphology, this material appears to be suitable for concreting. The SEM images of natural aggregate and quartz sandstone in shown in Figure 4.59.



Figure 4.59: SEM images of natural and quartz sandstone aggregates, \times 500 magnification

The microscopic study was further studied after using Dholpur stone/quartz sandstone as a substitute for coarse aggregate in concrete. From the microstructure study, it can be said that sandstones are poorly sorted i.e. grains of various sizes

occur together and the framework is dominated by quartz, whose particles are generally rounded to sub-rounded. The interstitial matrix of sandstone consists of all silt-sized quartz, mica and probably also sub-microscopic clay minerals at grain surfaces. In general, it can be said that sandstone is held together by phyllosilicate minerals (clay and fragments of rock) due to local compaction and rarely by chemical cementation. By sedimentology, sandstones can be categorised into mature, sub-mature, super mature and immature (Table 4.3).

Table 4.3: The textural maturity of sandstone based on clay content, minerals present and type of grains (Folk 1951)

Maturity	Clay	Minerals present	Grain type		
	content				
Immature	Greater than	A Large proportion of	Angular and diverse		
	5% clays or	unstable minerals such as	grain sizes.		
	silt.	feldspar and lithic			
		fragments.			
Submature	Less than	Some unstable minerals	Moderately sorted grains		
	5% clays or	and lithic fragments.	(Mostly angular and a		
	silt.		few rounded grains).		
Mature	Less than	Stable minerals like lithics	Clasts are sub angular to sub-round.		
	5% clay or	and chert.			
	silt				
Supermature	Less than	Exclusively stable	Well sorted grains.		
	5% clays or	minerals.	Clasts are sub-rounded		
	silt		to round.		

From the preliminary study on quartz sandstone waste, clay content in the aggregate was below 5% having some unstable and lithic fragments such as feldspar and the grains were moderately sorted (mostly angular and few rounded grains). From the SEM, X-ray diffraction and methylene blue observations (as shown in section 3.2.4), it was found that the Dholpur stone/quartz sandstone belong to submature category. From the SEM tests on 28 days cured sample, there appears slightly greater porosity and also finer grain texture when moving from the control sample towards higher replacement levels with sandstone. Control concrete

was made with magmatic rock aggregate as opposed to the sedimentary sandstone which absorbs more water, leaving gaps at interfaces between sandstone and cement paste which reduces compressive strength as the quartz sandstone content is increased (Figures 4.60). The other reason for higher porosity is inherited from the formation process of sandstone (i.e. sedimentation), resulting in voids within the material.



Figure 4.60: SEM images of concrete samples containing quartz sandstone, (x 1000 magnification)

4.4.10 X-ray fluorescence (XRF) observation

The concrete samples having various percentages of quartz sandstone substitution was analysed (Table 4.4). Concrete samples having 20% and 60% quartz sandstone coarse aggregates had almost similar amounts of quartz. Quartz is strong and non-porous as granite which is good for acid resistant properties. The presence of CaO was more in control concrete having only conventional coarse aggregates and similar compositions were found in concrete samples having 40%, 80% quartz sandstone substitutions. Since XRF detects only the elements, not compounds, calcium in concrete is most likely to be present in C-S-H gel, CaOH, C₃S, C₂S, unhydrated clinker minerals and even in ettringite. Calcium being alkaline in nature and irrespective of the compound it is present, so the more of it being present more the resistant to acid attack.

Alumina (Al₂O₃) content was found to be more in concrete having quartz sandstone replacements. This is due to the presence of them in quartz sandstone itself. All the other minerals like iron oxide, potassium oxide, sodium oxide, magnesium oxide and sulphur trioxide were found to be in very less quantity.

	Concrete coarse aggregate replacement percentages							
Elemental	0 %	20 %	40 %	60 %	80 %	100 %		
composition	quartz	quartz	quartz	quartz	quartz	quartz		
(%)	sandstone	sandstone	sandstone	sandstone	sandstone	sandstone		
SiO ₂	60.21	63.70	60.54	63.51	61.62	62.71		
CaO	15.31	10.94	14.87	11.24	14.59	13.91		
Al ₂ O ₃	6.95	8.41	7.37	7.69	6.98	7.47		
Fe ₂ O ₃	1.58	1.64	1.69	1.19	1.32	1.16		
K ₂ O	1.46	2.01	2.71	2.97	2.92	3.54		
Na ₂ O	0.83	1.35	0.74	0.61	0.38	0.42		
SO ₃	0.73	0.51	0.66	0.53	0.69	0.59		
MgO	0.58	0.65	1.00	0.57	0.74	0.68		
TiO ₂	0.28	0.34	0.25	0.25	0.27	0.24		
P ₂ O ₅	0.090	0.093	0.073	0.065	0.056	0.050		
Sr	0.058	0.043	0.056	0.043	0.062	0.061		
Cl	0.033	0.023	0.027	0.017	0.026	0.019		
MnO	0.031	0.018	0.031	0.018	0.025	0.023		
Ba	0.023	0.013	0.088	0.029	0.043	0.049		
Zr	0.019	0.021	0.000	0.023	0.024	0.021		
Cr	0.012	0.009	0.012	0.014	0.012	0.012		
Sum	88.20	89.76	90.11	88.75	89.75	90.95		

Table 4.4: X-ray fluorescence results showing the elemental composition of concrete with various replacements of quartz sandstone aggregates.

4.4.11 Thermogravimetric Analysis

Simultaneous Thermal Analyser (STA 6000) with Pyris Instrument Viewer software was used for analysing the samples. The sample was checked to be compatible with ceramic crucible at temperature, atmosphere and time and the nitrogen gas was connected to the analyser in the balance port with sample purge gas flow rate at 30 ml/min. The temperature was applied at the rate of 20°C and Pyris manager was used to get the math and smoothen the curves obtained after the run was complete with furnace returning to room temperature. Some of the

researchers have witnessed loss of bound water at 50°C to 600°C and correlated with hydration rate changes taking place in the concrete samples containing other stone wastes in concrete (Singh et al., 2016; Rana et al., 2015).

Mass loss of hydration products assigned to specific temperature ranges by several researchers are as follows: 30–105°C due to evaporation of free (capillary) water; 110-170°C due to decomposition of ettringite; 180-300°C due to partial dehydroxylation of C-S-H (possibly indicating partial transformation of C-S-H gel to xonotlite); 400–500°C dihydroxylation of portlandite (Ca(OH)₂); 700–900°C due calcination of CaCO₃ and dehydroxylation of xonotlite (Cheyrezy et al., 1995; Ruiza et al., 2005; Helmi et al., 2016). A similar weight loss pattern was obtained for the concrete samples containing quartz sandstone (Figure 4.61). The pattern showed a decrease in loss of weight as quartz sandstone was added in concrete as a replacement for coarse aggregates. However, at 40% and 60% replacements, the pattern was almost the same with very little deviation and it is evident from the pattern that there is loss of moisture content upon heating with major events occurring at 150°C, 450°C and 750 °C (Figure 4.62). Ettringite starts to lose water and transform to monosulphate at as low as 67°C, the event at 150°C may be the decomposition of monosulphate. The 450°C event shall then be linked to portlandite, whereas the 750°C event to CaCO₃ (present as carbonated portlandite or as part of the constituent materials (e.g. aggregate)). As the quartz sandstone dosage increases there is less portlandite available in the mixes due to more moisture absorption. For calcite the reason may be due to a low amount of it being present in the sandstone aggregate / in concrete containing different percentages of sandstone aggregate when compared to conventional coarse aggregates.

The plots were further studied in detail to analyse the decomposition of portlandite and calcite as the quartz sandstone dosage was increased in cement concrete (Figure 4.63).



Figure 4.61: Weight % vs Temperature for various substitutions of quartz sandstone



Figure 4.62: DTG curves showing major events upon temperature change



Figure 4.63: Vertical drop plot showing portlandite and calcite decomposition upon

quartz sandstone replacement

4.4.12 Action of Fire

It is important to understand the fire endurance of a construction material inorder to ensure safety for life and property (Sarker et al., 2014). Concrete members generally exhibit good fire resistant properties due to its low thermal conductivity, high thermal capacity and slow degradation of mechanical properties of concrete with temperature (Kodur and Agrawal, 2016). The author couldn't find any standard procedure for high temperature testing in concrete. Most of the researchers have employed testing concrete at higher temperatures and finding its residual strength after its exposure (Cree et al., 2013). The concrete containing 0%, 20%, 60% and 100% of quartz sandstones were tested against fire with an increasing temperature up to 800° C. The loss in compressive strength of specimens at 200° C, 400° C, 600° C and 800° C were observed (Figures 4.64-4.67). A maximum loss in compressive strength (80%) was observed at 800° C for the control mix at 0.45 water-cement ratio and a minimum loss (66%) was observed for the mix with 100% quartz sandstone concrete at 0.35 water-cement-ratio at the same temperature. At 600° C, greatest loss in compressive strength was observed for the control mix (56%) at 0.45 water-cement ratio and minimum loss was observed for mix with 100% quartz sandstone concrete at 0.35 water-cement ratio. Similar results were also observed at 400° C and 200° C testing temperatures. A maximum loss of 40% and 28% was observed for the control mixes at 400° C and 200° C. The minimum loss in compressive strength was about 23% and 18% for the mixes with 100% quartz sandstone at 400° C and 200° C. The residual compressive strength of concrete with lower w/b ratio are higher than the concrete with higher w/b (Qianmin Ma et al., 2015). The residual compressive strength observed was similar to that of Mohamedbhai (Mohamedbhai, 1986) results in which he studied the effects of exposure time and rates of heating and cooling on residual strength of heated concrete. Also, the sandstones exhibit very different thermal properties basis on their mineral composition and granularity. Hence it becomes really important to know the specific properties of sandstone and also its origin. From the observed results of thermal tests, it can be said that the concrete mix with increased percentages of quartz sandstone performed better than that of mix with control concrete made with conventional coarse aggregates.



Figure 4.64: Maximum compressive strength loss of the specimens for water-cement

ratio of 0.35.



Figure 4.65: Maximum compressive strength loss of the specimens for water-cement

ratio of 0.40.



Figure 4.66: Maximum compressive strength loss of the specimens for water-cement

ratio of 0.45.



Figure 4.67: Concrete image after exposure to fire at 800°C.

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE WORK

5.1 Introduction

This experimental study was based on the effective utilisation of Dholpur stone/ quartz sandstone wastes as a substitute for natural coarse aggregates in cement concrete. In this research work, three series of concrete mixes were casted. M30 concrete grade was prepared with a water-cement ratios of 0.35, 0.40 and 0.45 respectively. Dholpur stone/quartz sandstone was substituted for coarse aggregates from 0% to 100% in multiples of 20%.

Mix Design with 0.35 water-cement ratio was considered as Series I and watercement ratio of 0.40 as Series II and 0.45 water-cement ratio as Series III. In order to obtain consistent workability for concrete having both the aggregates (natural and Dholpur/quartz sandstone), super plasticiser was used for maintaining the compaction factor between 0.85-0.90. The properties of concrete such as compressive strength, flexural tensile strength, abrasion resistance, pull-off strength, water permeability, water absorption, resistance against acid attack and sulphate attack, carbonation, depth of chloride penetration, corrosion of steel reinforcements, thermogravimetric analysis and action of fire on compressive strength were tested. SEM test was also performed to study the microstructural properties.

5.2 On the basis of the results and discussions from this study, the following conclusions/findings can be drawn

Experiments were conducted to study potential use of quartz sandstone as partial replacement of coarse aggregates in concrete. The following important conclusions/findings may be drawn from this study are as follows.

5.2.1 The density of the concrete containing quartz sandstone was found to be decreasing as the replacement level increased. This is due to increasing use of lower specific gravity of quartz sandstone compared to conventional coarse aggregates.
5.2.2 From the results of compressive strength test for water-cement ratios of 0.35, 0.40 and 0.45, the compressive strength shows a decreasing trend as the quartz sandstone aggregate percentage was increased. At 28 days, for M30 grade of concrete, the target strength of 38.25 N/mm^2 , was achieved for all replacements levels of quartz sandstone for water-cement ratios at 0.35 and 0.40 and till 40% substitution at w/c 0.45. A similar decreasing trend was noticed in flexural strength results. As the time passes i.e. at 90 days & 365 days, the compressive and flexural strength increases, this is similar to the traditional concrete.

5.2.3 Combined gradation of different sized aggregates and its compressive strength test results served as a good tool for finding out the ratios in which aggregates can be mixed together. This study was done for both parent and substitute aggregate individually before using the substitute aggregate as a partial replacement of parent aggregate. The exact ratio for mixing conventional coarse aggregates was found to be 55:45 (20mm: 10mm) and for quartz sandstone aggregates was 60:40 (25mm: 10mm) in order to achieve maximum compressive strength.

5.2.4 Resistance to abrasion decreased with the increase in the percentage of Dholpur aggregate (quartz sandstone aggregate) irrespective of the water-cement ratios. A maximum abraded depth of 1.89 mm was obtained for concrete with 100% quartz sandstone replacement at 0.45 water-cement ratio, which is within the permissible limit.

5.2.5 The sorptivity and permeation increased as the quartz sandstone aggregate replacement increased for all the water-cement ratios and a maximum sorptivity of 0.46 mm was observed for 100% replacement level.

5.2.6 A peak pull off strength of 3.9 N/mm² was observed for the control mix with a water-cement ratio of 0.35. A gradual reduction in pull-off strength results was recorded as the quartz sandstone percentage of substitution increased. Almost a same trend of strength variation was recorded in the other mix-designs with of 0.40 and 0.45 water-cement ratios. It was noted that the pull-off strength plots followed the similar trend as the variation in compressive strength.

5.2.7 The water absorption percentage was 1.12% for control mix at 0.35 watercement ratio and a gradual increase in water absorption was observed as quartz sandstone substitution increased. The maximum water absorption (1.86%) was observed at 100% quartz sandstone substitution at 0.45 water-cement ratio.

5.2.8 The observations indicated that the concrete mixes with lower w/c ratios offered better resistance to carbonation. The rate of increase in carbonation was marginal till 40% substitution level at lower water-cement ratios. However, at higher replacement levels (above 40%) the carbonation depth increased.

5.2.9 The depth of Chloride Ion penetration increased as the Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone) replacement was increased. At 90 days of exposure to NaCl, the control concrete and 20% quartz sandstone concrete experienced a similar depth of penetration. A maximum depth of penetration of 32 mm was recorded for the concrete with 100% quartz sandstone at 0.45 w/c. The gradual increase in chloride penetration can be related to reduced packing capacity of concrete as the quartz sandstone replacement increased.

5.2.10 A considerable loss of compressive strength was observed in all the concrete samples irrespective of the quartz sandstone replacement and water-cement ratios for the acid attack test i.e. the effect of H₂SO₄. At 0.45 water-cement ratio, the maximum loss in compressive strength of acid attacked specimen was observed at 76.7% at 100% replacement of quartz sandstone. Minimum loss of 44.1% with 0.35 water-cement ratio was recorded at 40% substitution of quartz sandstone aggregates. Siliceous nature of quartz sandstones was found to be beneficial towards its resistance to sulphuric acid attack. Accurately graded concrete with quartz sandstone aggregates up to 40% substitution would be beneficial in areas of severe sulphuric acid exposure provided it has lesser clay content and up to 60% of conventional coarse aggregates can be replaced at areas with a minor sulphuric acid exposure.

5.2.11 It was found that the bond between aggregates and cement paste is affected by the continuous immersion in MgSO₄ solution. However, the sandstone with quartz studied here showed a considerable performance to sulphate attack upto 40% substitution at lower water-cement ratios (0.35 and 0.40).

5.2.12 Since all the values of macrocell corrosion test for various replacement levels, upto 100% replacement, were less than 10 μ A for all the three series. We

could conclude that there is no significant evidence of corrosion in the specimens after 180 days of ponding.

5.2.13 Microstructure study on Dholpur aggregate showed fairly sharp cleavages and elongations which affected the rheology of concrete. This phenomenon was controlled by increasing the dosage of super plasticisers when quartz sandstone aggregates were used. The microstructural study of concrete revealed increased porosity and finer grain structure as the Dholpur stone/quartz sandstone aggregate was replaced with conventional coarse aggregates.

5.2.14 The results of thermogravimetric results showed a decrease in the percentage of weight loss as the quartz sandstone aggregate was replaced by conventional aggregates. This can be due to increases of void spaces that prevents the heat transfer phenomena as the dosage of sandstone aggregates increased.

5.2.15 DTG graphs showed major events occurring at 150°C, 450°C and 750°C. On further analysis, loss in portlandite and calcite contributed to this less as the quartz sandstone content was increased in cement concrete. Local water deficient regions e.g. interfacial transition zones might have reduced the rate of hydration reaction which would have reduced the amount of portlandite generated when cement clinker turns to C-S-H gel and portlandite. On another account, portlandite is basic (in the meaning of non-acidic), and its quantity might be affected by 'acidic' constituents. Sandstone may be siliceous, which in theory acts like that, although the thermodynamics of the process may not make it a valid procedure in the timeframe observed here.

5.2.16 Concrete made with quartz sandstones performed well against the action of fire. Minimum loss in compressive strength was observed for samples with 100% quartz sandstone substitution thus making it a suitable material for fire resistance. In terms of thermal efficiency, depending on the preferred strength of concrete samples to be attained, dosages of quartz sandstone may be taken up to 60%.

5.2.17 Approximate Cost Analysis: There occurs an approximate saving of Rs. 845 for one cubic metre of concrete, if Dholpur aggregates are used. A huge benefit of sandstone waste utilisation and the use of large amounts of conventional coarse aggregates can be reduced if this is implemented.

On comparing the limits of Indian Standards, concrete having quartz sandstone is recommended for structural works and general purpose tiles with an adequate replacement upto a certain water-cement ratio. Also, by the use of these sandstone wastes, there occurs a reduced consumption of depleting natural aggregates and the landfilling problems which contribute to the overall environmental benefits and sustainability.

5.3 Recommendations for Future Work

The following recommendations for further work may be considered as follows:

5.3.1 The concrete with waste Dholpur stone/quartz sandstone as fine aggregate replacement may be tested to study the mechanical and durability properties.

5.3.2 In the present study, experiments were performed with the use of Ordinary Portland Cement (OPC) as a binder in concrete. Tests may be conducted with Portland Pozzolana Cement (PPC) as a binder instead or also with the use of Fly Ash and/or with GGBS.

5.3.3 The tests like Mercury Intrusion Porosimetry, shrinkage, microcell and halfcell corrosion can be carried out for a deeper study.

REFERENCES AND BIBLIOGRAPHY

1. References

- Abdel Monem Mohamed Soltan, Wolf-Achim Kahl, Fawzia Abd EL-Raoof, Baher, Abdel-Hamid El-Kaliouby, Mohamed Abdel-Kader Serry, Noha Ali Abdel-Kader. "Lightweight aggregates from mixtures of granite wastes with clay". *Journal of Cleaner Production* 2016; Volume 117; Pages 139–149.
- Adigun, E.M.A. "Cost effectiveness of replacing sand with crushed granite fine (CGF) in the mixed design of concrete". *IOSR J. Mech. Civ. Eng.* 2013; (IOSR JMCE) 10 (1): P01-P06.
- Aprianti S E, 2016. "A Huge Number of Artificial Waste Material can be Supplementary Cementitious Material (SCM) for Concrete Production – A review Part II. Journal of Cleaner Production". *doi:* 10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.12.115.
- Arshad A, Shahid, I, Anwar, U. H. C, Baig, M. N, Khan, S. and Shakir, K. "The Wastes Utility in Concrete". *Int. J. Environ. Res.*, 2014; 8(4):1323-1328, ISSN: 1735-6865; 1323-1328.
- 5. ASTM C 642-2006. Standard test method for Density, Absorption, and Voids in Hardened Concrete. West Conshohocken, Pennsylvania, United States.
- ASTM C 1012-1089. Standard Test Method for Length Change of Hydraulic-Cement Mortars Exposed to a Sulfate Solution. West Conshohocken, Pennsylvania, United States.
- ASTM C 579-01-2012. Standard Test Methods for Compressive Strength of Chemical-Resistant Mortars, Grouts, Monolithic Surfacings, and Polymer Concretes. West Conshohocken, Pennsylvania, United States.
- ASTM G 109-99a. Standard Test Method for Determining the Effects of Chemical Admixtures on the Corrosion of Embedded Steel Reinforcement in concrete exposed to Chloride Environments. West Conshohocken, Pennsylvania, United States.
- Bacarji E., Toledo Filho R.D., Koenders E.A.B., Figueiredo E.P., Lopes J.L.M.P. "Sustainability perspective of marble and granite residues as concrete fillers". Construction and Building Materials 2013; 45: 1-10.

- Bagheri Ali Reza, Hamed Zanganeh, Mohamad Mehdi Moalemi. "Mechanical and durability properties of ternary concretes containing silica fume and low reactivity blast furnace slag". *Cement and Concrete Composites* 2012; 34(5): 663-670.
- Bassuoni M.T., Nehdi M.L. "Resistance of self-consolidating concrete to sulphuric acid attack with consecutive pH reduction". *Cement and Concrete Research* 2007; 37: 1070-1084.
- BS EN 12620:2002+A1, Aggregates for concrete, British Standard Institute, London, 2008.
- BS EN 933-9- 1999. Tests for geometrical properties of aggregates, Assessment of fines. Methylene blue test, British Standard Institute, London.
- BS EN 12620:2002+A1- 2008. Aggregates for concrete, British Standard Institute, London.
- BS 1881: Part 207, 1992. Recommendations for the Assessment of Concrete Strength by Near-to-surface Tests. *British Standards Institution*. Source. http://www.docin.com/p-335429446.html.
- Brito, J. de; Amorim, P.: "The Influence of the Curing Conditions on the Durability Performance of Concrete Made with Recycled Concrete Waste", *Conference on Progress of Recycling in the Built Environment*, RILEM, São Paulo, December 2009.
- Brito, J. de; Fonseca, N.: "The Influence of the Curing Conditions on the Mechanical Performance of Concrete Made with Recycled Concrete Waste", *Conference on Progress of Recycling in the Built Environment*, RILEM, São Paulo, December 2009.
- Cheah Chee Ban, Part Wei Ken, Mahyuddin Ramli. "Mechanical and Durability performance of novel self-activating geopolymer mortars". Sustainable Civil Engineering Structures and Construction Materials 2017; Procedia Engineering 171: 564 – 571.
- 19. Cheyrezy M, V Maret, L Frouin. "Microstructural analysis of RPC (reactive powder concrete)". *Cement and Concrete Research* 1995; 25 (7): 1491-00.
- Chiranjeevi Reddy, K., Yaswanth Kumar, Y., Poornima, P. "Experimental study on concrete with waste granite powder as an admixture". ISSN: 2248- 9622 Int. J. Eng. Res. Appl. 2015; 5 (6): 87-93 (Part -2).

- Cree D, M. Green, A. Noumowé. "Residual strength of concrete containing recycled materials after exposure to fire: A review". *Construction and Building Materials* 2013; 45: 208–223.
- Dina M. Sadek, Mohamed M. El-Attar, Haitham A. Ali. "Reusing of marble and granite powders in self-compacting concrete for sustainable development". *Journal of Cleaner Production* 2016; Volume 121:19–32.
- 23. DIN 1048 (Part-5): German Standard for determination of Permeability of Concrete.
- Divakar, Y., Manjunath, S., Aswath, M.U. "Experimental investigation on behaviour of concrete with the use of granite fines". *Int. J. Adv. Eng. Res. Stud.* 2012; 1: 84-87.
- 25. Duane M.J. "Fungal biomineralization in a surficial vadose setting, Temara district (Saibles D'Or), northwest Morocco", *Arab. J. Geosci.* 2016; 9: 1-10.
- EPA. "Field portable x-ray fluorescence spectrometry for the determination of elemental concentrations in soil and sediment 2007; (Method 6200)". *Environmental Protection Agency*, USA.
- 27. Elke Gruyaert, Philip Van den Heede, Mathias Maes, Nele De Belie. "Investigation of the influence of blast-furnace slag on the resistance of concrete against organic acid or sulphate attack by means of accelerated degradation test". *Cement and Concrete Research* 2004; 34 (12): 2309-2317.
- Emmanuel K. Attiogbe, Sami H. Rizkalla. "Response of Concrete to Sulphuric Acid Attack". ACI Materials Journal 1988; November-December: 481-488.
- 29. Erhan Gunesyisi, Turan Ozturan, Mehmet Gesoglu. "Effect of initial curing on chloride ingress and corrosion resistance of characteristics of concrete made with plain and blended cements". *Building and Environment* 2007; 42: 2676-2685.
- Erhan Gunesyisi, Mehmet Gesoglu, Turan Ozturan, Erdogan Ozbay. "Estimation of chloride permeability of concretes by empirical modelling; considering effects of cement type, curing condition and age". *Construction and Building Martials* 2009; 23: 469-481.
- Erhan Guneyisi, Mehmet Gosoglu, Kasum Mermerdas. "Improving strength, drying shrinkage and pore structure of concrete using metakaolin". *Materials and Structures* 2008; 41(5), 937-949.

- Ernest O. Nnadi, Juan Lizarazo-Marriaga. "Acid Corrosion of Plain and Reinforced Concrete sewage systems". J. Mater. Civ. Eng. 2013; 25(9): 1353-1356.
- Eshmail Ganjian, Morteza Khorami, Ali Akbar Maghsoudi. "Scrap-tire-rubber replacement for aggregate and filler in concrete". *Construction and Building Materials* 2009; 23: 1826-1836.
- Felixkala, T., Sethuraman, V.S. "Shrinkage properties of HPC using granite powder as fine aggregate". *Int. J. Eng. Adv. Technol.* 2013; (IJEAT) 2 (3): 637-643.
- Fennis S.A.A.M. "Design of ecological concrete by particle packing optimization 2011". Delft University of Technology, TU Delft.
- Folk, R. L. "Stages of textural maturity in sedimentary rocks" *Jour. Sedimentary Petrology* 1951; 21: 127-130.
- 37. voro
- Gilkey J.H. "Water-cement ratio versus strength another look". ACI J Proc 1961; 57 (4).
- Gulden Cagin Ulubeyli, Turhan Bilir, Recep Artir. "Durability Properties of Concrete Produced by Marble Waste as Aggregate or Mineral Additives". *Procedia Engineering* 2016; 161:543 – 548.
- 40. Hamid, Z. A., Pereira, J. J., & Ismail, S., 2006. "Minerals Security How Vulnerable Is The Construction Industry?" *The Ingenieur*, 30, 13-17.
- Hanifi Binici, Tahir Shah, Orhan Aksogan, Hasan Kaplan. "Durability of concrete made with granite and marble as recycle aggregates". *J. Mater. Process. Technol.*, 2008; 208(1-3): 299-308.
- 42. Hebhoub, H. Aoun, M. Belachia, H. Houari, E. Ghorbel. "Use of waste marble aggregates in concrete". *Construction and Building Materials* 2011; 25:1167-1171.
- 43. Helmi M, M R Hall, L A Stevens, S P Rigby. "Effects of high pressure/temperature curing on reactive powder concrete microstructure formation". *Construction and Building Materials* 2016; 105: 554–562.
- 44. Huajian Li, Fali Huang, Guanzhi Cheng, Yongjiang Xie, Yanbin Tan, Linxiang Li, Zhonglai Yi. "Effect of granite dust on mechanical and some durability

properties of manufactured sand concrete". *Construction and Building Materials* 2016; 109: 41-46.

- 45. IS: 10262-2010. Indian Standard Recommended Guidelines for Concrete Mix Design. Bureau of Indian Standards, New Delhi, India.
- IS: 8112-1989. 43 grade ordinary Portland cement specification. Bureau of Indian Standards, New Delhi, India.
- 47. IS: 383-1970. Indian Standard Specification for Coarse and Fine Aggregates from Natural Sources for Concrete. Bureau of Indian Standards, New Delhi, India.
- IS: 4031-1996. Indian Standard methods of physical tests for Hydraulic cement. Bureau of Indian Standards, New Delhi, India.
- IS: 2386- 1963. Indian Standard methods of tests for Aggregates in Concrete. Bureau of Indian Standards, New Delhi, India.
- IS 1237- 1980. Indian standard specification for cement concrete flooring tiles. (Appendix F- method for determination of resistance to wear). Bureau of Indian Standards, New Delhi, India.
- IS: 516-1959. Indian standard specification for Method of tests for Strength of Concrete. Bureau of Indian Standards, New Delhi, India.
- IS 6441: (Part-I) 1972. Indian standard specification for Methods of tests for Autoclaved Cellular Concrete Products. Bureau of Indian Standards, New Delhi, India.
- 53. IS 383: 1970. Indian standard specification for coarse and fine aggregates from natural sources for concrete. Bureau of Indian Standards, New Delhi, India.
- 54. IS 1199: 1959. Indian standard specification for Methods of Sampling and Analysis of Concrete. Bureau of Indian Standards, New Delhi, India.
- IS 456: 2000. Indian Standard Plain and Reinforced Concrete-Code of Practice. Bureau of Indian Standards, New Delhi, India.
- 56. Jack M. Chi, Ran Huang, Yang C.C. "Effects of carbonation on mechanical properties and durability of concrete using accelerated testing method". *Journal of Marine Science and Technology* 2002; 10(1): 14-20.
- 57. James M. Shilstone. "Concrete mixture optimization". *Concr Int* 1990; (10): 33-39.
- 58. Jie Han, Jitendra K. Thakur. "Sustainable roadway construction using recycled aggregates with geosynthetics". *Sustainable Cities and Society* 2014; 14: 342–350.

- Kılıc, C.D. Atis, A. Teymen, O. Karahan, F. O[•] zcan, C. Bilim, M. O[•] zdemir. "The influence of aggregate type on the strength and abrasion resistance of high strength concrete". *Cement & Concrete Composites* 2008; 30: 290-296.
- Kodur V.K.R., Ankit Agrawal. "An approach for evaluating residual capacity of reinforced concrete beams exposed to fire". *Engineering Structures* 2016; 110: 293–306.
- Konstantin Kovler. "Does the utilization of coal fly ash in concrete construction present a radiation hazard?" *Construction and Building Materials 2012*; 29: 158–166.
- 62. Konstantin Sobolev. "The development of a new method for the proportioning of high-performance concrete mixtures". *Cem Concr Compos* 2004; 26 (7): 901-907.
- Konstantin Sobolev, Adil Amirjanov. "Application of genetic algorithm for modelling of dense packing of concrete aggregates". *Constr Build Mater* 2010; 24 (8):1449-1455.
- 64. Kumar S, SN Sachdeva, P Aggarwal, Effect of Sulphate Solution on Recycled Aggregate Concrete, *International Journal of Engineering*, 2014 ijert.org.
- 65. Lo. Y, Lee. H.M. "Curing effects on carbonation of concrete using a phenolphthalein indicator and Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy". *Building and Environment* 2002; 37: 507-514.
- 66. Lokeshwari M, K.S Jagadish. "Eco-Friendly use of Granite Fines Waste in Building Blocks". *Procedia Environmental Sciences* 2016; 35: 618 623.
- 67. Mackechnie JR. "Shrinkage of concrete containing graywacke sandstone aggregate". *ACI Mater J* 2006; 103:390-6.
- Mangesh V. Madurwar, Rahul V. Ralegaonkar, Sachin A. Mandavgane.
 "Application of agro-waste for sustainable construction materials: A review". Construction and Building Materials 2013; 38:872–878.
- 69. Manuel Sardinha, Jorge de Brito, Ricardo Rodrigues. "Durability properties of structural concrete containing very fine aggregates of marble sludge". *Construction and Building Materials* 2016; 119:45-52.
- Marcel R.A. Van Vliet, Jan G.M. Van Mier. "Experimental investigation of size effect in concrete and sandstone under uniaxial tension". *Eng. Fract. Mech* 2000; 65: 165-188.

- Marco ludovico-marques, Carlos chastre, Graca vasconcelos. "Modelling the compressive mechanical behaviour of granite and sandstone historical building stones". *Construction and Building Materials* 2012; Vol 28: 372–381.
- 72. Miren Etxeberria, Jesus Manuel Fernandez, Jussara Limeira. "Secondary aggregates and seawater employment for sustainable concrete dyke blocks production: Case study". *Construction and Building Materials 2016* 113: 586–595.
- Mohamedbhai G. T. G. "Effect of exposure time and rates of heating and cooling on residual strength of heated concrete". *Mag. Concr. Res.* 1986; 38 No. 136: 151– 158.
- 74. Mohammad Momeen Ul Islam, Kim Hung Mo, U. Johnson Alengaram, Mohd Zamin Jumaat. "Durability properties of sustainable concrete containing high volume palm oil waste materials". *Journal of Cleaner Production* 2016; 137: 167– 177.
- 75. Mohsen Tennich, Abderrazek Kallel, Mongi Ben Ouezdou. "Incorporation of fillers from marble and tile wastes in the composition of self-compacting concretes". *Construction and Building Materials* 2015; 91: 65-70.
- Monteny, J., Vincke, E., Beeldens, A., De Belie, N., Taerwe, L., Van Gemert, D., Verstraete, W. "Chemical, microbiological, and in situ test methods for biogenic sulfuric acid corrosion of concrete". *Cement and Concrete Research* 2000; 30: 623 ± 634.
- 77. Moruf Olalekan Yusuf, Megat Azmi Megat Johari, Zainal Arifin Ahmad, Mohammad Maslehuddin. "Evolution of alkaline activated ground blast furnace slag- ultrafine palm oil fuel ash based concrete". *Materials and Design* 2014; 55: 387-393.
- 78. Nabil M. Al-Akhras. "Durability of metakaolin concrete to sulphate attack". *Cement and Concrete Research* 2006; 36: 1727-1734.
- Nader Ghafoori, Hamidou Diawara, Shane Beasley. "Resistance to external sodium sulphate attack for early-opening-to-traffic Portland cement concrete". *Cement & Concrete Composites* 2008; 30: 444-454.
- Namasivayam Aravind, Amiya K. Samanta, Singha Roy, Joseph V. Thanikal. "Retrofitting of Reinforced Concrete beams using FRP". *Journal of Urban and Environmental Engineering 2013*; Vol 7: pp 164-175.
- Newman, J., Choo, B.S. Advanced Concrete Technology 3: Processes. Butterworth-Heinemann 2003.

- Olaniyan, O.S., Afolabi, O.M., Okeyinka, O.M. "Granite fines as a partial replacement for sand in sandcrete block production". *Int. J. Eng.* 2012; Technol. 2: (8).
- Part Wei Ken, Mahyuddin Ramli, Cheah Chee Ban. "An overview on the influence of various factors on the properties of geopolymer concrete derived from industrial by-products". *Construction and Building Materials* 2015; 77: 370–395.
- 84. Paulo J.M. Monteiro, Kimberly E. Kurtis. "Time to failure for concrete exposed to severe sulphate attack". *Cement and Concrete Research* 2003; 33: 987-993.
- 85. Pereira, Eduardo, de Medeiros, Marcelo Henrique Farias. "Pull off test to evaluate the compressive strength of concrete: an alternative to Brazilian standard techniques". *Rev. Ibracon Estruturas Mater.* 2012; 5(6): 757–780.
- Peyvandi, A., Holmes, D., Soroushian, P., Balachandra, A.M. "Monitoring of Sulfate Attack in concrete by 27Al and 29 Si MAS NMR Spectroscopy". J. *Mater. Civ. Eng.* 2015; 27(8): 04014226.
- Prabir Kumar Sarker, Sean Kelly, Zhitong Yao. "Effect of fire exposure on cracking, spalling and residual strength of fly ash geopolymer concrete". *Materials and Design* 2014; 63: 584–592.
- Proverbio, E., and Carassiti, F. "Evaluation of Chloride content in concrete by Xray Fluorescence". *Cement and Concrete Research* 1997; Vol. 27: No. 8, pp. 1213-1223.
- Qianmin Ma, Rongxin Guo, Zhiman Zhao, Zhiwei Lin, Kecheng He. "Mechanical properties of concrete at high temperature—A review". *Construction and Building Materials* 93 (2015) 371–383.
- 90. Qingtao Li, Zhuguo Li, Guanglin Yuan. "Effects of elevetaed temperatures oon properties of concrete containing ground granulated blast furnace slag as cementitious material". *Construction and Building Materials* 2012; 35: 687-692.
- Raghavendra, R., Sharada, S.A.G., Ravindra, M.V. "Compressive strength of high performance concrete using granite powder as fine aggregate". *Int. J. Res. Eng. Technol.* 2015; (4), 47-49, eISSN: 2319-1163 j pISSN: 2321-7308.
- Rai B., Khan N.H., Abhishek Kr, Tabin R.S., Duggal S.K. "Influence of Marble powder/granules in Concrete mix". *Intl. J. Civil Struct. Engg* 2011; 1(4): 827–834. ISSN 0976–4399.

- Ramos, T., Matos, A.M., Schmidt, B., Rio, J., Sousa-Coutinho, J. "Granitic quarry sludge waste in mortar: effect on strength and durability". Constr. Build. Mater. 2013; 47: 1001-1009.
- Rana A, P Kalla, L J Csetenyi. "Sustainable use of marble slurry in concrete". J. Clean. Prod. 2015: 1-8.
- 95. Rania A. Hamza, Salah El-Haggar, and Safwan Khedr. "Marble and Granite Waste: Characterization and Utilization in Concrete Bricks". *International Journal of Bioscience, Biochemistry and Bioinformatics* 2011; Vol. 1, No. 4: 286-291.
- Richardson David Newton. "Aggregate gradation optimization: literature search", 2005.
- 97. Ruiza L A, G Platreth, E Massieau, A Ehrlacher. "The use of thermal analysis in assessing the effect of temperature on a cement paste". Cement and Concrete Research 2005; 35: 609–613
- Sallehan Ismail, Kwan Wai Hoe, Mahyuddin Ramli. "Sustainable aggregates: The potential and challenge for natural resources conservation". Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences 2013; 101: 100 – 109.
- Sankaran R,, N. Sobhi. "ASTER mapping of limestone formations and study of caves, springs and depressions in parts of Sultanate of Oman". Environ. Earth Sci. 2014; 71: 133–146.
- 100. Sanjeev Kumar, Ramesh Chandra Gupta, Sandeep Shrivastava, Lazlo Csetenyi, Blessen Skariah Thomas. "Preliminary study on the use of quartz sandstone as a partial replacement of coarse aggregate in concrete based on clay content, morphology and compressive strength of combined gradation". Construction and Building Materials 2016; 107: 103-108.
- 101. Saravanan, P. Azrina A.A., Yau, Y.H., Puma, G.L., Fischer.C., Ibrahim, S., Highly Efficient Magnetically Separable TiO2- Graphene Oxide Supported SrFe12O19 for Direct Sunlight-Driven Photoactivity. Chemical Engineering Journal. 2014; 235: pp. 264 – 274.
- 102. Schaffer R.J. "The weathering of natural building stones". *Building Research* Special Report 1932; Watford, London

- 103. Semion Zhutovsky, Konstantin Kovler. "Influence of water to cement ratio on the efficiency of internal curing of high-performance concrete". Construction and Building Materials 2017; 144: 311–316.
- 104. Shi Cong Kou, Chi Sun Poon, Dixon Chan. "Influence of fly ash as a cement addition on the hardened properties of recycled aggregate concrete". Materials and Structures 2008; 41: 1191-1201.
- 105. Siegesmund, A. Török. "Building Stones. Stone in Architecture, Properties, Durability". Fifth ed., Springer New York 2014; pp. 11-95.
- 106. Singh N. and S P Singh. "Carbonation and electrical resistance of self-compacting concrete made with recycled concrete aggregates and metakaolin". Construction and Building Materials 2016; 121: pp. 400-409.
- 107. Singh N and S P Singh. "Carbonation resistance and microstructural analysis of low and high volume fly ash self-compacting concrete containing recycled concrete aggregates". Construction and Building Materials 2016; 127: pp. 828-842.
- 108. Singh S, R Nagar, V Agrawal, A Rana, A Tiwari. "Sustainable Utilization of Granite Cutting Waste in High Strength Concrete". *Journal of Cleaner Production* 2016; doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.12.110.
- Singh, S., Khan, S., Khandelwal, R., Chugh, A., Nagar, R. "Performance of sustainable concrete containing granite cutting waste". J. Clean. Prod. 2016; 119: 86-98.
- Suchorski David M. Aggregates for concrete. "ACI Education Bulletin E1-07. ACI committee E-701". Materials for Concrete Construction 2007; ISBN 978-0-87031-248-9.
- 111. Swaminathan Dhanapandian, Balasubramani Gnanavel, Thirunavukkarasu Ramkumar. "Utilization of Granite and Marble Sawing Powder Wastes as Brick Materials". *Carpathian Journal of Earth and Environmental Sciences* 2009; Vol. 4, No. 2: 147 160.
- Talah A., F. Kharchi, R.Chaid. "Influence of Marble Powder on High Performance Concrete Behavior". Procedia Engineering 2015; 114: 685 – 690.

- 113. Tan Wen-fa, Wang Li-ao, Huang Chuang, Liu Yuan-yuan, J.E. Green, D. Newport, T. Green. "Utilisation of municipal solid waste incineration fly ash in lightweight aggregates". J. Cent. South Univ, Springer 2012; 19: 835-841.
- 114. Thomas, Blessen Skariah, Gupta, Ramesh Chandra, Mehra, Priyansha, Kumar, Sanjeev. "Performance of high strength rubberized concrete in aggressive environment". Constr. Build. Mater. 2015; 83: 320–326.
- Torben C. Hansen. "Influence of aggregate and voids on modulus of elasticity of concrete, cement mortar, and cement paste". ACI journal proceedings 1965; vol. 62[no. 2].
- 116. Verstrynge E., R. Adriaens, J. Elsen, K. Van balen. "Multi-scale analysis on the influence of moisture on the mechanical behavior of ferruginous sandstone". Construction and Building Materials 2014; Vol. 54: 78–90.
- 117. Vijayalakshmi, M., Sekar, A.S.S., Prabhu, G.G. "Strength and durability properties of concrete made with granite industry waste". Constr. Build. Mater. 2013; 46: 1-7.
- William B. Fuller, Sanford E. Thompson. "The laws of proportioning concrete". *Trans Am Soc Civil Eng* 1906; 57 (2): 67-143.
- 119. Yogesh Aggarwal, Rafat Siddique, Paratibha Aggarwal and S.M.Gupta A frame work for use of industrial by-products in concrete, *CPI-Concrete Plant International*, Vol., 6, Dec., 2009 pp 20-22.
- 120. Yongan Q., W. Min, Z. Wei, L. Da. "Calcite cements in burrows and their influence on reservoir property of the Donghe sandstone", Tarim Basin, China. J. Earth Sci. 2012; 23: 129-141.

2. Bibliography

- Ahmad H. Aljassar, Khalifa Bader Al-Fadala, Mohammed A. Ali. "Recycling building demolition waste in hot-mix asphalt concrete: a case study in Kuwait". *Journal of Material Cycles and Waste Management* 2006; 7: 112–115.
- Akbulu Huseyin, Gurer Cahit. "Use of aggregates produced from marble quarry waste in asphalt pavements". *Building and environment* 2007; 42(5): 1921-1930.
- Ali R. Khaloo, Dehestani M., Rahmatabadi P. "Mechanical properties of concrete containing a high volume of tire–rubber particles". *Waste Management* 2008; 28: 2472–2482.
- 4. Anh Cuong Ho, Anaclet Turatsinze, Rashid Hameed, Duc Chinh Vu. "Effects of rubber aggregates from grinded used tires on the concrete resistance to cracking". *Journal of Cleaner Production* 2012; 23(1): 209-215.
- 5. Bakharev T., Sanjayan J.G., Cheng Y.-B. "Resistance of alkali-activated slag concrete to acid attack". *Cement and Concrete Research* 2003; 33: 1607–1611.
- Baoshan Huang, Guoqiang Li, Su-Seng Pang, John Eggers. "Investigation into Waste Tire Rubber-Filled Concrete". *Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering* 2004; 16: 187-194.
- Bernal Susan A., Ruby Mejia de Gutierrez, John L. Provis. "Engineering and durability properties of concretes based on alkali-activated granulated blast furnace slag/metakaolin blends". *Construction and Building Materials* 2012; 33: 99-108.
- Bhavna Tripathi. (2012). "Durability of concrete containing ISF slag as partial replacement of sand". PhD Thesis submitted to the Department of Civil Engineering, Malaviya National Institute of Technology, Jaipur, Rajasthan, India.
- 9. Chang Cheng-Feng Chen Jing-Wen. "Strength and elastic modulus of carbonated concrete". *ACI Materials Journal* 2005; 102(5): 315-321.
- Corina-Maria Aldea, Francis Young, Kejin Wang, Surendra P. Shah. "Effects of curing conditions on properties of concrete using slag replacement". *Cement* and Concrete Research, 2000; 30: 465-472.

- De Belie N., De Coster V., VanNieuwenburg D. "Use of fly ash or silica fume to increase the resistance of concrete to feed acids". *Magazine of Concrete Research* 1997; 49: 337–344.
- 12. Enrique Fernández Ledesma, José Ramón Jiménez, Jesús Ayuso, José María Fernández, Jorge de Brito. "Maximum feasible use of recycled sand from construction and demolition waste for eco-mortar production–Part-I: ceramic masonry waste". *Journal of Cleaner Production* 2015; 87: 692-706.
- Fan Y.F., Hu Z.Q., Zhang Y.Z., Liu J.L. "Deterioration of compressive property of concrete under simulated acid rain environment". *Construction and Building Materials* 2010; 24: 1975–1983.
- 14. Fattuhi N. I., Clark L. A. "Cement-based materials containing shredded scrap truck tire rubber". *Construction and Building Materials* 1996; 10(4): 229-236.
- Flores-Medina, D., Medina, N. F., Hernández-Olivares, F. "Static mechanical properties of waste rests of recycled rubber and high quality recycled rubber from crumbed tires used as aggregate in dry consistency concretes". *Materials and Structures* 2014; 47(7): 1185-1193.
- Girardi F., Vaona W., Maggio R. Di. "Resistance of different types of concretes to cyclic sulfuric acid and sodium sulfate attack". *Cement & Concrete Composites* 2010; 32: 595–602.
- Glory Joseph, K. Ramamurthy. "Influence of fly ash on strength and sorption characteristics of cold-bonded fly ash aggregate concrete". *Construction and Building Materials* 2009; 23(5): 1862-1870.
- Guleria S. P., Dutta R. K. "Unconfined Compressive Strength of Fly Ash– Lime–Gypsum Composite Mixed with Treated Tire Chips". *Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering* 2011; 23:1255-1263.
- Guoqiang Li, Gregory Garrick, John Eggers, Christopher Abadie, Michael A. Stubblefield, Su-Seng Pang. "Waste tire fiber modified concrete". *Composites: Part B* 2004; 35: 305–312.
- Gupta R.C., Sethia M. R. "Economic Study of R.C. Slab Column Footing". International Journal of Structures 1989; 9: 25-42.
- Gupta R.C., Sethia M. R. "Computer Aided Design of Flat Slab Column Footing Structures". *Bridge & Structural Engineers*. 1993; 23: 39-59.

- 22. Gupta R.C., Misra A., Raisinghani M. "Flexural Strength and Creep Characteristic of Tiles Containing Marble powder". *Journal of Engineering and Applied Sciences* 2009; 4: 53-57.
- Gupta R.C, Blessen Skariah Thomas, Prachi Gupta, Lintu Rajan, Dayanand Thagriya. "An Experimental study of Clayey soil stabilized by Copper Slag". *International Journal of Structural and Civil Engineering Research* 2012; 1: 110-119.
- 24. Gupta R.C, Blessen Skariah Thomas, Prachi Gupta. "Utilisation of Copper slag and Discarded Rubber tyres in Construction". *International Journal of Civil and Structural Engineering* 2012; 3: 271-281.
- Hebhoub, H., H. Aoun, M. Belachia, H. Houari, E. Ghorbel. "Use of waste marble aggregates in concrete". *Construction and Building Materials* 2011; 25(3): 1167-1171.
- 26. Ilker Bekir Topcu Abdullah Demir. "Durability of Rubberized Mortar and Concrete". *Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering* 2007; 19: 173-178.
- 27. Ilker Bekir Topcu. "The properties of rubberized concretes". Cement and Concrete Research 1995; 25(2): 304-310.
- Ilker Bekir Topcu, Turhan Bilir. "Experimental investigation of some fresh and hardened properties of rubberized self-compacting concrete". *Materials and Design* 2009; 30: 3056–3065
- Jones M. R, Newlands M. D, Abbas A. M. O, Dhir R. K. "Comparison of 2 year carbonation depths of common cement concretes using the modified draft CEN test". *Materials and Structures* 2001; 34: 396-403.
- 30. Khaiat Husain Al, Fattuhi Nijad. "Carbonation of concrete exposed to hot and arid climate". *Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering* 2002; 35: 97-107.
- Konstantin Kovler. "Does the utilization of coal fly ash in concrete construction present a radiation hazard?". *Construction and Building Materials* 2012; 29: 158-166.
- 32. Konstantin Kovler, Nicolas Roussel. "Properties of fresh and hardened concrete". *Cement and Concrete Research* 2011; 41(7): 775-792.
- Konstantin Kovler. "Radiological constraints of using building materials and industrial by-products in construction". *Construction and Building materials* 2009; 23(1): 246-253.

- Marques A.M., Correia J.R., de Brito J. "Post-fire residual mechanical properties of concrete made with recycled rubber aggregate". *Fire Safety Journal* 2013; 58: 49–57.
- 35. Mehra, P., Gupta, R. C., Misra, A., 2013. "Utilization of jarosite in concrete".YRGS. 207-12.
- Meng-Cheng Chen, Kai Wang, Li Xie. "Deterioration mechanism of cementitious materials under acid rain attack". *Engineering Failure Analysis* 2013; 27: 272–285.
- Misra Anurag, Gupta Rajesh, Gupra, R.C. "Utilisation of Marble Slurry in Construction Materials". *Stonedge India* 2008; 38-41.
- Osman Gencel, Cengiz Ozel, Fuat Koksal, Ertugrul Erdogmus, Gonzalo Martínez-Barrera, Witold Brostow. "Properties of concrete paving blocks made with waste marble". *Journal of Cleaner Production* 2012; 21: 62-70.
- Parrot L. J. "Some effects of cement and curing upon carbonation and reinforcement corrosion in concrete". *Materials and Structures* 1996; 29: 164-173.
- 40. Paulo Penacho, Jorge de Brito, M. Rosário Veiga. "Physico-mechanical and performance characterization of mortars incorporating fine glass waste aggregate". *Cement and Concrete Composites* 2014; 50: 47-59.
- Rahman M.M., Usman M., Al-Ghalib Ali A. "Fundamental properties of rubber modified self-compacting concrete (RMSCC)". *Construction and Building Materials* 2012; 36: 630–637
- Reda Taha M. M., El-Dieb A. S., Abd El-Wahab M. A., Abdel-Hameed M. E., "Mechanical, Fracture, and Microstructural Investigations of Rubber Concrete". *Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering* 2008; 20: 640-649.
- Renata Oliveira, Jorge de Brito, Rosário Veiga. "Reduction of the cement content in rendering mortars with fine glass aggregates". *Journal of Cleaner Production* (2015). doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.02.049.
- 44. Sethia, M.R, Gupta, R.C. "Analysis and Design of Single Panel Slab". *Bridge* & Structural Engineers 1987; 17: 25-36.
- 45. Skaropoulou A., Sotiriadis K., Kakali G., Tsivilis S. "Use of mineral admixtures to improve the resistance of limestone cement concrete against thaumasite form of sulfate attack". *Cement & Concrete Composites* 2013; 37: 267–275.

- Serdar Aydın, Halit Yazıcı, Huseyin Yigiter, Bulent Baradan. "Sulfuric acid resistance of high-volume fly ash concrete". *Building and Environment* 2007; 42: 717–721.
- Wei Ken Part, Mahyuddin Ramli, Chee Ban Cheah. "An overview on the influence of various factors on the properties of geopolymer concrete derived from industrial by-products". *Construction and Building Materials* 2015; 77: 370-395.
- 48. Wai Hoe Kwan, Mahyuddin Ramli, and Chee Ban Cheah. "Flexural strength and impact resistance study of fibre reinforced concrete in simulated aggressive environment". *Construction and Building Materials* 2014; 63: 62-71.
- Wei-yi Ouyang, Jian-kang Chen, Min-qiang Jiang. "Evolution of surface hardness of concrete under sulfate attack". *Construction and Building Materials* 2014; 53: 419–424.
- Weiguo Shen, Lai Shan, Tao Zhang, Hongkun Ma, Zhi Cai, Hua Shi. "Investigation on polymer-rubber aggregate modified porous concrete". *Construction and Building Materials* 2013; 38: 667–674.
- Zhang X., Zhou X., Zhou H., Gao K., Wang Z. "Studies on forecasting of carbonation depth of slag high performance concrete considering gas permeability". *Applied Clay Science* 2013; 79: 36-40.
- Zhen-Tian Chang, Xiu-Jiang Song, Robert Munn, Marton Marosszeky "Using limestone aggregates and different cements for enhancing resistance of concrete to sulphuric acid attack". *Cement and Concrete Research* 2005; 35: 1486 – 1494.
- Zheng L., Sharon Huo X., Yuan Y. "Strength, Modulus of Elasticity, and Brittleness Index of Rubberized Concrete". *Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering* 2008; 20: 692-699.

Annexure 1

Cost Benefit Analysis

Cost Benefit Analysis for Optimum Replacement level

In this research work, M30 grade of concrete with water-cement ratios of 0.35, 0.40 and 0.45 were casted. Dholpur stone (quartz sandstone) was replaced for conventional coarse aggregate from 0% to 100% in multiples of 20%. The cost benefit analysis is done on the basis of optimum replacement level which was found to be 40%. This limit was fixed due to its achievement of target strength for all the water cement ratios.

- Cost of coarse aggregates as per the retail rate in 2017 is Rs 4-6/kg (https://www.materialtree.com/sand-aggregates/coarse-aggregates/20mmcoarse-aggregates).
- 2. Cost of Dholpur waste aggregates used in this research work is Rs 1-2 /kg excluding the transportation charges.
- 3. To produce 1 cubic metre of concrete, the amount of coarse aggregate required is about 683.65 kg/m³ (w/c 0.35) (As per the design mix given in Chapter 3).
- 4. If 40% of coarse aggregates are replaced with Dholpur aggregates, it requires only 261.12 kg/m³ due to its lesser coarse aggregates when replaced to its volume. Thus the cost for conventional coarse aggregate accounts for Rs 3418 and for a 40% replacement of Dholpur stone wastes accounts for Rs 2572.
- 5. There occurs an approximate saving of Rs. 845 for one cubic metre of concrete, if Dholpur aggregates are used.
- 6. A huge benefit of sandstone waste utilisation and the use of large amounts of conventional coarse aggregates can be reduced if this is implemented.

Comparison of mixes with equal compressive strengths (28 days)

At 28 days, it was noticed that the strength of concrete mixes with water-cement ratios 0.35, 0.40 and 0.45 at substitution levels of 100%, 60% and 20% respectively were similar. On further evaluation of their quantities of constituent materials, it can be seen that, mix with w/c 0.35 having only Dholpur stone was the **most economical** of all three. The detailed cost analysis is shown below:

The total cost of producing concrete made with 100% natural aggregates are given below:

For water-cement ratio 0.35 = Rs. 9505.1

For water-cement ratio 0.40= Rs. 9411.5

For water-cement ratio 0.45= Rs. 9291.1

The total cost of producing concrete made with 100% Dholpur stone aggregates are given below:

For water-cement ratio 0.35 = Rs. 5799.5

For water-cement ratio 0.40= Rs. 5628.5

For water-cement ratio 0.45= Rs. 5370.4

Cost analysis on 28 days concrete with similar strength:

Table A1.1: Table for mix with water-cement ratio 0.35 at 100% Dholpur stone replacement (C.S. 41 MPa)

Constituents	Quantities (kg)	Rate (Rs)	Cost (Rs)
Cement	440	5.6	2464
Natural coarse	-	5	0
aggregate			
Dholpur coarse	1242	2	2484
aggregate			
Fine Aggregate	635	1.3	825
	Total		5773

Table A1.2: Table for mix with water-cement ratio 0.40 at 60% Dholpur stone replacement (C.S. 42 MPa)

Constituents	Quantities (kg)	Rate (Rs)	Cost (Rs)
Cement	405	5.6	2268
Natural coarse	503	5	2515
aggregate			
Dholpur coarse	755	2	1510
aggregate			
Fine Aggregate	645	1.3	839
	Total		7132

Constituents	Quantities (kg)	Rate (Rs)	Cost (Rs)
Cement	342	5.6	1915
Natural coarse	1036	5	5180
aggregate			
Dholpur coarse	260	2	520
aggregate			
Fine Aggregate	662	1.3	861
	Total		8476

Table A1.3: Table for mix with water-cement ratio 0.45 at 20% Dholpur stone replacement (C.S. 41 MPa)

Cost analysis on 180 days concrete with similar strength:

A1.4: Table for mix with water-cement ratio 0.35 at 60% Dholpur stone replacement (C.S. 46.2 MPa)

Constituents	Quantities (kg)	Rate (Rs)	Cost (Rs)
Cement	440	5.6	2464
Natural coarse	497.2	5	2486
aggregate			
Dholpur coarse	745.8	2	1491.6
aggregate			
Fine Aggregate	635.47	1.3	826.1
	Total		7267.7

A1.5: Table for mix with water-cement ratio 0.40 at 40% Dholpur stone replacement (C.S. 46.1 MPa)

Constituents	Quantities (kg)	Rate (Rs)	Cost (Rs)
Cement	405	5.6	2268
Natural coarse	756.6	5	3783
aggregate			
Dholpur coarse	504.4	2	1008.8
aggregate			
Fine Aggregate	645	1.3	838.5
	Total		7898.3

Constituents	Quantities (kg)	Rate (Rs)	Cost (Rs)
Cement	342.22	5.6	1916.4
Natural coarse	1037.54	5	5187.7
aggregate			
Dholpur coarse	260.98	2	521.9
aggregate			
Fine Aggregate	662.05	1.3	860.6
	Total		8486.6

A1.6: Table for mix with water-cement ratio 0.45 at 20% Dholpur stone replacement (C.S. 46.1 MPa)

Cost analysis on 360 days concrete with similar strength:

At 360 days, it was noticed that the strength of concrete mixes with water-cement ratios 0.35, 0.40 and 0.45 at substitution levels 60%, 40% and 20% respectively were similar. The corresponding strengths were 46.4Mpa, 46.5 Mpa and 46.5 Mpa. This cost benefit analysis is similar to that of 180 days.

Percentage of Cost Savings at 28 days

The costs occurring for similar strengths at 28 days are given below:

Water-	Percentage of	Compressive	Cost of	Percentage
Cement Ratio	Replacement	Strength at	concrete with	Savings
		28 days	similar	(%)
		(MPa)	strength at 28	
			days	
0.35	100	41	5773	31
0.40	60	42	7132	15
0.45	20	41	8476	0

On comparing, **31%** savings of cost can be achieved by replacing 100% Dholpur stone at 0.35 water-cement ratio inorder to achieve a compressive strength of 41 Mpa at 28 days.

Percentage of Cost Savings at 180 and 360 days

The costs occurring for similar strengths at 180 and 360 days occurs at same replacement levels which are given as follows:

Water-	Percentage	Compressive	Compressive	Cost of	Percentage
Cement	of	Strength	Strength	concrete	Savings
Ratio	Replacement	(MPa)	(MPa)	with	
		At 180 days	At 360 days	similar	(%)
				strength	
				at 28	
				days	
0.35	60	46.2	46.4	7267.7	15
0.40	40	46.1	46.5	7893.3	7
0.45	20	46.1	46.5	8486.6	0

Table A1.8: Percentage of Cost Savings at 180 and 360 days

On comparing, **15%** savings of cost can be achieved by replacing 60% Dholpur stone at 0.35 water-cement ratio inorder to achieve a compressive strength of 46.2 Mpa and 46.4 Mpa at 180 and 360 days respectively.

For attaining a same compressive strength with varying water-cement ratio and increase in percentage of Dholpur Stone waste, the net saving may be attained upto 31% at 28 days and 15% at 180 and 360 days respectively (as shown in the Table A1.7 and A1.8)

Annexure II

Mix Design Guidelines

For a standard mix, M30 concrete grade was designed as with a water-cement ratio of 0.40. Also, to study the variation in different properties of concrete, the mixes with water-cement ratio of 0.35 and 0.45 were used. The design steps for a M30 concrete with 0.40 water- cement ratio is given below.

- 1. $F'_{ck} = F_{ck} + 1.65S = 30 + 1.65 (5) = 38.25 \text{ N/mm}^2$
- 2. Water cement ratio = 0.40
- Maximum Water Content is 186 litres. Adjusting the water content based on aggregate used and super plasticiser used. Here we have used 162 litres (Table 2: IS 10262:2009).
- Cement Content = (162/0.40) = 405kg/m³. Maximum cement content is 450 kg/m³.
- Calculation of Volume of coarse and fine aggregate is calculated from Table 3 of IS 10262: 2009. Applying for size and workability, Corrected Volume of coarse aggregate is 0.66 and fine aggregate is 0.34.

Mix Calculations

- a. Volume of concrete = 1 m^3 .
- b. Volume of cement = 0.129 m^3 .
- c. Volume of water = 0.162.
- d. Chemical Admixture = 0.0035 m^3 .
- e. Volume of All in aggregates = 0.7055 m^3 .
- f. Mass of Coarse aggregate
 Coarse aggregate (55% of total CA x Specific Gravity 2.64) = 693.55 kg/m³.
 10 mm (45% of total CA x Specific Gravity 2.64) = 567.45 kg/m³.

In case of replacing natural CA by Dholpur Stone (quartz sandstone), the above step has to modified accordingly.

g. Mass of Fine aggregate = 645 kg/m^3 .

Final Mix proportions

Cement = 405 kg/m³. Water = 162 kg/m³. Fine aggregate = 645 kg/m³. Coarse aggregate, 20 mm = 693.55 kg/m³. Coarse aggregate, 10 mm = 567.45 kg/m³. Superplasticiser = 4 kg.

Annexure III

Concrete mix Proportions

Ingredients per cu.m	Id						
	BA	BB	CA	DA	EA	FA	
Cement, kg	405	405	405	405	405	405	
Water, kg	162	162	162	162	162	162	
20 mm CA, kg	693.55	554.84	416.13	277.42	138.71	-	
10 mm CA, kg	567.45	453.96	340.47	226.98	113.49	-	
FA, kg	645	645	645	645	645	645	
Quartz Sandstone Aggregate 25 mm, kg	-	151.32	302.64	453.96	605.28	756.6	
Quartz Sandstone Aggregate 10 mm, kg	-	100.88	201.76	302.64	403.52	504.4	
Admixture, %	1	1.05	1.1	1.15	1.2	1.2	
Compaction factor	0.89	0.9	0.88	0.88	0.86	0.86	

Table 1: Mixture proportions and properties of fresh concrete for water-cement ratio of 0.4.

Table 2: Mixture proportions and properties of fresh concrete for water-cement ratio of 0.35.

Ingredients per cu.m	Id						
	А	В	C	D	Е	F	
Cement, kg	440	440	440	440	440	440	
Water, kg	154	154	154	154	154	154	
20 mm CA, kg	683.65	546.92	410.19	273.46	136.73	-	
10 mm CA, kg	559.35	447.48	335.61	223.74	111.87	-	
FA, kg	635.47	635.47	635.47	653.47	653.47	653.47	
Quartz Sandstone Aggregate 25 mm, kg	-	149.16	298.32	447.48	596.64	745.8	
Quartz Sandstone Aggregate 10 mm, kg	-	99.44	198.88	298.32	397.76	497.2	
Admixture, %	1	1.05	1.1	1.15	1.2	1.2	
Compaction factor	0.9	0.9	0.89	0.88	0.88	0.87	

Ingredients per cu.m	Id						
	KA	KB	KC	KD	KE	KG	
Cement, kg	342.22	342.22	342.22	342.22	342.22	342.22	
Water, kg	153.9	153.9	153.9	153.9	153.9	153.9	
20 mm CA, kg	713.29	570.63	427.97	285.31	142.66	-	
10 mm CA, kg	589.60	466.91	350.16	233.44	116.72	-	
FA, kg	662.05	662.05	662.05	662.05	662.05	662.05	
Quartz Sandstone Aggregate 25 mm, kg	-	155.63	311.25	466.88	622.50	778.13	
Quartz Sandstone Aggregate 10 mm, kg	-	105.35	207.5	311.25	415	518.75	
Admixture, %	1	1.05	1.1	1.15	1.2	1.2	
Compaction factor	0.89	0.9	0.88	0.88	0.86	0.86	

Table 3: Mixture proportions and properties of fresh concrete for water-cement ratio of 0.45.